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From the Authors

Dear Student,
WHY THIS COURSE?

Remember your biology course in high school? Did you have one of
those “invisible man” models (or maybe something more high-tech
than that) that gave you the opportunity to look “inside” the human
body? This accounting course offers something similar. To
understand a business, you have to understand the financial insides
of a business organization. An accounting course will help you
understand the essential financial components of businesses.
Whether you are looking at a large multinational company like Apple
or Starbucks or a single-owner software consulting business or
coffee shop, knowing the fundamentals of accounting will help you
understand what is happening. As an employee, a manager, an
investor, a business owner, or a director of your own personal
finances—any of which roles you will have at some point in your
life—you will make better decisions for having taken this course.

“Whether you are looking at a large multinational company like
Apple or Starbucks or a single-owner software consulting
business or coffee shop, knowing the fundamentals of accounting
will help you understand what is happening.”

WHY THIS TEXT?

Your instructor has chosen this text for you because of the authors'
trusted reputation. The authors have worked hard to write a text that
is engaging, timely, and accurate.

HOW TO SUCCEED?

We've asked many students and many instructors whether there is a
secret for success in this course. The nearly unanimous answer



turns out to be not much of a secret: “Do the homework.” This is one
course where doing is learning. The more time you spend on the
homework assignments—using the various tools that this text
provides—the more likely you are to learn the essential concepts,
techniques, and methods of accounting. Besides the text itself,
WileyPLUS also offers various support resources.

Good luck in this course. We hope you enjoy the experience and that
you put to good use throughout a lifetime of success the knowledge
you obtain in this course. We are sure you will not be disappointed.

Jerry J. Weygandt
Paul D. Kimmel
Donald E. Kieso
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Hallmark Features

Accounting Principles, Thirteenth Edition, provides a simple and
practical introduction to the fundamentals of accounting. It explains
the concepts you need to know. This edition continues this approach
by offering even more explanations, illustrations, and homework
problems to help students get a firm understanding of the accounting
cycle.

DO IT! Exercises

DO IT! Exercises in the body of the text prompt students to stop and
review key concepts. They outline the Action Plan necessary to
complete the exercise as well as show a detailed solution.

DOIT! 3 | Correcting Entries ACTION PLAN
Sanchez Company discovered the following errors made in January 2020, % S::;p::]:];iﬂr:;i}
1. A payment of Salaries and Wages Expense of $600 was debited to Supplies and credited to Cash, « After comparison, make
both for $600. an entry to correct the
2. A collection of $3,000 from a client on account was debited to Cash $200 and credited to Service accounts.
Revenue $200.

3. The purchase of supplies on account for $860 was debited to Supplies $680 and credited to Ac-
counts Payable $680.

Correct the errors without reversing the incorrect entry.

Solution
1. Salaries and Wages Expense 600
Supplies [ L]
2. Service Revenue 200
Cash 2,800
Accounts Receivable 3,000

Review and Practice

Each chapter concludes with a Review and Practice section which
includes a review of learning objectives, key terms glossary, practice
multiple-choice questions with annotated solutions, practice brief



exercises with solutions, practice exercises with solutions, and a
practice problem with a solution.

Practice Brief Exercises

Prepare the current arsets section ofa 3. (LO 4) The balance sheet debit column of the worksheet for Miguel

balance sheet. Company includes the following accounts: Accounts Receivable $25,000, Prepaid Insurance $7,000,
Cash $8.,000, Supplies $11.000. and Stock Investments (short-term) $14,000. Prepare the current
assets section of the balance sheet, listing the accounts in proper sequence.

Solution
3.

Miguel Company
Partial Balance Sheet

Current assets
Cash $ 8,000
Stock investments 14,000
Accounts receivahle 25,000
Supplies 11,000
Prepaid insurance 7.000
Total current assets $65,000

Infographic Learning

Over half of the text is visual, providing students alternative ways of
learning about accounting. In addition, a new interior design
promotes accessibility.

ILLUSTRATION 2.1

Title of Account Basic form of account

Left or debit side ‘ Right or credit side

Real-World Decision-Making

Real-world examples that illustrate interesting situations in
companies and how accounting information is used are integrated



throughout the text, such as in the opening Feature Story as well as

the Insight boxes.

People, Planet, and Profit Insight

| Regaining Goodwill

After falling to unforeseen lows
amidst scandals, recalls, and eco-
nomic crises, the American pub-
lic’s positive perception of the
reputation of corporate America
iz on the rise. Overall corporate
reputation is experiencing reha-
bilitation as the American public
gives high marks overall to cor-
porate America, specific indus-
tries, and the largest number of
individual companies in a dozen
years. This is according to the
findings of a Harris Interactive
RQ Study, which measures the reputations of the 60 most visible
companies in the United States.

The survey focuses on six reputational dimensions that influence
reputation and consumer behavior. Four of these dimensions, along

with the five corporations that ranked highest within each, are as
follows.

* Social Responsibility: (1) Whole Foods Market, (2) Johnson &
Johnson, (3) Google, (4) The Walt Dizsney Company, (5) Procter
& Gamble Co.

+ Emotional Appesl: (1) Johnson & Johnson, (2) Amazon.com,
(3) UPS, (4) General Mills, (5) Kraft Foods

¢ Financial Performance: (1} Google, (2) Berkshire Hathaway,
(3) Apple, (4) Intel, (5) The Walt Disney Company

+ Products and Services: (1) Intel Corporation, (2) 3M Company,
(3) Johnson & Johnson, (4) Google, (5) Procter & Gamble Co.

Source: www.harrisinteractive.com.

Name two industries today which are probably rated low on
the reputational characteristics of “being trusted” and “having
high ethical standards.” (Go to WileyPL'US for this answer and
additional questions.)

Additional Guidance

Throughout the text, marginal notes, such as Helpful Hints,
Alternative Terminology, and Ethics Notes, are provided as
additional guidance. In addition, more than 100 new solution
walkthrough videos are now available in WileyPLUS.

Correcting Entries—An Avoidable Step
ETHICS NOTE
Unfortunately, errors may occur in the recording process. Companies should correct errors, as When companies find
soon as they discover them, by journalizing and posting correcting entries. If the account- in  previously  released
ing records are free of errors, no correcting entries are needed. income statements, they
You should recognize several differences between correcting entries and adjusting en- restate those numbers. Per-
tries. First, adjusting entries are an integral part of the accounting cycle. Correcting entries, haps because of the in-
on the other hand, are unnecessary if the records are error-free. Second, companies journalize creased scrutiny caused by
and post adjustments only at the end of an accounting period. In contrast, companies make Sarbanes-Oxley, in a recent
correcting entries whenever they discover an error (see Ethics Note). Finally, adjusting year companies filed a re-
entries always affect at least one balance sheet account and one income statement account. In cord 1,195 restatements
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ACCOUNT CLASSIFICATION AND PRESENTATION

Normal
Account Title Classification Financial Statement Balance
A
Accounts Payable Current Liability Balance Sheet Credit
Accounts Receivable Current Asset Balance Sheet Debit
Accumulated Depreciation—Buildings Plant Asset—Contra Balance Sheet Credit
Accumulated Depreciation—Equipment Plant Asset—Contra Balance Sheet Credit
Advertising Expense Operating Expense Income Statement Debit
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts Current Asset—Contra Balance Sheet Credit
Amortization Expense Operating Expense Income Statement Debit
B
Bad Debt Expense Operating Expense Income Statement Debit
Bonds Payable Long-Term Liability Balance Sheet Credil
Buildings Plant Asset Balance Sheet Debit
C
Cash Current Assel Balance Sheet Debit
Common Stock Stockholders” Equity Balance Sheet Credit
Copyrights Intangible Asset Balance Sheet Debit
Cost of Goods Sold Cost of Goods Sold Income Statement Debit
D
Debt Investments Current Asset/Long-Term Balance Sheet Debit
Investment
Depreciation Expense Operating Expense Income Statement Debit
Discount on Bonds Payable Long-Term Liability—Contra Balance Sheet Debat
Dividends Temporary account closed Retained Earnings Debat
to Retained Earnings Statement
Dividends Payable Current Liability Balance Sheet Credit
E
Equipment | Plant Asset | Balance Sheet | Debit
F
Freight-Out | Operating Expense | Income Statement | Debit
G
Gain on Disposal of Plant Assets Other Income Income Statement Credit
Goodwill Intangible Asset Balance Sheet Debit
I
Income Summary Temporary account closed Not Applicable (1)
to Retained Earnings
Income Tax Expense Income Tax Expense Income Statement Debit
Income Taxes Payable Current Liability Balance Sheet Credit
Insurance Expense Operating Expense Income Statement Diebit
Interest Expense Other Expense Income Statement Debit
Interest Payable Current Liability Balance Sheet Credit
Interest Receivable Current Asset Balance Sheet Debit
Interest Revenue Other Income Income Statement Credit
Inventory Current Asset Balance Sheet (2) Diebit




Normal

Account Title Classification Financial Statement Balance
L
Land Plant Asset Balance Sheet Debit
Loss on Disposal of Plant Assets Other Expense Income Statement Debat
M
Maintenance and Repairs Expense Operating Expense Income Staement Debit
Mortgage Payable Long-Term Liability Balance Sheet Credit
N
Notes Payable Current Liability/ Balance Sheet Credit
Long-Term Liability
0
Owner's Capital Owner's Equity Owner's Equity and Credit
Balance Sheet
Owner's Drawings Temporary account closed Owner's Equity Debat
to Owner's Capital
P
Patents Intangible Asset Balance Sheet Debit
Paid-in Capital in Excess of Par— Stockholders” Equity Balance Sheel Credit
Common Stock
Paid-in Capital in Excess of Par— Stockholders™ Equity Balance Sheet Credit
Preferred Stock
Preferred Stock Stockholders’ Equity Balance Sheet Credit
Premium on Bonds Payable Long-Term Liability Balance Sheet Credit
Prepaid Insurance Current Asset Balance Sheet Debat
Prepaid Rent Current Asset Balance Sheet Debat
R
Rent Expense Operating Expense Income Statement Debit
Retained Earnings Stockholders” Equity Balance Sheet and Retained Credit
Earnings Statement
S
Salaries and Wages Expense Operating Expense Income Statement Debat
Salaries and Wages Payable Current Liability Balance Sheet Credit
Sales Discounts Revenue—Contra Income Statement Debit
Sales Returns and Allowances Revenue—Contra Income Statement Debit
Sales Revenue Revenue Income Statement Credit
Selling Expenses Operating Expense Income Statement Debat
Service Revenue Revenue Income Statement Credit
Stock Investments Current Asset/Long-Term Balance Sheet Debit
Investment
Supplies Current Asset Balance Sheet Debit
Supplies Expense Operating Expense Income Statement Debat
T
Treasury Stock Stockholders” Equity—Contra Balance Sheet Debit
]
Unearned Service Revenue Current Liability Balance Sheet Credit
Utilities Expense Operating Expense Income Statement Debit

{1} The normal balance for Income Summary will be credit when there is a net income, debit when there is a net loss. The Income Summary account

does not appear on any financial statement.

(2} If a periodic system is used. Inventory also appears on the income statement in the calculation of cost of goods sold.




The following is a sample chart of accounts. It does not represent a
comprehensive chart of all the accounts used in this textbook but
rather those accounts that are commonly used. This sample chart of
accounts is for a company that generates both service revenue as
well as sales revenue. It uses the perpetual approach to inventory. If
a periodic system was used, the following temporary accounts would

be needed to record inventory purchases: Purchases, Freight-In,
Purchase Returns and Allowances, and Purchase Discounts.

CHART OF ACCOUNTS

Owner’s and
Stockholders’
Assets Liabilities Equity Revenues Expenses
Cash Notes Payable Owner’s Capital Service Revenue Advertising
Expense
Accounts Accounts Payable Owner’s Drawings Sales Revenue
Receivable Amortization
Uneamned Service Commaon Stock Sales Discounts Expense
Allowance for Revenue
Doubttul Paid-in Capital in Sales Returns and Bad Debt Expense
Accounts Salaries and Excess of Par— Allowances
Wages Payable Commeon Stock Cost of Goods Sold
Interest Interest Revenue
Receivable Uneamed Rent Preferred Stock Depreciation
Revenue Gain on Disposal Expense
Inventory Paid-in Capital in of Plant Assels
Interest Payable Excess of Par— Freight-Out
Supplies Preferred
Dividends Payable Stock Income Tax
Prepaid Insurance Expense
Income Taxes Treasury Stock
Prepaid Rent Payable Insurance Expense
Retained Earnings
Land Bonds Payable Interest Expense
Dividends
Equipment Discount on Bonds Loss on Disposal of
Payable Income Summary Plant Assets
Accumulated
Depreciation— Premium on Bonds Maintenance and
Equipment Payable Repairs Expense
Buildings Mortgage Payable Rent Expense
Accumulated Salaries and Wages
Depreciation— Expense
Buildings
Supplies Expense
Copyrights
Utilities Expense
Goodwill
Patents




CHAPTER 1

Accounting in Action

© My Good Images/

Chapter Preview

The Chapter Preview describes the purpose of the chapter and highlights major topics.

The following Feature Story about Columbia Sportswear Company highlights the importance of having
good financial information and knowing how to use it to make effective business decisions. Whatever
your pursuits or occupation, the need for financial information is inescapable. You cannot earn a living,
spend money, buy on credit, make an investment, or pay taxes without receiving, using, or dispensing
financial information. Good decision-making depends on good information.

The Feature Story helps you picture how the chapter topic relates to the real world of accounting
and business.
Feature Story

Knowing the Numbers

Many students who take this course do not plan to be accountants. If you are in that group, you might
be thinking, “If I'm not going to be an accountant, why do | need to know accounting?” Well, consider
this quote from Harold Geneen, the former chairman of IT&T: “To be good at your business, you have to
know the numbers—cold.” In business, accounting and financial statements are the means for



communicating the numbers. If you don't know how to read financial statements, you can't really know
your business.

Knowing the numbers is sometimes even a matter of corporate survival. Consider the story of Columbia
Sportswear Company, headquartered in Portland, Oregon. Gert Boyle's family fled Nazi Germany
when she was 13 years old and then purchased a small hat company in Oregon, Columbia Hat
Company. In 1971, Gert's husband, who was then running the company, died suddenly of a heart attack.
The company was in the midst of an aggressive expansion, which had taken its sales above $1 million
for the first time but which had also left the company financially stressed. Gert took over the small,
struggling company with help from her son Tim, who was then a senior at the University of Oregon.
Somehow, they kept the company afloat. Today, Columbia has more than 4,000 employees and annual
sales in excess of $1 billion. Its brands include Columbia, Mountain Hardwear, Sorel, and Montrail. Gert
still heads up the Board of Directors, and Tim is the company's President and CEO.

Columbia doesn't just focus on financial success. The company is very committed to corporate, social,
and environmental responsibility. For example, several of its factories have participated in a project to
increase health awareness of female factory workers in developing countries. Columbia was also a
founding member of the Sustainable Apparel Coalition, which is a group that strives to reduce the
environmental and social impact of the apparel industry. In addition, it monitors all of the independent
factories that produce its products to ensure that they comply with the company's Standards of
Manufacturing Practices. These standards address issues including forced labor, child labor,
harassment, wages and benefits, health and safety, and the environment.

Employers such as Columbia Sportswear generally assume that managers in all areas of the company
are “financially literate.” To help prepare you for that, in this textbook you will learn how to read and
prepare financial statements, and how to use basic tools to evaluate financial results.

The Chapter Outline presents the chapter's topics and subtopics, as well as practice
opportunities.



Chapter Outline
LEARNING OBJECTIVES

LO 1 Identify the activities and users associated

with accounting.

LO 2 Explain the building blocks of accounting:
ethics, principles, and assumptions.

LO 3 State the accounting equation, and define

its components.

LO 4 Analyze the effects of business
transactions on the accounting equation.

LO 5 Describe the four financial statements and
how they are prepared.

Three activities

Who uses
accounting data

Ethics
GAAP

Measurement
principles

Assumptions

Assets
Liabilities

Owner's equity

Accounting
transactions

Transaction
analysis

Summary of
transactions

Income statement

Owner's equity
statement

Balance sheet

Statement of cash

flows

DO IT! 1 Basic
Concepts

DO IT! 2 Building Blocks
of Accounting

DO IT! 3 Owner's Equity
Effects

DO IT! 4 Tabular
Analysis

DO IT! 5 Financial
Statement Items

Go to the Review and Practice section at the end of the chapter for a review of key

concepts and practice applications with solutions.

Visit WileyPLUS with ORION for additional tutorials and practice opportunities.



Accounting Activities and Users

LEARNING OBJECTIVE 1

Identify the activities and users associated with accounting.

What consistently ranks as one of the top career opportunities in business? What frequently rates
among the most popular majors on campus? What was the undergraduate degree chosen by Nike
founder Phil Knight, Home Depot co-founder Arthur Blank, former acting director of the Federal Bureau
of Investigation (FBI) Thomas Pickard, and numerous members of Congress? Accounting.l Why did
these people choose accounting? They wanted to understand what was happening financially to their
organizations. Accounting is the financial information system that provides these insights. In short, to
understand your organization, you have to know the numbers.

Accounting consists of three basic activities—it identifies, records, and communicates the economic
events of an organization to interested users. Let's take a closer look at these three activities.

Essential terms are printed in blue when they first appear, and are defined in the end-of-
chapter Glossary Review.

Three Activities

As a starting point to the accounting process, a company identifies the economic events relevant to
its business. Examples of economic events are the sale of snack chips by PepsiCo, the provision of
cell phone services by AT&T, and the payment of wages by Facebook.

Once a company like PepsiCo identifies economic events, it records those events in order to provide a
history of its financial activities. Recording consists of keeping a systematic, chronological diary of
events, measured in dollars and cents. In recording, PepsiCo also classifies and summarizes economic
events.

Finally, PepsiCo communicates the collected information to interested users by means of accounting
reports. The most common of these reports are called financial statements. To make the reported
financial information meaningful, PepsiCo reports the recorded data in a standardized way. It
accumulates information resulting from similar transactions. For example, PepsiCo accumulates all
sales transactions over a certain period of time and reports the data as one amount in the company's
financial statements. Such data are said to be reported in the aggregate. By presenting the recorded
data in the aggregate, the accounting process simplifies a multitude of transactions and makes a series
of activities understandable and meaningful.

A vital element in communicating economic events is the accountant's ability to analyze and interpret
the reported information. Analysis involves use of ratios, percentages, graphs, and charts to highlight
significant financial trends and relationships. Interpretation involves explaining the uses, meaning,
and limitations of reported data. Appendices A—E show the financial statements of Apple Inc.,
PepsiCo Inc., The Coca-Cola Company, Amazon.com, Inc., and Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., respectively.
(In addition, in the A Look at IERS section at the end of each chapter, the French company Louis
Vuitton Moét Hennessy is analyzed.) We refer to these statements at various places throughout the
textbook. At this point, these financial statements probably strike you as complex and confusing. By the
end of this course, you'll be surprised at your ability to understand, analyze, and interpret them.

lllustration 1.1 summarizes the activities of the accounting process.



UERVER PN (o) BN The activities of the accounting process

Communication

Identification Recording

Select economic events {transactions) Record, classify. and summarize

Analyze and interpret for users

You should understand that the accounting process includes the bookkeeping function. Bookkeeping
usually involves only the recording of economic events. It is therefore just one part of the accounting
process. In total, accounting involves the entire process of identifying, recording, and

communicating economic events.?

Who Uses Accounting Data

The financial information that users need depends upon the kinds of decisions they make. There are two
broad groups of users of financial information: internal users and external users.

Internal Users

Internal users of accounting information are the managers who plan, organize, and run a business.
These include marketing managers, production supervisors, finance directors, and company officers. In
running a business, internal users must answer many important questions, as shown in lllustration 1.2.

UNEVEN VNI (e) B W Questions that internal users ask

Questions Asked by Internal Users

4 XA

| | -
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E sm-u =h‘ps Beverages
Finance Marketing Human Resources Management

Is cash sufficient to pay  VWhat price should Apple charge Can General Motors afford Which PepsiCo product line is
dividends for an iPad to maximize the to give its employees pay the most profitable! Should any
Micresoft stockholders? company's net income? raises this year? product lines be eliminated?

To answer these and other questions, internal users need detailed information on a timely basis.
Managerial accounting provides internal reports to help users make decisions about their companies.
Examples are financial comparisons of operating alternatives, projections of income from new sales
campaigns, and forecasts of cash needs for the next year.



Accounting Across the Organization Clif Bar & Company

Owning a Piece of the Bar

& Dan MotreiSlockphole

The original Clif Bar® energy bar was created in 1990 after six months of experimentation by Gary
Erickson and his mother in her kitchen. Today, the company has almost 300 employees and is
considered one of the leading Landor's Breakaway Brands®. One of Clif Bar & Company's
proudest moments was the creation of an employee stock ownership plan (ESOP) in 2010. This
plan gives its employees 20% ownership of the company. The ESOP also resulted in Clif Bar
enacting an open-book management program, including the commitment to educate all employee-
owners about its finances. Armed with basic accounting knowledge, employees are more aware of
the financial impact of their actions, which leads to better decisions.

What are the benefits to the company and its employees of making the financial statements
available to all employees? (Go to WileyPLUS for this answer and additional questions.)

Accounting Across the Organization boxes demonstrate applications of accounting information
in various business functions.

External Users

External users are individuals and organizations outside a company who want financial information
about the company. The two most common types of external users are investors and creditors.
Investors (owners) use accounting information to decide whether to buy, hold, or sell ownership shares
of a company. Creditors (such as suppliers and bankers) use accounting information to evaluate the
risks of granting credit or lending money. lllustration 1.3 shows some questions that investors and
creditors may ask.

(REVEN A0 B N Questions that external users ask

Questions Asked by External Users
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] i ‘What do we do
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Investors Investors Creditors

Is General Electric earning How does Disney compare in size Wil United Airlines be able
satisfagtory income? and profitabilicy with Time Warner! o pay its debts as they come due!

Financial accounting answers these questions. It provides economic and financial information for
investors, creditors, and other external users. The information needs of external users vary
considerably. Taxing authorities, such as the Internal Revenue Service, want to know whether the
company complies with tax laws. Regulatory agencies, such as the Securities and Exchange
Commission or the Federal Trade Commission, want to know whether the company is operating within
prescribed rules. Customers are interested in whether a company like Tesla Motors will continue to
honor product warranties and support its product lines. Labor unions, such as the Major League
Baseball Players Association, want to know whether the owners have the ability to pay increased
wages and benefits.



The DO IT! exercises ask you to put newly acquired knowledge to work. They outline the Action
Plan necessary to complete the exercise, and they show a Solution.

DO IT! 1 | Basic Concepts

Indicate whether each of the five statements presented below is true or false. If false, indicate how
to correct the statement.
1. The three steps in the accounting process are identification, recording, and communication.
2. Bookkeeping encompasses all steps in the accounting process.
3. Accountants prepare, but do not interpret, financial reports.
4. The two most common types of external users are investors and company officers.
5. Managerial accounting activities focus on reports for internal users.

ACTION PLAN

* Review the basic concepts discussed.

+ Develop an understanding of the key terms used.

Solution

1. True
2. False. Bookkeeping involves only the recording step.

3. False. Accountants analyze and interpret information in reports as part of the communication
step.

4. False. The two most common types of external users are investors and creditors.
5. True.

Related exercise material: DO IT! 1.1, E1.1, and E1.2.

The Building Blocks of Accounting

LEARNING OBJECTIVE 2

Explain the building blocks of accounting: ethics, principles, and assumptions.

A doctor follows certain protocols in treating a patient's illness. An architect follows certain structural
guidelines in designing a building. Similarly, an accountant follows certain standards in reporting
financial information. These standards are based on specific principles and assumptions. For these
standards to work, however, a fundamental business concept must be present—ethical behavior.

Ethics in Financial Reporting

People won't gamble in a casino if they think it is “rigged.” Similarly, people won't play the stock market if
they think prices are rigged. At one time, the financial press was full of articles about financial scandals



at Enron, WorldCom, HealthSouth, and AIG, As more scandals came to light, a mistrust of financial
reporting in general seemed to be developing. One article in the Wall Street Journal noted that
“repeated disclosures about questionable accounting practices have bruised investors' faith in the
reliability of earnings reports, which in turn has sent stock prices tumbling.” Imagine trying to carry on a
business or invest money if you could not depend on the financial statements to be honestly prepared.
Information would have no credibility. There is no doubt that a sound, well-functioning economy depends
on accurate and dependable financial reporting.

United States regulators and lawmakers were very concerned that the economy would suffer if investors
lost confidence in corporate accounting because of unethical financial reporting. In response, Congress
passed the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (SOX) to reduce unethical corporate behavior and decrease the
likelihood of future corporate scandals (see Ethics Note). As a result of SOX, top management must
now certify the accuracy of financial information. In addition, penalties for fraudulent financial activity are
much more severe. Also, SOX increased the independence requirements of the outside auditors who
review the accuracy of corporate financial statements and increased the oversight role of boards of
directors.

ETHICS NOTE

Circus-founder P.T. Barnum is alleged to have said, “Trust everyone, but cut the deck.”
What Sarbanes-Oxley does is to provide measures that (like cutting the deck of playing
cards) help ensure that fraud will not occur.

Ethics Notes help sensitize you to some of the ethical issues in accounting.

The standards of conduct by which actions are judged as right or wrong, honest or dishonest, fair or not
fair, are ethics. Effective financial reporting depends on sound ethical behavior. To sensitize you to
ethical situations in business and to give you practice at solving ethical dilemmas, we address ethics in
a number of ways in this textbook:

1. A number of the Feature Stories and other parts of the textbook discuss the central importance of
ethical behavior to financial reporting.

2. Ethics Insight boxes and marginal Ethics Notes highlight ethics situations and issues in actual
business settings.

3. Many of the People, Planet, and Profit Insight boxes focus on ethical issues that companies face
in measuring and reporting social and environmental issues.

4. At the end of the chapter, an Ethics Case simulates a business situation and asks you to put
yourself in the position of a decision-maker in that case.

When analyzing these various ethics cases and your own ethical experiences, you should apply the
three steps outlined in lllustration 1.4.



UERVER pvN i)\ I8 Steps in analyzing ethics cases and situations

I 1. Recognize an ethical 2. Identify and analyze the 3. Identify the alternatives, and
situation and the ethical principal elements in the  weigh the impact of each
issues involved. situation. alternative on various

Use your personal ethics to Identify the stakeholders— stakeholders.

identify ethical situations and | persons or groups who may  Select the most ethical alternative,
issues. Some businesses and be harmed or benefited. Ask considering all the consequences.

professional organizations the question: What are the Sometimes there will be one right

provide written codes of ethics responsibilities and answer. Other situations involve more

for guidance in some business obligations of the parties than one right solution; these

situations. involved? situations require an evaluation of
each and a selection of the best
alternative.

Insight boxes provide examples of business situations from various perspectives—ethics,
investor, international, and corporate social responsibility. Guideline answers to the critical
thinking questions as well as additional questions are available in WileyPLUS.

Ethics Insight Dewey & LeBoeuf LLP

| Felt the Pressure—Would You?

@ Alliance/Shuitersiock

“I felt the pressure.” That's what some of the employees of the now-defunct law firm of Dewey &
LeBoeuf LLP indicated when they helped to overstate revenue and use accounting tricks to hide
losses and cover up cash shortages. These employees worked for the former finance director and
former chief financial officer (CFO) of the firm. Here are some of their comments:

* “| was instructed by the CFO to create invoices, knowing they would not be sent to clients.
When | created these invoices, | knew that it was inappropriate.”

* “l intentionally gave the auditors incorrect information in the course of the audit.”

What happened here is that a small group of lower-level employees over a period of years carried
out the instructions of their bosses. Their bosses, however, seemed to have no concern as
evidenced by various e-mails with one another in which they referred to their financial
manipulations as accounting tricks, cooking the books, and fake income.

Source: Ashby Jones, “Guilty Pleas of Dewey Staff Detail the Alleged Fraud,” Wall Street Journal (March 28, 2014).

Why did these employees lie, and what do you believe should be their penalty for these
lies? (Go to WileyPLUS for this answer and additional questions.)




Generally Accepted Accounting Principles

The accounting profession has developed standards that are generally accepted and universally
practiced. This common set of standards is called generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).
These standards indicate how to report economic events.

The primary accounting standard-setting body in the United States is the Financial Accounting
Standards Board (FASB). The Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) is the agency of the
U.S. government that oversees U.S. financial markets and accounting standard-setting bodies. The SEC
relies on the FASB to develop accounting standards, which public companies must follow. Many
countries outside of the United States have adopted the accounting standards issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). These standards are called International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) (see International Note).

INTERNATIONAL NOTE

Over 115 countries use international standards (called IFRS). For example, all companies in
the European Union follow IFRS. The differences between U.S. and international standards
are not generally significant.

International Notes highlight differences between U.S. and international accounting standards.

As markets become more global, it is often desirable to compare the results of companies from different
countries that report using different accounting standards. In order to increase comparability, in recent
years the two standard-setting bodies have made efforts to reduce the differences between U.S. GAAP
and IFRS. This process is referred to as convergence. As a result of these convergence efforts,
someday there may be a single set of high-quality accounting standards that are used by companies
around the world. Because convergence is such an important issue, we highlight any major differences
between GAAP and IFRS in International Notes (as shown in the margin here) and provide a more in-
depth discussion in the A Look at IFRS section at the end of each chapter.



International Insight

The Korean Discount

aru-Hanai PooliGelty Images. Inc
Toru-Hana PooliGelty Images. Inc

If you think that accounting standards don't matter, consider these events in South Korea. For
many years, international investors complained that the financial reports of South Korean
companies were inadequate and inaccurate. Accounting practices there often resulted in huge
differences between stated revenues and actual revenues. Because investors did not have faith in
the accuracy of the numbers, they were unwilling to pay as much for the shares of these
companies relative to shares of comparable companies in different countries. This difference in
share price was often referred to as the “Korean discount.”

In response, Korean regulators decided that companies would have to comply with international
accounting standards. This change was motivated by a desire to “make the country's businesses
more transparent” in order to build investor confidence and spur economic growth. Many other
Asian countries, including China, India, Japan, and Hong Kong, have also decided either to adopt
international standards or to create standards that are based on the international standards.

Source: Evan Ramstad, “End to ‘Korea Discount?” Wall Street Journal (March 16, 2007).

What is meant by the phrase “make the country's businesses more transparent”? Why
would increasing transparency spur economic growth? (Go to WileyPLUS for this answer
and additional questions.)

Measurement Principles

GAAP generally uses one of two measurement principles, the historical cost principle or the fair value
principle. Selection of which principle to follow generally relates to trade-offs between relevance and
faithful representation (see Helpful Hint). Relevance means that financial information is capable of
making a difference in a decision. Faithful representation means that the numbers and descriptions
match what really existed or happened—they are factual.

HELPFUL HINT

Relevance and faithful representation are two primary qualities that make accounting
information useful for decision-making.

Helpful Hints further clarify concepts being discussed.
Historical Cost Principle

The historical cost principle (or cost principle) dictates that companies record assets at their cost. This
is true not only at the time the asset is purchased, but also over the time the asset is held. For example,
if Best Buy purchases land for $300,000, the company initially reports it in its accounting records at
$300,000. But what does Best Buy do if, by the end of the next year, the fair value of the land has
increased to $400,000? Under the historical cost principle, it continues to report the land at $300,000.



Fair Value Principle

The fair value principle states that assets and liabilities should be reported at fair value (the price
received to sell an asset or settle a liability). Fair value information may be more useful than historical
cost for certain types of assets and liabilities. For example, certain investment securities are reported at
fair value because market price information is usually readily available for these types of assets. In
determining which measurement principle to use, companies weigh the factual nature of cost figures
versus the relevance of fair value. In general, most companies choose to use cost. Only in situations
where assets are actively traded, such as investment securities, do companies apply the fair value
principle extensively.

Assumptions

Assumptions provide a foundation for the accounting process. Two main assumptions are the monetary
unit assumption and the economic entity assumption.

Monetary Unit Assumption

The monetary unit assumption requires that companies include in the accounting records only
transaction data that can be expressed in money terms. This assumption enables accounting to quantify
(measure) economic events. The monetary unit assumption is vital to applying the historical cost
principle.

This assumption prevents the inclusion of some relevant information in the accounting records. For
example, the health of a company's owner, the quality of service, and the morale of employees are not
included. The reason: Companies cannot quantify this information in money terms. Though this
information is important, companies record only events that can be measured in money.

Economic Entity Assumption

An economic entity can be any organization or unit in society. It may be a company (such as
Crocs, Inc.), a governmental unit (the state of Ohio), a municipality (Seattle), a school district (St. Louis
District 48), or a church (Southern Baptist). The economic entity assumption requires that the
activities of the entity be kept separate and distinct from the activities of its owner and all other economic
entities (see Ethics Note). To illustrate, Sally Rider, owner of Sally's Boutique, must keep her personal
living costs separate from the expenses of the business. Similarly, J. Crew and Gap Inc. are segregated
into separate economic entities for accounting purposes.

ETHICS NOTE

The importance of the economic entity assumption is illustrated by scandals involving
Adelphia. In this case, senior company employees entered into transactions that blurred the
line between the employees' financial interests and those of the company. For example,
Adelphia guaranteed over $2 billion of loans to the founding family.

Proprietorship.

A business owned by one person is generally a proprietorship. The owner is often the
manager/operator of the business. Small service-type businesses (plumbing companies, beauty salons,
and auto repair shops), farms, and small retail stores (antique shops, clothing stores, and used-book
stores) are often proprietorships. Usually, only a relatively small amount of money (capital) is
necessary to start in business as a proprietorship. The owner (proprietor) receives any profits,
suffers any losses, and is personally liable for all debts of the business. There is no legal
distinction between the business as an economic unit and the owner, but the accounting records of the
business activities are kept separate from the personal records and activities of the owner.



Partnership.

A business owned by two or more persons associated as partners is a partnership. In most respects a
partnership is like a proprietorship except that more than one owner is involved. Typically, a partnership
agreement (written or oral) sets forth such terms as initial investment, duties of each partner, division of
net income (or net loss), and settlement to be made upon death or withdrawal of a partner. Each partner
generally has unlimited personal liability for the debts of the partnership. Like a proprietorship, for
accounting purposes the partnership transactions must be kept separate from the personal
activities of the partners. Partnerships are often used to organize retail and service-type businesses,
including professional practices (lawyers, doctors, architects, and certified public accountants).

Corporation.

A business organized as a separate legal entity under state corporation law and having ownership
divided into transferable shares of stock is a corporation. The holders of the shares (stockholders)
enjoy limited liability; that is, they are not personally liable for the debts of the corporate entity.
Stockholders may transfer all or part of their ownership shares to other investors at any time (i.e.,
sell their shares). The ease with which ownership can change adds to the attractiveness of investing in a
corporation. Because ownership can be transferred without dissolving the corporation, the corporation
enjoys an unlimited life.

Although the combined number of proprietorships and partnerships in the United States is more than
five times the number of corporations, the revenue produced by corporations is eight times greater. Most
of the largest companies in the United States—for example, Exxon-Mobil, Ford, Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.,
Citigroup, and Apple—are corporations.



Accounting Across the Organization

Spinning the Career Wheel

o

Josal VolavkaliSioskpholo

How will the study of accounting help you? A working knowledge of accounting is desirable for
virtually every field of business. Some examples of how accounting is used in business careers
include:

General management: Managers at Ford Motors, Massachusetts General Hospital, California
State University—Fullerton, a McDonald's franchise, and a Trek bike shop all need to
understand accounting data in order to make wise business decisions.

Marketing: Marketing specialists at Procter & Gamble must be sensitive to costs and benefits,
which accounting helps them quantify and understand. Making a sale is meaningless unless it
is a profitable sale.

Finance: Do you want to be a banker for Citicorp, an investment analyst for Goldman Sachs,
or a stock broker for Merrill Lynch? These fields rely heavily on accounting knowledge to
analyze financial statements. In fact, it is difficult to get a good job in a finance function without
two or three courses in accounting.

Real estate: Are you interested in being a real estate broker for Prudential Real Estate?
Because a third party—the bank—is almost always involved in financing a real estate
transaction, brokers must understand the numbers involved: Can the buyer afford to make the
payments to the bank? Does the cash flow from an industrial property justify the purchase
price? What are the tax benefits of the purchase?

How might accounting help you? (Go to WileyPLUS for this answer and additional
questions.)




DO IT! 2 | Building Blocks of Accounting

Indicate whether each of the five statements presented below is true or false. If false, indicate how
to correct the statement.

1. Congress passed the Sarbanes-Oxley Act to reduce unethical behavior and decrease the
likelihood of future corporate scandals.

2. The primary accounting standard-setting body in the United States is the Financial
Accounting Standards Board (FASB).

3. The historical cost principle dictates that companies record assets at their cost. In later
periods, however, the fair value of the asset must be used if fair value is higher than its cost.

4. Relevance means that financial information matches what really happened; the information is
factual.

5. A business owner's personal expenses must be separated from expenses of the business to
comply with accounting's economic entity assumption.

ACTION PLAN

+ Review the discussion of ethics and financial reporting standards.
+ Develop an understanding of the key terms used.

Solution

1. True.
2. True.

3. False. The historical cost principle dictates that companies record assets at their cost. Under
the historical cost principle, the company must also use cost in later periods.

4. False. Faithful representation, not relevance, means that financial information matches what
really happened; the information is factual.

5. True.
Related exercise material: DO IT! 1.2, E1.3, and E1.4.

The Accounting Equation

LEARNING OBJECTIVE 3

State the accounting equation, and define its components.

The two basic elements of a business are what it owns and what it owes. Assets are the resources a
business owns. For example, Alphabet Inc. has total assets of approximately $167.5 billion. Liabilities
and owner's equity are the rights or claims against these resources. Thus, Alphabet has $167.5 billion of
claims against its $167.5 billion of assets. Claims of those to whom the company owes money
(creditors) are called liabilities. Claims of owners are called owner's equity. Alphabet has liabilities of
$28.5 billion and owners' equity of $139.0 billion.



We can express the relationship of assets, liabilities, and owner's equity as an equation, as shown in
lllustration 1.5.

|BEPEN NN (01 BN The basic accounting equation

Assets = Liabilities 4+ Owner’s Equity

This relationship is the basic accounting equation. Assets must equal the sum of liabilities and
owner's equity. Liabilities appear before owner's equity in the basic accounting equation because they
are paid first if a business is liquidated.

The accounting equation applies to all economic entities regardless of size, nature of business, or form
of business organization. It applies to a small proprietorship such as a corner grocery store as well as to
a giant corporation such as PepsiCo. The equation provides the underlying framework for recording
and summarizing economic events.

Let's look in more detail at the categories in the basic accounting equation.

Assets

As noted above, assets are resources a business owns. The business uses its assets in carrying out
such activities as production and sales. The common characteristic possessed by all assets is the
capacity to provide future services or benefits. In a business, that service potential or future
economic benefit eventually results in cash inflows (receipts). For example, consider Campus Pizza, a
local restaurant. It owns a delivery truck that provides economic benefits from delivering pizzas. Other
assets of Campus Pizza are tables, chairs, jukebox, cash register, oven, tableware, and, of course,
cash.

Liabilities

Liabilities are claims against assets—that is, existing debts and obligations. Businesses of all sizes
usually borrow money and purchase merchandise on credit. These economic activities result in
payables of various sorts:

+ Campus Pizza, for instance, purchases cheese, sausage, flour, and beverages on credit from
suppliers. These obligations are called accounts payable.

+ Campus Pizza also has a note payable to First National Bank for the money borrowed to purchase
the delivery truck.

+ Campus Pizza may also have salaries and wages payable to employees and sales and real
estate taxes payable to the local government.

All of these persons or entities to whom Campus Pizza owes money are its creditors.

Creditors may legally force the liquidation of a business that does not pay its debts. In that case, the law
requires that creditor claims be paid before ownership claims.

Owner's Equity

The ownership claim on total assets is owner's equity (see Helpful Hint). It is equal to total assets
minus total liabilities. Here is why: The assets of a business are claimed by either creditors or owners.
To find out what belongs to owners, we subtract the creditors' claims (the liabilities) from assets. The
remainder is the owner's claim on the assets—the owner's equity. Since the claims of creditors must be
paid before ownership claims, owner's equity is often referred to as residual equity.



HELPFUL HINT

In some places, we use the term “owner's equity” and in others we use “owners’ equity.”
Owner's (singular, possessive) refers to one owner (the case with a sole proprietorship).
Owners'’ (plural, possessive) refers to multiple owners (the case with partnerships or
corporations).

Increases in Owner's Equity
In a proprietorship, owner's investments and revenues increase owner's equity.
Investments by Owner.

Investments by owner are the assets the owner puts into the business. These investments increase
owner's equity. They are recorded in a category called owner's capital.

Revenues.

Revenues are the increases in assets or decreases in liabilities resulting from the sale of goods
or the performance of services in the normal course of business. Revenues usually result in an
increase in an asset. They may arise from different sources and are called different names depending
on the nature of the business. Campus Pizza, for instance, has two categories of sales revenues—pizza
sales and beverage sales.

Decreases in Owner's Equity
In a proprietorship, owner's drawings and expenses decrease owner's equity.
Drawings.

An owner may withdraw cash or other assets for personal use. We use a separate classification called
drawings to determine the total withdrawals for each accounting period. Drawings decrease owner's
equity. They are recorded in a category called owner's drawings.

Expenses.

Expenses are the cost of assets consumed or services used in the process of generating revenue.
They are decreases in owner's equity that result from operating the business. For example,
Campus Pizza recognizes the following expenses: cost of ingredients (meat, flour, cheese, tomato
paste, mushrooms, etc.); cost of beverages; salaries and wages expense; utilities expense (electric,
gas, and water expense); delivery expense (gasoline, repairs, licenses, etc.); supplies expense
(napkins, detergents, aprons, etc.); rent expense; interest expense; and property tax expense.

In summary, owner's equity is increased by an owner's investments and by revenues from business
operations. Owner's equity is decreased by an owner's withdrawals of assets and by expenses.
lllustration 1.6 expands the basic accounting equation by showing the items that comprise owner's
equity. This format is referred to as the expanded accounting equation.

UERVER IV (o) I HN Expanded accounting equation

Basic Equation Assets = + Owner's Equity
Liabilities
Expanded Assets = + Owner's Capital - Owner's Drawings + Revenues -

Equation Liabilities Expenses



DO IT! 3 | Owner's Equity Effects

Classify the following items as investment by owner (1), owner's drawings (D), revenues (R), or
expenses (E). Then indicate whether each item increases or decreases owner's equity.

1. Rent Expense.

2. Service Revenue.

3. Drawings.

4. Salaries and Wages Expense.

ACTION PLAN

Understand the sources of revenue.

Understand what causes expenses.

Review the rules for changes in owner's equity.

Recognize that drawings are withdrawals of cash or other assets from the business
for personal use.

Solution

1. Rent Expense is an expense (E); it decreases owner's equity.

2. Service Revenue is revenue (R); it increases owner's equity.

3. Drawings is owner's drawings (D); it decreases owner's equity.

4. Salaries and Wages Expense is an expense (E); it decreases owner's equity.

Analyzing Business Transactions

LEARNING OBJECTIVE 4

Analyze the effects of business transactions on the accounting equation.

okt TRI, ADJUSTING i POST-CLOSING
business JOURNALIZE POST RIAL o 'SR TRIAL FINANCIAL CLOSING ”I“-M“N:E
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transactions BALANCE v

This accounting cycle graphic illustrates the steps companies follow each period to record
transactions and eventually prepare financial statements.

The system of collecting and processing transaction data and communicating financial information to
decision-makers is known as the accounting information system. Factors that shape an accounting
information system include the nature of the company's business, the types of transactions, the size of
the company, the volume of data, and the information demands of management and others.

Most businesses use computerized accounting systems—sometimes referred to as electronic data
processing (EDP) systems. These systems handle all the steps involved in the recording process, from



initial data entry to preparation of the financial statements. In order to remain competitive, companies
continually improve their accounting systems to provide accurate and timely data for decision-making.
For example, in a recent annual report, Tootsie Roll stated, “We also invested in additional processing
and data storage hardware during the year. We view information technology as a key strategic tool, and
are committed to deploying leading edge technology in this area.” In addition, many companies have
upgraded their accounting information systems in response to the requirements of Sarbanes-Oxley.

Accounting information systems rely on a process referred to as the accounting cycle. As you can see
from the graphic above, the accounting cycle begins with the analysis of business transactions and ends
with the preparation of a post-closing trial balance. We explain each of the steps, starting in this chapter
and continuing in Chapters 2—4.

In this textbook, in order to emphasize the underlying concepts and principles, we focus on a manual
accounting system. The accounting concepts and principles do not change whether a system is
computerized or manual.

Accounting Transactions

Transactions (business transactions) are a business's economic events recorded by accountants.
Transactions may be external or internal. External transactions involve economic events between the
company and some outside enterprise. For example, Campus Pizza's purchase of cooking equipment
from a supplier, payment of monthly rent to the landlord, and sale of pizzas to customers are external
transactions. Internal transactions are economic events that occur entirely within one company. The
use of cooking and cleaning supplies are internal transactions for Campus Pizza.

Companies carry on many activities that do not represent business transactions. Examples are hiring
employees, responding to e-mails, talking with customers, and placing merchandise orders. Some of
these activities may lead to business transactions. Employees will earn wages, and suppliers will deliver
ordered merchandise. The company must analyze each event to find out if it affects the components of
the accounting equation. If it does, the company will record the transaction. lllustration 1.7
demonstrates the transaction identification process.

|ERVER (o) WA Transaction identification process

a [cHIPCITY |
Events - : J

p =

Purchase computer Driseuss produce design with
petental dustomer

Criterion Is the financial position (assets, liabilities, or owner's equity) of the company changed!?

Yes No Yes

Record/ =
Don't Record ==

Each transaction must have a dual effect on the accounting equation. For example, if an asset is
increased, there must be a corresponding:

* Decrease in another asset, or
 Increase in a specific liability, or
¢ Increase in owner's equity.
Two or more items could be affected. For example, as one asset is increased $10,000, another asset

could decrease $6,000 and a liability could increase $4,000. Any change in a liability or ownership claim
is subject to similar analysis.



Transaction Analysis

To demonstrate how to analyze transactions in terms of the accounting equation, we will review the
business activities of Softbyte, a smartphone app development company (see Helpful Hint). Softbyte is
the creation of Ray Neal, an entrepreneur who wants to create focused apps that inspire and engage
users of all ages. Ray was encouraged to start his own business after the success of “FoodAlert,” a
customizable app he developed that tracks the daily location of local food trucks. The following business
transactions occur during Softbyte's first month of operations.

HELPFUL HINT

Study these transactions until you are sure you understand them. They are not difficult, but
understanding them is important to your success in this course. The ability to analyze
transactions in terms of the basic accounting equation is essential in accounting.

Transaction (1). Investment of Cash by Owner.

Ray Neal starts a smartphone app development company which he names Softbyte. On September 1,
2020, he invests $15,000 cash in the business. This transaction results in an equal increase in assets
and owner's equity.

Basic The asset Cash increnses 315,000, and owner’s equity (specifically Owner’s Capital)
Analysis increases $15,000.
Assets = Liabilities + Owner’s Equity
Equation Owner's
Analysis Cash = Capital
(1 +$15000 = +$15,000 Enitial investment

Observe that the equality of the accounting equation has been maintained. Note that the investments by
the owner do not represent revenues, and they are excluded in determining net income. Therefore, it is
necessary to make clear that the increase is an investment (increasing Owner's Capital) rather than
revenue.

Transaction (2). Purchase of Equipment for Cash.

Softbyte purchases computer equipment for $7,000 cash. This transaction results in an equal increase
and decrease in total assets, though the composition of assets changes.

Basic

ialyeis The asset Cash decreases $7,000, and the asset Equipment increases $7,000,
Assets = Liabilities + Owner’s Equity
Cush +  Equipment = Owner's Capital
Eqitation $15.000 $15,000
Analysis (2] —7.000 +57.000
5 B.000  + 57000 = S15,000
S15.000

Observe that total assets are still $15,000. Owner's equity also remains at $15,000, the amount of Ray
Neal's original investment.

Transaction (3). Purchase of Supplies on Credit.

Softbyte purchases headsets (and other computer accessories expected to last several months) for
$1,600 from Mobile Solutions. Mobile Solutions agrees to allow Softbyte to pay this bill in October. This
transaction is a purchase on account (a credit purchase). Assets increase because of the expected
future benefits of using the headsets and computer accessories, and liabilities increase by the amount
due to Mobile Solutions.



i The asset Supplies increases $ 1,600, and the liability Accounts Payable increases $1,600.

Analysis
Assets = Liabilities + Owner's Equity
Accounts Owner's
Cash +  Supplies + Equipment = Payable + Capital
E‘i“ﬂ‘i"f“ S8.000 S7.000 S15.000
Al ®» +51,600 . +51,600
SHANKD 4+ $1600  + $7.000 = 51,600 o+ 515000
$16,600 F16,600

Total assets are now $16,600. This total is matched by a $1,600 creditor's claim and a $15,000
ownership claim.

Transaction (4). Services Performed for Cash.

Softbyte receives $1,200 cash from customers for app development services it has performed. This
transaction represents Softbyte's principal revenue-producing activity. Recall that revenue increases
owner's equity.

Basic

2 The assel Cash increases S1.200, and owner's equity increases $1,200 die 1o Service Revenus,
Amalysis
Assels = Liabilities + Owner's Equity
Aceounts Owner's

Cash 4+ Supplies + Equipment = Payable 4 Capital + Revenues
Equation SR.0000 51,600 S7.000 S1.600 S15.000
Analysis (4) +1200 4+81,200  Service Revenue

50200 + S1600 + $7.000 = S1.600 + SI5000 + 51,200

$17.800 $17.800

The two sides of the equation balance at $17,800. Service Revenue is included in determining
Softbyte's net income.

Note that we do not have room to give details for each individual revenue and expense account in this
illustration. Thus, revenues (and expenses when we get to them) are summarized under one column
heading for Revenues and one for Expenses. However, it is important to keep track of the category
(account) titles affected (e.g., Service Revenue) as they will be needed when we prepare financial
statements later in the chapter.

Transaction (5). Purchase of Advertising on Credit.

Softbyte receives a bill for $250 from the Daily News for advertising on its online website but postpones
payment until a later date. This transaction results in an increase in liabilities and a decrease in owner's
equity.

-’\ﬁ;l“;:l\ The liability Accoums Payable increnses $250, and owner's equity decreases 3250 due 10 Advertising Expense,
Assels = Liabilities + (wner's Equity
Accounts
Cash  + Supplics + Equipment = Pavable 4+ + Revenues —  Expenses
Equation $9.200 $1.600 SLA00 31,200
Analysis {3) +250 =8250 Advertising
0200 + SIL600 + STO00 = SISS0 4 SISD00 + SI200 - s2s Fpense
S17.500 S17.800

The two sides of the equation still balance at $17,800. Owner's equity decreases when Softbyte incurs
the expense. Expenses are not always paid in cash at the time they are incurred. When Softbyte pays at
a later date, the liability Accounts Payable will decrease, and the asset Cash will decrease [see
Transaction (8)]. The cost of advertising is an expense (rather than an asset) because the company has
used the benefits. Advertising Expense is included in determining net income.



Transaction (6). Services Performed for Cash and Credit.

Softbyte performs $3,500 of app development services for customers. The company receives cash of
$1,500 from customers, and it bills the balance of $2,000 on account. This transaction results in an
equal increase in assets and owner's equity.

Basic Three specific items are affected: The asset Cash increases $1.500, the asset Accounts Receivable increases $2,000,
Analysis and owmner's equity increases $3.500 due to Service Revenue.
Assels = _[_,'inll'iﬁlil:s + Owner’s Equity
Accounts Accounts Orwner's

Cush_ + Receivable + Supplics + Equipment = Payable + Capital + Revenues ~ Expenses
E‘Ihlﬂﬁﬂi'_ﬁ 59,200 S1.600 S7.000 31,850 S15.000 51,200 S250
Aualysis &) 41,500 +$2,000 +3,500 Service

e e — — . ot ——  Revenue

S10.700 +  S2.000 + S1600 + ST000 = S1L850 -+ 515000 + S4.700 - 5250

21,300 21,300

Softbyte recognizes $3,500 in revenue when it performs the service. In exchange for this service, it
received $1,500 in Cash and Accounts Receivable of $2,000. This Accounts Receivable represents
customers' promises to pay $2,000 to Softbyte in the future. When it later receives collections on
account, Softbyte will increase Cash and will decrease Accounts Receivable [see Transaction (9)].

Transaction (7). Payment of Expenses.

Softbyte pays the following expenses in cash for September: office rent $600, salaries and wages of
employees $900, and utilities $200. These payments result in an equal decrease in assets and owner's
equity.

Basic The asset Cash decreases $1.700, and owner’s equity decreases 51,700 due 1o the specific expense calegories
Analysis {Rent Expense, Salaries and Wages Expense, and Unilities Expense).
Assets = Liabilities + Owner’s Equity
Accounts Accounts Chwmer’s
Cash  + Receivable + Supplics + Equipment = Payable + Capital # Revenues - Expenses
~ £10,700 52,000 $1.600 ST.000 S1.850 FI5000  S4.T00 5 230
I:wamn ) —1700 ~600 Rt Expeme
nalysis —90 Sl el Winges s
=200 Unilitles Exp
SO000 +  S2000 + SEA00 4+ STOO0 = SLESD + S15.000 4+ S4LT00 - S1950
i
S19.600 $19.600

The two sides of the equation now balance at $19,600. Three lines in the analysis indicate the different
types of expenses that have been incurred.

Transaction (8). Payment of Accounts Payable.

Softbyte pays its $250 Daily News bill in cash. The company previously [in Transaction (5)] recorded the
bill as an increase in Accounts Payable and a decrease in owner's equity.

Basic This cash payment “on account” decreases the asset Cash by 5250 and also decreases the liability Accounts Payable
Analysis by $230.
Aty = Linbilities + Owner's Equity
Accouaits Aceounts Owner's
Cash  + Receivable + Sopplics + Bguipment = Payvable 4 Caphial 4 Revenses Bxpenses
Equation 0,000 52,000 S1.600 $7.000 S1.850 $15.000 $4,700 $1.950
Analysis ® =250 ~250
SETS0 &+ S2000 & SI600 4+ STO00 =  SLEO0  + SIS000 +  S4TO0 - $1950
-
S19.350 $19,350

Observe that the payment of a liability related to an expense that has previously been recorded does not
affect owner's equity. The company recorded this expense in Transaction (5) and should not record it
again.



Transaction (9). Receipt of Cash on Account.

Softbyte receives $600 in cash from customers who had been billed for services [in Transaction (6)].
Transaction (9) does not change total assets, but it changes the composition of those assets.

Basic o i
An-n;\l-:is The assel Cash increases S600, and the nsset Accounts Receivable decreases 600,
Assets = Liabilitis + Owner's Equity
Accounls Accounts Owner's
Cash + Reccivable + Supplies + Equipmemt = Payahle + Capital + HRevenses - Expenses
Equiation $8,750 52000 51600 $7.000 51,600 515,000 54,700 $1.930
i @ 4600 600
SYAS0 +  SIA00  + SE600 +  ST000 =  SLG00D 4+ SI000 +  S4T00 $1.950
319,350 S19.350

Note that the collection of an account receivable for services previously billed and recorded does not
affect owner's equity. Softbyte already recorded this revenue in Transaction (6) and should not record it

again.
Transaction (10). Withdrawal of Cash by Owner.

Ray Neal withdraws $1,300 in cash from the business for his personal use. This transaction results in an
equal decrease in assets and owner's equity.

Basic The asset Cash decreases 31,300, and owner's equity decreases 51,300 duc to owner’s withdrawal (Owner's
Analysis Drawings),
Assets = Liahilities + Owner's Equity
Aceounts Accounts  Owner's  Owner's
Cash  + Receivabile + Supplics + Equipmen = Payable  + Capital — Drawings + Revenues — Expenses
Ell-l‘iliﬂﬂ 80350 31400 51600 S7.000 S1.600 S15.000 54,700 51950
Analysis (0 —1.300 —51,300 Drawings
SEOSO +  SIADD 4+ 51,600 +  ST.000 = SEG00 4 SIS0 SLA0 + $4.700 51,950
$18.050 S18.050

Observe that the effect of a cash withdrawal by the owner is the opposite of the effect of an investment
by the owner. Owner's drawings are not expenses. Expenses are incurred for the purpose of earning
revenue. Drawings do not generate revenue. They are a disinvestment. Like owner's investment, the

company excludes owner's drawings in determining net income.
Summary of Transactions

lllustration 1.8 summarizes the September transactions of Softbyte to show their cumulative effect on
the basic accounting equation. It also indicates the transaction number and the specific effects of each

transaction.

| SEPEN NN OB N Tabular summary of Softbyte transactions

Assels = Liabiliiies + Owner’s Equily
Tras- Agoinils Agcounts Owner's Owener’s
action  Cash + Reccivable +  Supplics + Equipment = Payable + Capitdl — Drawings ¢ Rew - Exp
(1) +S15.000 + S15.000 Initiad invest.
2 =700 +57.000
£3) 51,600 +51.600
(4} 1,200 +51.200 Service Revenue
%) +250 S250 Adver. Expense
&) +1,500 +52.000 +3.500 Serviee Revenue
] L] -0 Rent Expense
—EN} <G00 Sl MWisges Exp,
200} 2001 Unilitbes Expense
(8 =250 =250
(L]} +H00 &0
1 ~1,300) -S1.300 Drawings
5 3.050 + S0 + S1.600 + 7000 = SLO0D + SIS0 - SLMK + S4.700 - $1.95)
S18.050 $18,050

lllustration 1.8 demonstrates some significant facts:



1. Each transaction is analyzed in terms of its effect on:
a. The three components of the basic accounting equation (assets, liabilities, and owner's equity).
b. Specific types (kinds) of items within each component (such as the asset Cash).
2. The two sides of the equation must always be equal.
3. The Owner's Capital, Owner's Drawings, Revenues, and Expenses columns indicate the causes
of each change in the owner's claim on assets.

There! You made it through your first transaction analysis. If you feel a bit shaky on any of the
transactions, it might be a good idea at this point to get up, take a short break, and come back again for
a brief (10- to 15-minute) review of the transactions, to make sure you understand them before you go
on to the next section.

DO IT! 4 | Tabular Analysis

Transactions made by Virmari & Co., a public accounting firm, for the month of August are shown
below. Prepare a tabular analysis which shows the effects of these transactions on the expanded
accounting equation, similar to that shown in lllustration 1.8.

1. The owner invested $25,000 cash in the business.

2. The company purchased $7,000 of office equipment on credit.

3. The company received $8,000 cash in exchange for services performed.

4. The company paid $850 for this month's rent.

5. The owner withdrew $1,000 cash for personal use.

ACTION PLAN

« Analyze the effects of each transaction on the accounting equation.
+ Use appropriate category names (not descriptions).

* Keep the accounting equation in balance.

Solution
Assels = Liabilitics + Owner's Equity
Trans- Accounts Owner's Owner's
action Cash + Edquipment =  Payable +  Capital Drawings + Revenues Expenses
) 835000 £525.000
(2) +57.000 +57,000
(k3] +5.000 + 5800 Service Revenue
() -850 ~$850 Rent Expense
(5 —1 OO0 -5 10600 Drawings
;”_T‘Ii + 57000 = lm + m @ + 5,000 E"ﬂ
$38.150 238,150




The Four Financial Statements

LEARNING OBJECTIVE 5

Describe the four financial statements and how they are prepared.

Companies prepare four financial statements from the summarized accounting data (see Helpful Hint):

HELPFUL HINT

The income statement, owner's equity statement, and statement of cash flows are all for a
period of time, whereas the balance sheet is for a point in time.

1. An income statement presents the revenues and expenses and resulting net income or net loss
for a specific period of time.

2. An owner's equity statement summarizes the changes in owner's equity for a specific period of
time.

3. Abalance sheet reports the assets, liabilities, and owner's equity at a specific date.

4. A statement of cash flows summarizes information about the cash inflows (receipts) and
outflows (payments) for a specific period of time.

These statements provide relevant financial data for internal and external users. lllustration 1.9 shows
the financial statements of Softbyte.



(VRS V(o) I HEN Financial statements and their interrelationships

Softbyte
Income Statement
For the Month Ended September 30, 2020

Revenues

Feryice revenue § 4700 § §
!—xr:;::f i The heading of each statement
Salaries amd wages expense SO identifies the company, the

Rent expense AN type of statement, and the

Advertising expenss 250 specific date or time period
Utilities. expense 00 covered by the statement,
2 L3 | < .
Toual expérnses - 1,050
Net income % 2750

Softbyte
Owner's Equity Statement
For the Month Ended September 30,2020

Owner's capital, Sepember |

Addids Investments 15,000

:

Note that final sums are

double-underlined, and nega-

Net income 17504 7,150 tive amounts (in the statement
17.750 of cash flows) are presented in
Less: Drawings 1,300 parentlitiss
Owyner’s capital, September 30 $ 16,450
Softbyte
Balance Sheet
September 30, 2020
Assets
Cash £ B030
Awcounts receivable 1400
Supplies 1,660 [“‘]
Equigment 7000 et
Total assets § 18,050
Liahilities and Owner's Equity
Liahilities
Accounts payable 5 Lob0
Owner's equity
Owner's capital 16,450
Total liabilities and owner's equity 5 18,050

Softbyte
Statement of Cash Flows
For the Month Ended September 30, 2020

Cash Nows from operating activities

The arrows show the interrela-
tionships of the four financial

Cash receipts from revenucs § 3300 5
= g statements,
Cash paymenis for expenses (1,950}
Net cash provided by operating activitie 1,350 1 Nt tncyre 1e umiputta
gt el N i ) CpRTaE MR I TINS first and is needed 1o deter-
Cash flows from investing activities . . P
2 % mine the ending balance in
Purchase of exuipmaen (70000 i '
” . * A - oWner's equity.
Cash flows from linancing activities o + ‘
i 2. The ending balance in
Invesiments by owner 215,000 = ] &
D e 1900 13700 owner’s equity is needed in
rawings by owner AL an b s preparing the halance sheet.
Net increase in cash K050 3, The cash shown on the
Cash at the beginning of the period i} halance sheet is needed in
Cash at the end of the period S 8,050 preparing the statement of

cash flows,

Note that the statements shown in lllustration 1.9 are interrelated:
1. Net income of $2,750 on the income statement is added to the beginning balance of owner's
capital in the owner's equity statement.

2. Owner's capital of $16,450 at the end of the reporting period shown in the owner's equity
statement is reported on the balance sheet.

3. Cash of $8,050 on the balance sheet is reported on the statement of cash flows.
Also, explanatory notes and supporting schedules are an integral part of every set of financial
statements. We illustrate these notes and schedules in later chapters of this textbook.
Be sure to carefully examine the format and content of each statement in lllustration 1.9. We describe
the essential features of each in the following sections.

Income Statement

The income statement reports the revenues and expenses for a specific period of time (see Alternative
Terminology). (In Softbyte's case, this is “For the Month Ended September 30, 2020.”) Softbyte's
income statement is prepared from the data appearing in the owner's equity columns of lllustration 1.8.



ALTERNATIVE TERMINOLOGY

The income statement is sometimes referred to as the statement of operations, earnings
statement, or profit and loss statement.

Alternative Terminology notes introduce synonymous terms you may come across in practice.

The income statement lists revenues first, followed by expenses. Finally the statement shows net
income (or net loss). Net income results when revenues exceed expenses. A net loss occurs when
expenses exceed revenues.

Although practice varies, we have chosen in our illustrations and homework solutions to list expenses in
order of magnitude. (We will consider alternative formats for the income statement in later chapters.)

Note that the income statement does not include investment and withdrawal transactions between the
owner and the business in measuring net income. For example, as explained earlier, Ray Neal's
withdrawal of cash from Softbyte was not regarded as a business expense.

Owner's Equity Statement

The owner's equity statement reports the changes in owner's equity for a specific period of time. The
time period is the same as that covered by the income statement (in Softbyte's case, this is “For the
Month Ended September 30, 2020”). Data for the preparation of the owner's equity statement come
from the owner's equity columns of the tabular summary (lllustration 1.8) and from the income
statement. The first line of the statement shows the beginning owner's equity amount (which was zero at
the start of the business). Then come the owner's investments, net income (or loss), and the owner's
drawings. This statement indicates why owner's equity has increased or decreased during the period.

What if Softbyte had reported a net loss in its first month? Let's assume that during the month of
September 2020, Softbyte lost $10,000. lllustration 1.10 shows the presentation of a net loss in the
owner's equity statement.

UREUEN e [IN Presentation of net loss
Softbyte

Owner's Equity Statement
For the Month Ended September 30, 2020

Owner's capital, September 1 $ -0-
Add: Investments 15,000
15,000

Less: Drawings $ 1,300
Net loss 10,000 11,300
Owner's capital, September 30 $ 3,700

If the owner makes any additional investments, the company reports them in the owner's equity
statement as investments.

Balance Sheet

Softbyte's balance sheet reports the assets, liabilities, and owner's equity at a specific date (in Softbyte's
case, September 30, 2020). The company prepares the balance sheet from the column headings of the
tabular summary (lllustration 1.8) and the month-end data shown in its last line.

Observe that the balance sheet lists assets at the top, followed by liabilities and owner's equity. Total
assets must equal total liabilities and owner's equity. Softbyte reports only one liability—accounts
payable—in its balance sheet. In most cases, there will be more than one liability. When two or more
liabilities are involved, a customary way of listing is as shown in lllustration 1.11.



HREVENV:N (o' EN Presentation of liabilities

Liabilities
Notes payable $ 10,000
Accounts payable 63,000
Salaries and wages payable, 18,000
Total liabilities $91,000

The balance sheet is a snapshot of the company's financial condition at a specific moment in time
(usually the month-end or year-end).

Statement of Cash Flows

The primary purpose of a statement of cash flows is to provide financial information about the cash
receipts and cash payments of a company for a specific period of time (see Helpful Hint). To help
investors, creditors, and others in their analysis of a company's cash position, the statement of cash
flows reports the cash effects of a company's operating, investing, and financing activities. In addition,
the statement shows the net increase or decrease in cash during the period, and the amount of cash at
the end of the period.

HELPFUL HINT

The statement of cash flows helps users determine if the company generates enough cash
from operations to fund its investing and financing activities.

Reporting the sources, uses, and change in cash is useful because investors, creditors, and others want
to know what is happening to a company's most liquid resource. The statement of cash flows provides
answers to the following simple but important questions.

1. Where did cash come from during the period?
2. What was cash used for during the period?

3. What was the change in the cash balance during the period?

As shown in Softbyte's statement of cash flows in lllustration 1.9, cash increased $8,050 during the
period. Net cash provided by operating activities increased cash $1,350 (cash receipts from revenue
less cash payments for expenses). Cash flow from investing activities decreased cash $7,000 (purchase
of equipment). And cash flow from financing activities increased cash $13,700 (investment by owner
less drawings by owner). At this time, you need not be concerned with how these amounts are
determined. Chapter 17 will examine the statement of cash flows in detail.




People, Planet, and Profit Insight

Beyond Financial Statements

© Marek UliaszfiSleckpholo

Should we expand our financial statements beyond the income statement, owner's equity
statement, balance sheet, and statement of cash flows? Some believe we should take into account
ecological and social performance, in addition to financial results, in evaluating a company. The
argument is that a company's responsibility lies with anyone who is influenced by its actions. In
other words, a company should be interested in benefiting many different parties, instead of only
maximizing stockholders' interests.

A socially responsible business does not exploit or endanger any group of individuals. It follows fair
trade practices, provides safe environments for workers, and bears responsibility for environmental
damage. Granted, measurement of these factors is difficult. How to report this information is also
controversial. But many interesting and useful efforts are underway. Throughout this textbook, we
provide additional insights into how companies are attempting to meet the challenge of measuring
and reporting their contributions to society, as well as their financial results, to stockholders.

Why might a company's stockholders be interested in its environmental and social
performance? (Go to WileyPLUS for this answer and additional questions.)




DO IT! 5 | Financial Statement Items

Presented below is selected information related to Flanagan Company at December 31, 2020.
Flanagan reports financial information monthly.

Equipment $10,000 Utilities Expense $ 4,000
Cash 8,000 Accounts Receivable 9,000
Service Revenue 36,000 Salaries and Wages Expense 7,000
Rent Expense 11,000 Notes Payable 16,500
Accounts Payable 2,000 Owner's Drawings 5,000

a. Determine the total assets of Flanagan Company at December 31, 2020.
b. Determine the net income that Flanagan Company reported for December 2020.

c. Determine the owner's equity of Flanagan Company at December 31, 2020.

ACTION PLAN

+« Remember the basic accounting equation: assets must equal liabilities plus owner's
equity.

+ Review previous financial statements to determine how total assets, net income,
and owner's equity are computed.

Solution

a. The total assets are $27,000, comprised of Cash $8,000, Accounts Receivable $9,000, and
Equipment $10,000.

b. Net income is $14,000, computed as follows.

Revenues
Service revenue $36,000
Expenses
Rent expense $11,000
Salaries and wages expense 7,000
Utilities expense 4,000
Total expenses 22,00

Net income $14,00

o 1o

c. The ending owner's equity of Flanagan Company is $8,500. By rewriting the accounting
equation, we can compute owner's equity as assets minus liabilities, as follows.

Total assets [as computed in (a)] $27,000
Less: Liabilities
Notes payable $16,500
Accounts payable 2,000 18,500
Owner's equity $ 8,500

Note that it is not possible to determine the company's owner's equity in any other way because
the beginning total for owner's equity is not provided.




Related exercise material: BE1.10, BE1.11, DO IT! 1.5, E1.9, E1.10, E1.11, E1.12, E1.13, E1.14,
E1.15, E1.16, E1.17 and E1.18.

Appendix 1A Career Opportunities in Accounting

LEARNING OBJECTIVE *6

Explain the career opportunities in accounting.

Why is accounting such a popular major and career choice? First, there are a lot of jobs. In many cities
in recent years, the demand for accountants exceeded the supply. Not only are there a lot of jobs, but
there are a wide array of opportunities. As one accounting organization observed, “accounting is one
degree with 360 degrees of opportunity.”

Accounting is also hot because it is obvious that accounting matters. Interest in accounting has
increased, ironically, because of the attention caused by the accounting failures of companies such as
Enron and WorldCom. These widely publicized scandals revealed the important role that accounting
plays in society. Most people want to make a difference, and an accounting career provides many
opportunities to contribute to society. Finally, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (SOX) significantly increased the
accounting and internal control requirements for corporations. This dramatically increased demand for
professionals with accounting training.

Accountants are in such demand that it is not uncommon for accounting students to have accepted a
job offer a year before graduation. As the following discussion reveals, the job options of people with
accounting degrees are virtually unlimited.

Public Accounting

Individuals in public accounting offer expert service to the general public, in much the same way that
doctors serve patients and lawyers serve clients. A major portion of public accounting involves auditing.
In auditing, a certified public accountant (CPA) examines company financial statements and provides an
opinion as to how accurately the financial statements present the company's results and financial
position. Analysts, investors, and creditors rely heavily on these “audit opinions,” which CPAs have the
exclusive authority to issue.

Taxation is another major area of public accounting. The work that tax specialists perform includes tax
advice and planning, preparing tax returns, and representing clients before governmental agencies such
as the Internal Revenue Service.

A third area in public accounting is management consulting. It ranges from installing basic accounting
software or highly complex enterprise resource planning systems, to performing support services for
major marketing projects and merger and acquisition activities.

Many CPAs are entrepreneurs. They form small- or medium-sized practices that frequently specialize in
tax or consulting services.

Private Accounting

Instead of working in public accounting, you might choose to be an employee of a for-profit company
such as Starbucks, Alphabet, or PepsiCo. In managerial (or private) accounting, you would be
involved in activities such as cost accounting (finding the cost of producing specific products),
budgeting, accounting information system design and support, and tax planning and preparation. You
might also be a member of your company's internal audit team. In response to SOX, the internal



auditors' job of reviewing the company's operations to ensure compliance with company policies and to
increase efficiency has taken on increased importance.

Alternatively, many accountants work for not-for-profit organizations such as the Red Cross or the Bill
and Melinda Gates Foundation, or for museums, libraries, or performing arts organizations.

Governmental Accounting

Another option is to pursue one of the many accounting opportunities in governmental agencies. For
example, the Internal Revenue Service (IRS), Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI), and the Securities
and Exchange Commission (SEC) all employ accountants. The FBI has a stated goal that at least 15%
of its new agents should be CPAs. There is also a very high demand for accounting educators at public
colleges and universities and in state and local governments.

Forensic Accounting

Forensic accounting uses accounting, auditing, and investigative skills to conduct investigations into
theft and fraud. It is listed among the top 20 career paths of the future. The job of forensic accountants is
to catch the perpetrators of the estimated $600 billion per year of theft and fraud occurring at U.S.
companies. This includes tracing money-laundering and identity-theft activities as well as tax evasion.
Insurance companies hire forensic accountants to detect frauds such as arson, and law offices employ
forensic accountants to identify marital assets in divorces. Forensic accountants often have FBI, IRS, or
similar government experience.

“Show Me the Money”
How much can a new accountant make? Take a look at the average salaries for college graduates in

public and private accounting listed in lllustration 1A.1. Keep in mind if you also have a CPA license,
you'll make 10—-15% more when you start out.

|SRVEN VN I(0] I V-W N Salary estimates for jobs in public and corporate accounting

Employer Jr. Level (0-3 yrs.) Sr. Level (4-6 yrs.)
Public accounting (large firm) $63,250-$83,250 $78,500-$106,500
Public accounting (small firm) $51,500-$60,500 $63,750-$ 81,500

Corporate accounting (large company) $53,750-$69,500 $68,750-$ 87,750
Corporate accounting (small company) $45,000-$59,000 $57,500-$ 70,000

lllustration 1A.2 offers some examples of upper-level salaries for managers in corporate accounting.
Note that geographic region, experience, education, CPA certification, and company size each play a
role in determining salary.

| ERVER RN (o) VWA Upper-level management salaries in corporate accounting

Position Large Company Small to Medium Company
Chief financial officer $207,000-$465,750 $105,250-$208,750

Corporate controller | $140,000-$224,750 $92,000-$161,250
Tax manager $112,000-$158,250 $ 88,000-$124,750
The Review and Practice section provides opportunities for students to review key concepts and

terms as well as complete multiple-choice questions, exercises, and a comprehensive problem.
Detailed solutions are also included.



Review and Practice

Learning Objectives Review

1 Identify the activities and users associated with accounting.

Accounting is an information system that identifies, records, and communicates the economic events
of an organization to interested users. The major users and uses of accounting are as follows. (a)
Management uses accounting information to plan, organize, and run the business. (b) Investors
(owners) decide whether to buy, hold, or sell their financial interests on the basis of accounting data.
(c) Creditors (suppliers and bankers) evaluate the risks of granting credit or lending money on the
basis of accounting information. Other groups that use accounting information are taxing authorities,
regulatory agencies, customers, and labor unions.

2 Explain the building blocks of accounting: ethics, principles, and assumptions.

Ethics are the standards of conduct by which actions are judged as right or wrong. Effective financial
reporting depends on sound ethical behavior.

Generally accepted accounting principles are a common set of standards used by accountants. The
primary accounting standard-setting body in the United States is the Financial Accounting Standards
Board. The monetary unit assumption requires that companies include in the accounting records only
transaction data that can be expressed in terms of money. The economic entity assumption requires
that the activities of each economic entity be kept separate from the activities of its owner(s) and
other economic entities.

3 State the accounting equation, and define its components.
The basic accounting equation is:

Assets = Liabilities + Owner’s Equity

Assets are resources a business owns. Liabilities are creditorship claims on total assets. Owner's
equity is the ownership claim on total assets.

The expanded accounting equation is:
Assets = Liabilities + Owner’s Capital — Owner’s Drawings + Revenues — Expenses

Investments by owners (assets the owner puts into the business) are recorded in a category called
owner's capital. Owner's drawings are the withdrawal of assets by the owner for personal use.
Revenues are the gross increase in owner's equity from business activities for the purpose of
earning income. Expenses are the costs of assets consumed or services used in the process of
earning revenue.

4 Analyze the effects of business transactions on the accounting equation.

Each business transaction must have a dual effect on the accounting equation. For example, if an
individual asset increases, there must be a corresponding (1) decrease in another asset, (2) increase
in a specific liability, or (3) increase in owner's equity.

5 Describe the four financial statements and how they are prepared.

An income statement presents the revenues and expenses, and resulting net income or net loss, for
a specific period of time. An owner's equity statement summarizes the changes in owner's equity for
a specific period of time. A balance sheet reports the assets, liabilities, and owner's equity at a

specific date. A statement of cash flows summarizes information about the cash inflows (receipts)
and outflows (payments) for a specific period of time.

*6 Explain the career opportunities in accounting.



Accounting offers many different jobs in fields such as public and private accounting, governmental,
and forensic accounting. Accounting is a popular major because there are many different types of
jobs, with unlimited potential for career advancement.

Glossary Review

Accounting The information system that identifies, records, and communicates the economic events of
an organization to interested users.

Accounting information system The system of collecting and processing transaction data and
communicating financial information to decision-makers.

Assets Resources a business owns.

*Auditing The examination of financial statements by a certified public accountant in order to express
an opinion as to the fairness of presentation.

Balance sheet A financial statement that reports the assets, liabilities, and owner's equity at a specific
date.

Basic accounting equation Assets = Liabilities + Owner's equity.
Bookkeeping A part of the accounting process that involves only the recording of economic events.
Convergence The process of reducing the differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRS.

Corporation A business organized as a separate legal entity under state corporation law, having
ownership divided into transferable shares of stock.

Drawings Withdrawal of cash or other assets from an unincorporated business for the personal use of
the owner(s).

Economic entity assumption An assumption that requires that the activities of the entity be kept
separate and distinct from the activities of its owner and all other economic entities.

Ethics The standards of conduct by which actions are judged as right or wrong, honest or dishonest, fair
or not fair.

Expanded accounting equation Assets = Liabilities + Owner's capital — Owner's drawings + Revenues
- Expenses.

Expenses The cost of assets consumed or services used in the process of generating revenue.

Fair value principle An accounting principle stating that assets and liabilities should be reported at fair
value (the price received to sell an asset or settle a liability).

Faithful representation Numbers and descriptions match what really existed or happened—they are
factual.

Financial accounting The field of accounting that provides economic and financial information for
investors, creditors, and other external users.

Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) A private organization that establishes generally
accepted accounting principles (GAAP) in the United States.

*Forensic accounting An area of accounting that uses accounting, auditing, and investigative skills to
conduct investigations into theft and fraud.

Generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) Common standards that indicate how to report
economic events.

Historical cost principle An accounting principle that states that companies should record assets at
their cost.

Income statement A financial statement that presents the revenues and expenses and resulting net
income or net loss of a company for a specific period of time.



International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) An accounting standard-setting body that issues
standards adopted by many countries outside of the United States.

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) International accounting standards set by the
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

Investments by owner The assets an owner puts into the business.
Liabilities Creditor claims against total assets.

*Management consulting An area of public accounting ranging from development of accounting and
computer systems to support services for marketing projects and merger and acquisition activities.

Managerial accounting The field of accounting that provides internal reports to help users make
decisions about their companies.

Monetary unit assumption An assumption stating that companies include in the accounting records
only transaction data that can be expressed in terms of money.

Net income The amount by which revenues exceed expenses.
Net loss The amount by which expenses exceed revenues.
Owner's equity The ownership claim on total assets.

Owner's equity statement A financial statement that summarizes the changes in owner's equity for a
specific period of time.

Partnership A business owned by two or more persons associated as partners.
Proprietorship A business owned by one person.

*Public accounting An area of accounting in which the accountant offers expert service to the general
public.

Relevance Financial information that is capable of making a difference in a decision.

Revenues The increases in assets or decreases in liabilities resulting from the sale of goods or the
performance of services in the normal course of business.

Sarbanes-Oxley Act (SOX) Law passed by Congress intended to reduce unethical corporate behavior.

Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) A governmental agency that oversees U.S. financial
markets and accounting standard-setting bodies.

Statement of cash flows A financial statement that summarizes information about the cash inflows
(receipts) and cash outflows (payments) for a specific period of time.

*Taxation An area of public accounting involving tax advice, tax planning, preparing tax returns, and
representing clients before governmental agencies.

Transactions The economic events of a business that are recorded by accountants.
Practice Multiple-Choice Questions

1. (LO 1) Which of the following is not a step in the accounting process?

a. Identification.

b. Economic entity.
c. Recording.

d. Communication.

2. (LO 1) Which of the following statements about users of accounting information is incorrect?

a. Management is an internal user.

b. Taxing authorities are external users.



c. Present creditors are external users.

d. Regulatory authorities are internal users.
3. (LO 2) The historical cost principle states that:

a. assets should be initially recorded at cost and adjusted when the fair value changes.

b. activities of an entity are to be kept separate and distinct from its owner.

c. assets should be recorded at their cost.

d. only transaction data capable of being expressed in terms of money be included in the accounting
records.

4. (LO 2) Which of the following statements about basic assumptions is correct?

a. Basic assumptions are the same as accounting principles.

b. The economic entity assumption states that there should be a particular unit of accountability.
c. The monetary unit assumption enables accounting to measure employee morale.

d. Partnerships are not economic entities.

5. (LO 2) The three types of business entities are:

a. proprietorships, small businesses, and partnerships.
b. proprietorships, partnerships, and corporations.

c. proprietorships, partnerships, and large businesses.
d. financial, manufacturing, and service companies.

6. (LO 3) Net income will result during a time period when:

a. assets exceed liabilities.

b. assets exceed revenues.

C. expenses exceed revenues.

d. revenues exceed expenses.
7. (LO 3) As of December 31, 2020, Kent Company has assets of $3,500 and owner's equity of $2,000.
What are the liabilities for Kent Company as of December 31, 20207

a. $1,500.

b. $1,000.

c. $2,500.

d. $2,000.
8. (LO 4) Performing services on account will have the following effects on the components of the basic
accounting equation:

a. increase assets and decrease owner's equity.

b. increase assets and increase owner's equity.

c. increase assets and increase liabilities.

d. increase liabilities and increase owner's equity.

9. (LO 4) Which of the following events is not recorded in the accounting records?



a. Equipment is purchased on account.

b. An employee is terminated.

c. A cash investment is made into the business.

d. The owner withdraws cash for personal use.
10. (LO 4) During 2020, Bruske Company's assets decreased $50,000 and its liabilities decreased
$50,000. Its owner's equity therefore:

a. increased $50,000.

b. decreased $50,000.

c. decreased $100,000.

d. did not change.
11. (LO 4) Payment of an account payable affects the components of the accounting equation in the
following way.

a. Decreases owner's equity and decreases liabilities.

b. Increases assets and decreases liabilities.

c. Decreases assets and increases owner's equity.

d. Decreases assets and decreases liabilities.
12. (LO 5) Which of the following statements is false?

a. A statement of cash flows summarizes information about the cash inflows (receipts) and outflows

(payments) for a specific period of time.

b. A balance sheet reports the assets, liabilities, and owner's equity at a specific date.

c. An income statement presents the revenues, expenses, changes in owner's equity, and resulting
net income or net loss for a specific period of time.

d. An owner's equity statement summarizes the changes in owner's equity for a specific period of
time.

13. (LO 5) On the last day of the period, Alan Cesska Company buys a $900 machine on credit. This
transaction will affect the:

a. income statement only.

b. balance sheet only.

c. income statement and owner's equity statement only.

d. income statement, owner's equity statement, and balance sheet.
14. (LO 5) The financial statement that reports assets, liabilities, and owner's equity is the:

a. income statement.

b. owner's equity statement.
c. balance sheet.

d. statement of cash flows.

*15. (LO 6) Services performed by a public accountant include:

a. auditing, taxation, and management consulting.



b. auditing, budgeting, and management consulting.
c¢. auditing, budgeting, and cost accounting.

d. auditing, budgeting, and management consulting.
Solutions

1. b. Economic entity is not one of the steps in the accounting process. The other choices are true
because (a) identification is the first step in the accounting process, (c) recording is the second step in
the accounting process, and (d) communication is the third and final step in the accounting process.

2. d. Regulatory authorities are external, not internal, users of accounting information. The other choices
are true statements.

3. c. The historical cost principle states that assets should be recorded at their cost. The other choices
are incorrect because (a) the historical cost principle does not say that assets should be adjusted for
changes in fair value, (b) describes the economic entity assumption, and (d) describes the monetary unit
assumption.

4. b. The economic entity assumption states that there should be a particular unit of accountability. The
other choices are incorrect because (a) basic assumptions are not the same as accounting principles,
(c) the monetary unit assumption allows accounting to measure economic events, and (d) partnerships
are economic entities.

5. b. Proprietorships, partnerships, and corporations are the three types of business entities. Choices
(a) and (c) are incorrect because small and large businesses only denote the sizes of businesses.
Choice (d) is incorrect because financial, manufacturing, and service companies are types of
businesses, not business entities.

6. d. Net income results when revenues exceed expenses. The other choices are incorrect because (a)
assets and liabilities are not used in the computation of net income; (b) revenues, not assets, are
included in the computation of net income; and (c) when expenses exceed revenues, a net loss results.

7. a. Using a variation of the basic accounting equation, Assets — Owner's equity = Liabilities, $3,500 —
$2,000 = $ 1,500. Therefore, choices (b) $1,000, (c) $2,500, and (d) $2,000 are incorrect.

8. b. When services are performed on account, assets are increased and owner's equity is increased.
The other choices are incorrect because when services are performed on account (a) owner's equity is
increased, not decreased; (c) liabilities are not affected; and (d) owner's equity is increased and
liabilities are not affected.

9. b. If an employee is terminated, this represents an activity of a company, not a business transaction.
Assets, liabilities, and owner's equity are not affected. Thus, there is no effect on the accounting
equation. The other choices are incorrect because they are all recorded: (a) when equipment is
purchased on account, both assets and liabilities increase; (¢) when a cash investment is made into a
business, both assets and owner's equity increase; and (d) when an owner withdraws cash for personal
use, both assets and owner's equity decrease.

10. d. In this situation, owner's equity does not change because only assets and liabilities decreased
$50,000. Therefore, the other choices are incorrect.

11. d. Payment of an account payable results in an equal decrease of assets (cash) and liabilities
(accounts payable). The other choices are incorrect because payment of an account payable (a) does
not affect owner's equity, (b) does not increase assets, and (c) does not affect owner's equity.

12. c. An income statement represents the revenues, expenses, and the resulting net income or net loss
for a specific period of time but not the changes in owner's equity. The other choices are true
statements.

13. b. This transaction will cause assets to increase by $900 and liabilities to increase by $900. The
other choices are incorrect because this transaction (a) will have no effect on the income statement, (c)
will have no effect on the income statement or the owner's equity statement, and (d) will affect the
balance sheet but not the income statement or the owner's equity statement.



14. c. The balance sheet is the statement that reports assets, liabilities and owner's equity. The other
choices are incorrect because (a) the income statement reports revenues and expenses, (b) the owner's
equity statement reports details about owner's equity, and (d) the statement of cash flows reports inflows
and outflows of cash.

*15. a. Auditing, taxation, and management consulting are all services performed by public accountants.
The other choices are incorrect because public accountants do not perform budgeting or cost
accounting.

Practice Brief Exercises

1. (LO 3) At the beginning of the year, Ortiz Company had total assets of $900,000 and total liabilities of
$440,000. Answer the following questions.

Use basic accounting equation.

a. If total assets decreased $100,000 during the year and total liabilities increased $80,000 during
the year, what is the amount of owner's equity at the end of the year?

b. During the year, total liabilities decreased $100,000 and owner's equity increased $200,000. What
is the amount of total assets at the end of the year?

c. If total assets increased $50,000 during the year and owner's equity increased $60,000 during the
year, what is the amount of total liabilities at the end of the year?

Solution

1. a.($900,000 - $440,000) - $100,000 - $80,000 = $280,000 owner's equity
b. $900,000 - $100,000 + $200,000 = $1,000,000 total assets
c. $440,000 - $60,000 + $50,000 = $430,000 total liabilities
2. (LO 4) Presented below are three business transactions. List the letters (a), (b), and (c) with columns

for assets, liabilities and owner's equity. For each column, indicate whether the transactions increased
(+), decreased (-), or had no effect (NE) on assets, liabilities, and owner's equity.

Determine effect of transactions on basic accounting equation.

a. Purchased equipment on account.
b. Withdrawal of cash by owner.

c. Paid expenses in cash.

Solution

2. Assets Liabilities Owner's Equity

a. + + NE
b. - NE -
Cc. - NE -

3. (LO 4) Follow the same format as in Practice Brief Exercise 2. Determine the effect on assets,
liabilities, and owner's equity of the following three transactions.

Determine effect of transactions on basic accounting equation.




a. Performed accounting services for clients for cash.
b. Borrowed cash from a bank on a note payable.
c. Paid cash for rent for the month.

Solution

3. Assets Liabilities Owner's Equity

a. + NE +
b. + + NE
c. - NE -

4. (LO 5) Indicate whether the following items would appear on the income statement
(IS), balance sheet (BS), or owner's equity statement (OE).

Determine where items appear on financial statements.

a. Owner's capital.
b. Cash.
c. Salaries and wages expense.
d. Service revenue.
e. Accounts payable.
Solution

4. a. Owner's capital OE, BS OE, BS
b. Cash
c. Salaries and wages expense
d. Service revenue
e. Accounts payable
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5.(LO 5) Presented below in alphabetical order are balance sheet items for Feagler
Company at December 31, 2020. Carole Feagler is the owner of the company. Prepare a balance sheet
following the format of lllustration 1.9.

Prepare a balance sheet.

Accounts receivable $12,500
Cash 38,000
Notes payable 40,000
Owner's capital 10,500



Solution

5. Feagler Company
Balance Sheet
December 31, 2020

Assets

Cash $38,000
Accounts receivable 12,500

Total assets $50,500

Liabilities and Owner's Equity

Liabilities

Notes payable $40,000
Owner's equity

Owner's capital 10,500

Total liabilities and owner's equity $50,500

Practice Exercises

1. (LO 3, 4) Selected transactions for Fabulous Flora Company are listed below.

Analyze the effect of transactions.

. Made cash investment to start business.

. Purchased equipment on account.

. Paid salaries.

. Billed customers for services performed.

. Received cash from customers billed in (4).
. Withdrew cash for owner's personal use.

. Incurred advertising expense on account.
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. Purchased additional equipment for cash.
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. Received cash from customers when service was performed.
Instructions

List the numbers of the above transactions and describe the effect of each transaction on assets,
liabilities, and owner's equity. For example, the first answer is: (1) Increase in assets and increase in
owner's equity.

Solution

1. . Increase in assets and increase in owner's equity.

. Increase in assets and increase in liabilities.

. Decrease in assets and decrease in owner's equity.
. Increase in assets and increase in owner's equity.

. Increase in assets and decrease in assets.

. Decrease in assets and decrease in owner's equity.
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. Increase in liabilities and decrease in owner's equity.



8. Increase in assets and decrease in assets.

9. Increase in assets and increase in owner's equity.

2. (LO 3, 4) Aima's Payroll Services Company entered into the following transactions during May 2020.

Analyze the effect of transactions on assets, liabilities, and owner's equity.

1. Purchased computers for $15,000 from Bytes of Data on account.

2. Paid $3,000 cash for May rent on storage space.

3. Received $12,000 cash from customers for contracts billed in April.

4. Performed payroll services for Magic Construction Company for $2,500 cash.
5. Paid Northern Ohio Power Co. $7,000 cash for energy usage in May.

6. Alma invested an additional $25,000 in the business.

7. Paid Bytes of Data for the computers purchased in (1) above.

8. Incurred advertising expense for May of $900 on account.

Instructions

Indicate with the appropriate letter whether each of the transactions above results in:
a. an increase in assets and a decrease in assets.

. an increase in assets and an increase in owner's equity.

. an increase in assets and an increase in liabilities.

. a decrease in assets and a decrease in owner's equity.
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. a decrease in assets and a decrease in liabilities.
f. an increase in liabilities and a decrease in owner's equity.
g. an increase in owner's equity and a decrease in liabilities.
Solution

1.
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Practice Problem

(LO 4, 5) Joan Robinson opens her own law office on July 1, 2020. During the first month of operations,
the following transactions occurred.

Prepare a tabular presentation and financial statements.

1. Joan invested $11,000 in cash in the law practice.



. Paid $800 for July rent on office space.

. Purchased equipment on account $3,000.

. Performed legal services for clients for cash $1,500.

. Borrowed $700 cash from a bank on a note payable.

. Performed legal services for client on account $2,000.
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. Paid monthly expenses: salaries and wages $500, utilities $300, and advertising $100.
8. Joan withdrew $1,000 cash for personal use.

Instructions

a. Prepare a tabular summary of the transactions.

b. Prepare the income statement, owner's equity statement, and balance sheet at
July 31, 2020, for Joan Robinson, Attorney.

Assrls = Limbilities + Owiner's Equity
Trans Accoums. Nestes Accounts Owmer's Cramer's
| +511.,000 - +51 1000
2 ] <5800
3 +EI00 = 83,000
4 +1.500 481,500
5 +T00 +5T00
b +52.000 #2000
7 L] 500
— 30 — 30
I - 14
8 L] ~$1.0000
SIS0+ SLG + 8000 = ST00 o+ SEIO0 +  SLLO0 - Sk o+ S5m0 - 50T
18,500 15,500

Joan Robinson, Attorney

Income Statement
For the Month Ended July 31, 2020

Revenues
Service revenue $3,500

Expenses
Rent expense $800
Salaries and wages expense 500
Utilities expense 300
Advertising expense 100

Total expenses
Net income
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Joan Robinson, Attorney
Owner's Equity Statement

For the Month Ended July 31, 2020

Owner's capital, July 1 $ 0
Add: Investments $11,000

Net income 1,800 12,800

12,800

Less: Drawings 1,000

Owner's capital, July 31 $11,800

Joan Robinson, Attorney

Balance Sheet

July 31, 2020
Assets
Cash $10,500
Accounts receivable 2,000
Equipment 3,000
Total assets $15,500
Liabilities and Owner's Equity
Liabilities
Notes payable $ 700
Accounts payable 3,000
Total liabilities 3,700
Owner's equity
Owner's capital 11,800

Total liabilities and owner's equity $15,500

WileyPLUS

Brief Exercises, DO IT! Exercises, Exercises, Problems, and many additional resources are
available for practice in WileyPLUS.

Note: All asterisked Questions, Exercises, and Problems relate to material in the appendix to the
chapter.

Questions

1. “Accounting is ingrained in our society and it is vital to our economic system.” Do you agree? Explain.
2. Identify and describe the steps in the accounting process.
3.
a. Who are internal users of accounting data?
b. How does accounting provide relevant data to these users?
4. What uses of financial accounting information are made by (a) investors and (b) creditors?



5. “Bookkeeping and accounting are the same.” Do you agree? Explain.

6. Benton Travel Agency purchased land for $90,000 cash on December 10, 2020. At December 31,
2020, the land's value has increased to $92,000. What amount should be reported for land on Benton's
balance sheet at December 31, 20207 Explain.

7. What is the monetary unit assumption?
8. What is the economic entity assumption?
9. What are the three basic forms of business organizations for profit-oriented enterprises?

10. Helen Rupp is the owner of a successful printing shop. Recently, her business has been increasing,
and Helen has been thinking about changing the organization of her business from a proprietorship to a
corporation. Discuss some of the advantages Helen would enjoy if she were to incorporate her
business.

11. What is the basic accounting equation?
12.
a. Define the terms assets, liabilities, and owner's equity.
b. What items affect owner's equity?
13. Which of the following items are liabilities of Siebers Jewelry Stores?

a. Cash.
b. Accounts payable.
c. Owner's drawings.
d. Accounts receivable.
e. Supplies.
f. Equipment.
g. Salaries and wages payable.
h. Service revenue.
i. Rent expense.
14. Can a business enter into a transaction in which only the left side of the basic accounting equation is
affected? If so, give an example.
15. Are the following events recorded in the accounting records? Explain your answer in each case.
a. The owner of the company dies.
b. Supplies are purchased on account.
c. An employee is fired.
d. The owner of the business withdraws cash from the business for personal use.
16. Indicate how the following business transactions affect the basic accounting equation.
a. Paid cash for janitorial services.
b. Purchased equipment for cash.
c. Invested cash in the business.
d. Paid accounts payable in full.

17. Listed below are some items found in the financial statements of Tony Gruber Co. Indicate in which
financial statement(s) the following items would appear.



a. Service revenue.

b. Equipment.

c. Advertising expense.

d. Accounts receivable.

e. Owner's capital.

f. Salaries and wages payable.

18. In February 2020, Ola Gott invested an additional $12,000 in her business, Gott's Pharmacy, which
is organized as a proprietorship. Gott's accountant, Sal Costa, recorded this receipt as an increase in
cash and revenues. Is this treatment appropriate? Why or why not?

19. “A company's net income appears directly on the income statement and the owner's equity
statement, and it is included indirectly in the company's balance sheet.” Do you agree? Explain.

20. Bayler Enterprises had a capital balance of $186,000 at the beginning of the period. At the end of
the accounting period, the capital balance was $189,000.

a. Assuming no additional investment or withdrawals during the period, what is the net income for
the period?

b. Assuming an additional investment of $13,000 but no withdrawals during the period, what is the
net income for the period?

21. Summarized operations for Bayles Co. for the month of July are as follows.

Revenues recognized: for cash $20,000; on account $70,000.

Expenses incurred: for cash $26,000; on account $40,000.
Indicate for Bayles Co. (a) the total revenues, (b) the total expenses, and (c) net income for the month of
July.

22. The basic accounting equation is Assets = Liabilities + Owner's equity. Replacing the words in that
equation with dollar amounts, what is Apple's accounting equation at September 26, 20157 (Hint:
Owner's equity is equivalent to shareholders' equity.)

Brief Exercises

BE1.1 (LO 3) Presented below is the basic accounting equation. Determine the missing amounts.

Use basic accounting equation.

Assets = Liabilities + Owner's Equity

a. $90,000 = $50,000 ?
b. ? $44,000 $70,000
c. $94,000 ? $53,000

BE1.2 (LO 3) Given the accounting equation, answer each of the following questions.

Use basic accounting equation.




a. The liabilities of Berber Company are $120,000 and the owner's equity is $230,000. What is the
amount of Weber Company's total assets?

b. The total assets of Berber Company are $190,000 and its owner's equity is $89,000. What is the
amount of its total liabilities?

c. The total assets of Berber Company are $900,000 and its liabilities are equal to one-half of its
total assets. What is the amount of Berber Company's owner's equity?

BE1.3 (LO 3) At the beginning of the year, Gilles Company had total assets of $800,000 and total
liabilities of $300,000. Answer the following questions.

Use basic accounting equation.

a. If total assets increased $150,000 during the year and total liabilities decreased $60,000, what is
the amount of owner's equity at the end of the year?

b. During the year, total liabilities increased $100,000 and owner's equity decreased $70,000. What
is the amount of total assets at the end of the year?

c. If total assets decreased $80,000 and owner's equity increased $120,000 during the year, what is
the amount of total liabilities at the end of the year?

BE1.4 (LO 3) Use the expanded accounting equation to answer each of the following questions.

Solve expanded accounting equation.

a. The liabilities of Platt Company are $90,000. Owner's capital is $150,000; drawings are $40,000;
revenues, $450,000; and expenses, $340,000. What is the amount of Platt Company's total assets?

b. The total assets of Sierra Company are $57,000. Owner's capital is $35,000; drawings are
$7,000; revenues, $52,000; and expenses, $35,000. What is the amount of the company's total
liabilities?

c. The total assets of Birch Co. are $660,000 and its liabilities are equal to two-thirds of its total
assets. What is the amount of Birch Co.'s owner's equity?

BE1.5 (LO 3) Indicate whether each of the following items is an asset (A), liability (L), or part of owner's
equity (OE).

Identify assets, liabilities, and owner's equity.

a. Accounts receivable

b. Salaries and wages payable
c. Equipment

d. Supplies

e. Owner's capital

f. Notes payable

BE1.6 (LO 3) Classify each of the following items as owner's drawings (D), revenue (R), or expense (E).

Classify items affecting owner's equity.

a. Advertising expense

b. Service revenue

c. Insurance expense

d. Salaries and wages expense



e. Owner's drawings

f. Rent revenue

g. Utilities expense
BE1.7 (LO 4) Presented below are three business transactions. On a sheet of paper, list the letters (a),
(b), and (c) with columns for assets, liabilities, and owner's equity. For each column, indicate whether

the transactions increased (+), decreased (-), or had no effect (NE) on assets, liabilities, and owner's
equity.

Determine effect of transactions on basic accounting equation.

a. Purchased supplies on account.
b. Received cash for performing a service.
c. Paid expenses in cash.

BE1.8 (LO 4) Follow the same format as in BE1.7. Determine the effect on assets, liabilities, and
owner's equity of the following three transactions.

Determine effect of transactions on basic accounting equation.

a. Invested cash in the business.
b. Withdrawal of cash by owner.
c. Received cash from a customer who had previously been billed for services performed.

BE1.9 (LO 4) Presented below are three transactions. Mark each transaction as affecting owner's
investment (1), owner's drawings (D), revenue (R), expense (E), or not affecting owner's equity (NOE).

Determine effect of transactions on basic owner's equity.

a. Received cash for services performed
b. Paid cash to purchase equipment
c. Paid employee salaries
BE1.10 (LO 5) In alphabetical order below are balance sheet items for Smyth Company

at December 31, 2020. Kathy Smyth is the owner of Smyth Company. Prepare a balance sheet,
following the format of lllustration 1.9.

Prepare a balance sheet.

Accounts payable $90,000
Accounts receivable 62,500
Cash 49,000
Owner's capital 21,500

BE1.11 (LO 5) Indicate whether the following items would appear on the income
statement (IS), balance sheet (BS), or owner's equity statement (OE).

Determine where items appear on financial statements.

a. Notes payable

b. Advertising expense



c. Owner's capital
d. Cash

e. Service revenue

DO IT! Exercises

DO IT! 1.1 (LO 1) Indicate whether each of the five statements presented below is true or false.

Review basic concepts.

1. The three steps in the accounting process are identification, recording, and examination.

2. The accounting process includes the bookkeeping function.

3. Managerial accounting provides reports to help investors and creditors evaluate a company.
4. The two most common types of external users are investors and creditors.

5. Internal users include human resources managers.

DO IT! 1.2 (LO 2) Indicate whether each of the five statements presented below is true or false.

Identify building blocks of accounting.

1. Congress passed the Sarbanes-Oxley Act to ensure that investors invest only in companies that
will be profitable.

2. The standards of conduct by which actions are judged as loyal or disloyal are ethics.

3. The primary accounting standard-setting body in the United States is the Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC).

4. The historical cost principle dictates that companies record assets at their cost and continue to
report them at their cost over the time the assets are held.

5. The monetary unit assumption requires that companies record only transactions that can be
measured in money.

DO IT! 1.3 (LO 3) Classify the following items as investment by owner (l), owner's drawings (D),
revenues (R), or expenses (E). Then indicate whether each item increases or decreases owner's equity.

Evaluate effects of transactions on owner's equity.

1. Drawings.
2. Rent revenue.
3. Advertising expense.
4. Owner puts personal assets into the business.
DO IT! 1.4 (LO 4) Transactions made by A. Marti and Co., a law firm, for the month of March are shown

below. Prepare a tabular analysis which shows the effects of these transactions on the expanded
accounting equation, similar to that shown in lllustration 1.8.

Prepare tabular analysis.

1. The company performed $20,000 of services for customers, on credit.



2. The company received $20,000 in cash from customers who had been billed for services (in
transaction 1).

3. The company received a bill for $3,200 of advertising but will not pay it until a later date.

4. A. Marti withdrew $2,500 cash from the business for personal use.

DO IT! 1.5 (LO 5) Presented below is selected information related to Kirby Company at December 31,
2020. Kirby reports financial information monthly.

Determine specific amounts on the financial statements.

Accounts Payable |$ 3,000 Salaries and Wages Expense $16,500

Cash 6,500 Notes Payable 25,000
Advertising Expense 6,000 Rent Expense 10,500
Service Revenue 53,500 Accounts Receivable 13,500
Equipment 29,000 Owner's Drawings 7,500

a. Determine the total assets of Kirby Company at December 31, 2020.
b. Determine the net income that Kirby Company reported for December 2020.
c. Determine the owner's equity of Kirby Company at December 31, 2020.

Exercises

E1.1 (LO 1) Genesis Company performs the following accounting tasks during the year.

Classify the three activities of accounting.

Analyzing and interpreting information.

Classifying economic events.

Explaining uses, meaning, and limitations of data.

Keeping a systematic chronological diary of events.

Measuring events in dollars and cents.

Preparing accounting reports.

Reporting information in a standard format.

Selecting economic activities relevant to the company.

Summarizing economic events.
Accounting is “an information system that identifies, records, and communicates the economic events
of an organization to interested users.”
Instructions
Categorize the accounting tasks performed by Genesis as relating to either the identification (1),
recording (R), or communication (C) aspects of accounting.
E1.2 (LO 1)

Identify users of accounting information.

a. The following are users of financial statements.



Customers

Internal Revenue Service

Labor unions

Marketing manager

Production supervisor

Securities and Exchange Commission
Store manager

Suppliers

Vice president of finance

Instructions

Identify the users as being either external users or internal users.
b. The following questions could be asked by an internal user or an external user.

Can we afford to give our employees a pay raise?

Did the company earn a satisfactory income?

Do we need to borrow in the near future?

How does the company's profitability compare to other companies?
What does it cost us to manufacture each unit produced?

Which product should we emphasize?

Will the company be able to pay its short-term debts?

Instructions

Identify each of the questions as being more likely asked by an internal user or an external user.

E1.3 (LO 2) Angela Duffy, president of Duffy Company, has instructed Jana Barth, the head of the
accounting department for Duffy Company, to report the company's land in the company's accounting
reports at its fair value of $170,000 instead of its cost of $100,000. Duffy says, “Showing the land at
$170,000 will make our company look like a better investment when we try to attract new investors next
month.”

Discuss ethics and the historical cost principle.

Instructions

Explain the ethical situation involved for Jana Barth, identifying the stakeholders and the alternatives.

E1.4 (LO 2) The following situations involve accounting principles and assumptions.

Use accounting concepts.

1. Sosa Company owns buildings that are worth substantially more than they originally cost. In an
effort to provide more relevant information, Sosa reports the buildings at fair value in its accounting
reports.

2. Mays Company includes in its accounting records only transaction data that can be expressed in
terms of money.

3. Curt Russell, owner of Curt's Photography, records his personal living costs as expenses of the
business.



Instructions

For each of the three situations, say if the accounting method used is correct or incorrect. If correct,
identify which principle or assumption supports the method used. If incorrect, identify which principle or
assumption has been violated.

E1.5 (LO 3) Diehl Cleaners has the following balance sheet items.

Classify accounts as assets, liabilities, and owner's equity.

Accounts payable Accounts receivable

Cash Notes payable
Equipment Salaries and wages payable
Supplies Owner's capital

Instructions

Classify each item as an asset, liability, or owner's equity.
E1.6 (LO 4) Selected transactions for Poway Landscaping Company are listed below.

Analyze the effect of transactions.

. Made cash investment to start business.

. Paid monthly rent.

. Purchased equipment on account.

. Billed customers for services performed.

. Withdrew cash for owner's personal use.

. Received cash from customers billed in (4).
. Incurred advertising expense on account.
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. Purchased additional equipment for cash.
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. Received cash from customers when service was performed.
Instructions

List the numbers of the above transactions and describe the effect of each transaction on assets,
liabilities, and owner's equity. For example, the first answer is: (1) Increase in assets and increase in
owner's equity.

E1.7 (LO 4) Falske Computer Timeshare Company entered into the following transactions during May
2020.

Analyze the effect of transactions on assets, liabilities, and owner's equity.

1. Purchased computers for $20,000 from Digital Equipment on account.

2. Paid $4,000 cash for May rent on storage space.

3. Received $17,000 cash from customers for contracts billed in April.

4. Performed computer services for Viking Construction Company for $4,000 cash.
5. Paid Tri-State Power Co. $11,000 cash for energy usage in May.

6. Falske invested an additional $29,000 in the business.



7. Paid Digital Equipment for the computers purchased in (1) above.
8. Incurred advertising expense for May of $1,200 on account.

Instructions

Indicate with the appropriate letter whether each of the transactions above results in:
a. An increase in assets and a decrease in assets.
b. An increase in assets and an increase in owner's equity.
c. An increase in assets and an increase in liabilities.
d. A decrease in assets and a decrease in owner's equity.
e. Adecrease in assets and a decrease in liabilities.
f. An increase in liabilities and a decrease in owner's equity.
g. An increase in owner's equity and a decrease in liabilities.

E1.8 (LO 4) (2 An analysis of the transactions made by Peat Deloitte & Co., a certified public
accounting firm, for the month of August is shown below. The expenses were $560 for rent, $4,800 for
salaries and wages, and $400 for utilities.

Analyze transactions and compute net income.

Cash + Accounts + Supplies + Equipment = Accounts + Owner's - Owner's + Revenu
Receivable Payable Capital Drawings

1. +$15,000 +$15,000
-2,000 +$5,000 +$3,000

-750 +$750
+4,000 +$4,500 +$8,50
-1,500 -1,500
-2,000 -$2,000

-560

+450 -450

9. -4,800

10. +400

P NN

Instructions

a. Describe each transaction that occurred for the month.
b. Determine how much owner's equity increased for the month.
c. Compute the amount of net income for the month.
E1.9 (LO 5) An analysis of transactions for Peat DeLoitte & Co. was presented in E1.8.

Prepare financial statements.

Instructions

Prepare an income statement and an owner's equity statement for August and a balance sheet at
August 31, 2020. Assume that August is the company's first month of business.

E1.10 (LO 5) Hawke Company had the following assets and liabilities on the dates indicated.



Determine net income (or l0ss).

December 31 Total Assets Total Liabilities

2019 $400,000 $250,000
2020 $460,000 $300,000
2021 $590,000 $400,000

Hawke began business on January 1, 2019, with an investment of $100,000.
Instructions

From an analysis of the change in owner's equity during the year, compute the net income (or loss) for:
a. 2019, assuming Hawke's drawings were $12,000 for the year.
b. 2020, assuming Hawke made an additional investment of $34,000 and had no drawings in 2020.

c. 2021, assuming Hawke made an additional investment of $12,000 and had drawings of $25,000
in 2021.

E1.11 (LO 5) Two items are omitted from each of the following summaries of balance sheet and income
statement data for two proprietorships for the year 2020, Greene's Goods and Solar Enterprises.

Analyze financial statements items.

Greene's Goods Solar Enterprises

Beginning of year:

Total assets $110,000 $129,000
Total liabilities 85,000 (c)
Total owner's equity (a) 80,000
End of year:
Total assets 160,000 180,000
Total liabilities 120,000 50,000
Total owner's equity 40,000 130,000
Changes during year in owner's equity:
Additional investment (b) 25,000
Drawings 37,000 (d)
Total revenues 220,000 100,000
Total expenses 175,000 60,000

Instructions

Determine the missing amounts.
E1.12 (LO 5) The following information relates to Fleete Co. for the year 2020.

Prepare income statement and owner's equity statement.




Owner's capital, January 1, 2020 $42,000
Owner's drawings during 2020 6,000

Service revenue 63,600
Salaries and wages expense 30,200
Advertising expense $ 1,800
Rent expense 10,400
Utilities expense 3,100

Instructions
After analyzing the data, prepare an income statement and an owner's equity statement for the year
ending December 31, 2020.

E1.13 (LO 5) Abby Roland is the bookkeeper for Cheng Company. Abby has been trying
to determine the correct balance sheet for Cheng Company. Cheng's balance sheet is shown below.

Correct an incorrectly prepared balance sheet.

Cheng Company
Balance Sheet
December 31, 2020

Assets Liabilities
Cash $15,000 Accounts payable $21,000
Supplies 8,000 Accounts receivable (6,500)
Equipment 46,000 Owner's capital 67,500

Owner's drawings 13,000 Total liabilities and owner's equity $82,000
Total assets $82,000

Instructions

Prepare a correct balance sheet.

E1.14 (LO 5) Saira Morrow is the sole owner of Buena Vista Park, a public camping
ground near the Crater Lake National Recreation Area. Saira has compiled the following financial
information as of December 31, 2020.

Compute net income and prepare a balance sheet.

Revenues during 2020—camping fees $140,000
Revenues during 2020—general store . 65,000

Accounts payable 11,000
Cash on hand 23,000
Original cost of equipment 115,500
Fair value of equipment $140,000
Notes payable 60,000
Expenses during 2020 160,000

Accounts receivable 17,500



Instructions

a. Determine Saira Morrow's net income from Buena Vista Park for 2020.
b. Prepare a balance sheet for Buena Vista Park as of December 31, 2020.

E1.15 (LO 5) Presented below is financial information related to the 2020 operations of
Sea Legs Cruise Company.

Prepare an income statement.

Maintenance and repairs expense $ 95,000

Utilities expense 13,000
Salaries and wages expense 142,000
Advertising expense 24,500
Ticket revenue 410,000

Instructions

Prepare the 2020 income statement for Sea Legs Cruise Company.

E1.16 (LO 5) Presented below is information related to the sole proprietorship of Helen
Archer, attorney.

Prepare an owner's equity statement.

Legal service revenue—2020 $330,000

Total expenses—2020 211,000
Assets, January 1, 2020 98,000
Liabilities, January 1, 2020 62,000

Assets, December 31, 2020 168,000
Liabilities, December 31, 2020 100,000
Drawings—2020 ?

Instructions

Prepare the 2020 owner's equity statement for Helen Archer's legal practice.

E1.17 (LO 5) This information is for Paulo Company for the year ended December 31,
2020.

Prepare a cash flow statement.

Cash received from revenues from customers $600,000

Cash received from investment by owner 280,000
Cash paid for new equipment 115,000
Cash drawings by owner paid 18,000
Cash paid for expenses 430,000
Cash balance 1/1/20 30,000

Instructions

Prepare the 2020 statement of cash flows for Paulo Company.



E1.18 (LO 5) The statement of cash flows classifies each transaction as an operating activity, an
investing activity, or a financing activity. Operating activities are the types of activities the company
performs to generate profits. Investing activities include the purchase of long-lived assets such as
equipment or the purchase of investment securities. Financing activities are borrowing money,
investment by owner, and cash drawings by owner.

Identify cash flow activities.

Presented below are the following transactions.

. Owner invested $20,000 cash.

. Issued note payable for $12,000 cash.

. Purchased office equipment for $11,000 cash.

. Received $15,000 cash for services performed.
. Paid $1,000 cash for rent.

. Paid $600 cash drawings to owner.

7. Paid $5,700 cash for salaries.

O G A ON =

Instructions

Classify each of these transactions as operating, investing, or financing activities.

Problems: Set A

P1.1A (LO 3, 4) (-m On April 1, Julie Spengel established Spengel's Travel Agency. The following
transactions were completed during the month.

Analyze transactions and compute net income.

1. Invested $15,000 cash to start the agency.

2. Paid $600 cash for April office rent.

3. Purchased equipment for $3,000 cash.

4. Incurred $700 of advertising costs in the Chicago Tribune, on account.
5. Paid $900 cash for office supplies.

6. Performed services worth $10,000: $3,000 cash is received from customers, and the balance of
$7,000 is billed to customers on account.

7. Withdrew $600 cash for personal use.
8. Paid Chicago Tribune $500 of the amount due in transaction (4).
9. Paid employees' salaries $2,500.

10. Received $4,000 in cash from customers who have previously been billed in transaction (6).

Check figures provide a key number to let you know you are on the right track.



Instructions

a. Prepare a tabular analysis of the transactions using the following column headings: Cash,
Accounts Receivable, Supplies, Equipment, Accounts Payable, Owner's Capital, Owner's Drawings,
Revenues, and Expenses.

‘ a. Total assets $20,800 ’

b. From an analysis of the owner's equity columns, compute the net income or net loss for April.

‘ b. Net income $6,200 ’

P1.2A (LO 4, 5) (3= Sonya Jared opened a law office on July 1, 2020. On July 31,

the balance sheet showed Cash $5,000, Accounts Receivable $1,500, Supplies $500, Equipment
$6,000, Accounts Payable $4,200, and Owner's Capital $8,800. During August, the following
transactions occurred.

Analyze transactions and prepare income statement, owner's equity statement, and balance sheet.

1. Collected $1,200 of accounts receivable.
2. Paid $2,800 cash on accounts payable.

3. Recognized revenue of $7,500 of which $4,000 is collected in cash and the balance is due in
September.

4. Purchased additional equipment for $2,000, paying $400 in cash and the balance on account.
5. Paid salaries $2,800, rent for August $900, and advertising expenses $400.

6. Withdrew $700 in cash for personal use.

7. Received $2,000 from Standard Federal Bank—money borrowed on a note payable.

8. Incurred utility expenses for month on account $270.

Instructions

a. Prepare a tabular analysis of the August transactions beginning with July 31 balances. The
column headings should be as follows: Cash + Accounts Receivable + Supplies + Equipment =
Notes Payable + Accounts Payable + Owner's Capital - Owner's Drawings + Revenues -
Expenses.

‘ a. Total assets $16,500 ’

b. Prepare an income statement for August, an owner's equity statement for August, and a balance
sheet at August 31.

b. Net income $3,130
Ending capital $11,230

P1.3A (LO 5) On June 1, Cindy Godfrey started Divine Designs Co., a company that
provides craft opportunities, by investing $12,000 cash in the business. Following are the assets and
liabilities of the company at June 30 and the revenues and expenses for the month of June.

‘ Prepare income statement, owner's equity statement, and balance sheet.




Cash $10,150 Service Revenue  $6,500
Accounts Receivable 2,800 Advertising Expense 500

Supplies 2,000 Rent Expense 1,600
Equipment 10,000 Gasoline Expense 200
Notes Payable 9,000 Utilities Expense 150
Accounts Payable 1,200

Cindy made no additional investment in June but withdrew $1,300 in cash for personal use during the
month.

Instructions

a. Prepare an income statement and owner's equity statement for the month of June and a balance
sheet at June 30, 2020.

a. Net income $4,050
Owner's equity $14,750
Total assets $24,950

b. Prepare an income statement and owner's equity statement for June assuming the following data
are not included above: (1) $900 of services were performed and billed but not collected at June 30,
and (2) $150 of gasoline expense was incurred but not paid.

‘ b. Owner's equity $15,500 ’

P1.4A (LO 4, 5) Maisie Taft started her own consulting firm, Maisie Consulting, on May 1,
2020. The following transactions occurred during the month of May.

‘ Analyze transactions and prepare financial statements. ’

May 1 Maisie invested $7,000 cash in the business.
2 Paid $900 for office rent for the month.
3 Purchased $800 of supplies on account.
5 Paid $125 to advertise in the County News.
9 Received $4,000 cash for services performed.
12 Withdrew $1,000 cash for personal use.
15 Performed $6,400 of services on account.
17 Paid $2,500 for employee salaries.
20 Made a partial payment of $600 for the supplies purchased on account on May 3.
23 Received a cash payment of $4,000 for services performed on account on May 15.
26 Borrowed $5,000 from the bank on a note payable.
29 Purchased equipment for $4,200 on account.
30 Paid $275 for utilities.



Instructions

a. Show the effects of the previous transactions on the accounting equation using the following
format.

Assets Liabilities Owner's Eg¢
Date Cash + Accounts + Supplies + Equipment = Notes + Accounts + Owner's - Owner's
Receivable Payable @ Payable Capital Drawings Reve

a. Total assets $22,000

o

. Prepare an income statement for the month of May.

b. Net income $6,600

c. Prepare a balance sheet at May 31, 2020.

c. Cash $14,600

P1.5A (LO 4, 5) (It Financial statement information about four different companies is
as follows.

Determine financial statement amounts and prepare owner's equity statement.

January 1, 2020

Assets $ 80,000 $ 90,000 (9) $150,000
Liabilities 41,000 (d) 80,000 ()
Owner's equity (a) 40,000 49,000 90,000
December 31, 2020
Assets (b) 112,000 170,000 (k)
Liabilities 60,000 72,000 (h) 100,000
Owner's equity 50,000 (e) 82,000 151,000
Owner's equity changes in year
Additional investment (c) 8,000 10,000 15,000
Drawings 15,000 (f) 12,000 10,000
Total revenues 350,000 410,000 (i) 500,000
Total expenses 333,000 385,000 350,000 U]

Instructions
a. Determine the missing amounts. (Hint: For example, to solve for (a), Assets — Liabilities =
Owner's equity = $ 39,000.)
b. Prepare the owner's equity statement for Alpha Company.

c. Write a memorandum explaining the sequence for preparing financial statements and the
interrelationship of the owner's equity statement to the income statement and balance sheet.



Continuing Case

The Cookie Creations case starts in this chapter and continues through Chapter 18. The
business begins as a sole proprietorship and then evolves into a partnership and finally a
corporation. You also can find this case in WileyPLUS.

Cookie Creations

CC1 Natalie Koebel spent much of her childhood learning the art of cookie-making from her
grandmother. They passed many happy hours mastering every type of cookie imaginable and later
creating new recipes that were both healthy and delicious. Now at the start of her second year in
college, Natalie is investigating various possibilities for starting her own business as part of the
requirements of the entrepreneurship program in which she is enrolled.

il
A long-time friend insists that Natalie has to include cookies in her business plan. After a series of
brainstorming sessions, Natalie settles on the idea of operating a cookie-making school. She will start
on a part-time basis and offer her services in people's homes. Now that she has started thinking about
it, the possibilities seem endless. During the fall, she will concentrate on holiday cookies. She will offer
individual lessons and group sessions (which will probably be more entertainment than education for the
participants). Natalie also decides to include children in her target market.

The first difficult decision is coming up with the perfect name for her business. Natalie settles on “Cookie
Creations” and then moves on to more important issues.

Instructions

a. What form of business organization—proprietorship, partnership, or corporation—do you
recommend that Natalie use for her business? Discuss the benefits and weaknesses of each form
and give the reasons for your choice.

b. Will Natalie need accounting information? If yes, what information will she need and why? How
often will she need this information?

c. ldentify specific asset, liability, and owner's equity accounts that Cookie Creations will likely use
to record its business transactions.

d. Should Natalie open a separate bank account for the business? Why or why not?

Ethics Case

EC1 After numerous campus interviews, Travis Chase, a senior at Great Northern College, received two
office interview invitations from the Baltimore offices of two large firms. Both firms offered to cover his
out-of-pocket expenses (travel, hotel, and meals). He scheduled the interviews for both firms on the
same day, one in the morning and one in the afternoon. At the conclusion of each interview, he
submitted to both firms his total out-of-pocket expenses for the trip to Baltimore: mileage $112 (280
miles at $0.40), hotel $130, meals $36, and parking and tolls $18, for a total of $296. He believes this
approach is appropriate. If he had made two trips, his cost would have been two times $296. He is also
certain that neither firm knew he had visited the other on that same trip. Within 10 days, Travis received
two checks in the mail, each in the amount of $296.



Instructions

a. Who are the stakeholders (affected parties) in this situation?
b. What are the ethical issues in this case?
¢. What would you do in this situation?

Expand Your Critical Thinking

Financial Reporting Problem: Apple Inc.

CT1.1 The financial statements of Apple Inc. for 2015 are presented in Appendix A. The complete
annual report, including the notes to the financial statements, is available at the company's website.

Instructions

Refer to Apple's financial statements and answer the following questions.
a. What were Apple's total assets at September 26, 2015? At September 27, 20147
b. How much cash (and cash equivalents) did Apple have on September 26, 20157

¢. What amount of accounts payable did Apple report on September 26, 20157 On September 27,
20147

d. What were Apple's net sales in 20137 In 20147 In 20157
e. What is the amount of the change in Apple's net income from 2014 to 20157

Comparative Analysis Problem: PepsiCo, Inc. vs. The Coca-Cola Company

CT1.2 PepsiCo, Inc.'s financial statements are presented in Appendix B. Financial statements of The
Coca-Cola Company are presented in Appendix C. The complete annual reports of PepsiCo and Coca-
Cola, including the notes to the financial statements, are available at each company's respective
website.

Instructions
a. Based on the information contained in these financial statements, determine the following for
each company.
1. Total assets at December 26, 2015, for PepsiCo and for Coca-Cola at December 31, 2015.

2. Accounts (notes) receivable, net at December 26, 2015, for PepsiCo and at December 31,
2015, for Coca-Cola.

3. Net revenues for year ended in 2015.
4. Net income for year ended in 2015.
b. What conclusions concerning the two companies can be drawn from these data?

Comparative Analysis Problem: Amazon.com, Inc. vs. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.

CT1.3 Amazon.com, Inc.'s financial statements are presented in Appendix D. Financial statements of
Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. are presented in Appendix E. The complete annual reports of Amazon and Wal-
Mart, including the notes to the financial statements, are available at each company's respective
website.



Instructions
a. Based on the information contained in these financial statements, determine the following for
each company.
1. Total assets at December 31, 2015, for Amazon and for Wal-Mart at January 31, 2016.
2. Receivables (net) at December 31, 2015, for Amazon and for Wal-Mart at January 31, 2016.
3. Net sales (product only) for year ended in 2015 (2016 for Wal-Mart).
4. Net income for the year ended in 2015 (2016 for Wal-Mart).
b. What conclusions concerning these two companies can be drawn from these data?

Real-World Focus

CT1.4 This exercise will familiarize you with the skills needed (other than accounting skills) to be a
successful accountant.

Instructions
Search the Internet for “start here go places” to access free accounting resources for future CPAs and
then answer the following questions.

a. What are the four skill sets that are useful for success in accounting?

b. Why are these skill sets useful for a successful accounting career?
Decision-Making Across the Organization

CT1.5 Anya and Nick Ramon, local golf stars, opened the Chip-Shot Driving Range on March 1, 2020,
by investing $25,000 of their cash savings in the business. A caddy shack was constructed for cash at a
cost of $8,000, and $800 was spent on golf balls and golf clubs. The Ramons leased five acres of land
at a cost of $1,000 per month and paid the first month's rent. During the first month, advertising costs
totaled $750, of which $100 was unpaid at March 31, and $400 was paid to members of the high-school
golf team for retrieving golf balls. All revenues from customers were deposited in the company's bank
account. On March 15, Anya and Nick withdrew a total of $1,000 in cash for personal living expenses. A
$120 utility bill was received on March 31 but was not paid. On March 31, the balance in the company's
bank account was $18,900.

Anya and Nick thought they had a pretty good first month of operations. But, their estimates of
profitability ranged from a loss of $6,100 to net income of $2,480.

Instructions

With the class divided into groups, answer the following.

a. How could the Ramons have concluded that the business operated at a loss of $6,100? Was this
a valid basis on which to determine net income?

b. How could the Ramons have concluded that the business operated at a net income of $2,4807?
(Hint: Prepare a balance sheet at March 31.) Was this a valid basis on which to determine net
income?

c. Without preparing an income statement, determine the actual net income for March.

d. What was the revenue recognized in March?
Communication Activity

CT1.6 Amy Sawyer, the bookkeeper for New Hampshire Company, has been trying to determine the
correct balance sheet for the company. The company's balance sheet is shown below.



New Hampshire Company

Balance Sheet
For the Month Ended December 31, 2020

Assets Liabilities
Equipment $25,500 Owner's capital $26,000
Cash 9,000 Accounts receivable (5,000)
Supplies 3,000 Owner's drawings (2,000)
Accounts payable __(8,000) Notes payable 10,500

$29,500 $29,500

Instructions

Explain to Amy Sawyer in a memo why the original balance sheet is incorrect, and what should be done
to correct it.

All About You

CT1.7 Some people are tempted to make their finances look worse to get financial aid. Companies
sometimes also manage their financial numbers in order to accomplish certain goals. Earnings
management is the planned timing of revenues, expenses, gains, and losses to smooth out bumps in
net income. In managing earnings, companies' actions vary from being within the range of ethical
activity to being both unethical and illegal attempts to mislead investors and creditors.

Instructions

Provide responses for each of the following questions.

a. Discuss whether you think each of the following actions (adapted from the FAFSA website) to
increase the chances of receiving financial aid is ethical.

1. Spend the student's assets and income first, before spending parents' assets and income.

2. Accelerate necessary expenses to reduce available cash. For example, if you need a new
car, buy it before applying for financial aid.

3. State that a truly financially dependent child is independent.

4. Have a parent take an unpaid leave of absence for long enough to get below the “threshold”
level of income.

b. What are some reasons why a company might want to overstate its earnings?
c. What are some reasons why a company might want to understate its earnings?
d. Under what circumstances might an otherwise ethical person decide to illegally overstate or
understate earnings?
Considering People, Planet, and Profit

CT1.8 Although CIif Bar & Company is not a public company, it does share its financial information with
its employees as part of its open-book management approach. Further, although it does not publicly
share its financial information, it does provide a different form of an annual report to external users. In
this report, the company provides information regarding its sustainability efforts.

Instructions

Go to the Who We Are page at the Clif Bar website and identify the five aspirations.



FASB Codification Activity

CT1.9 The FASB has developed the Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards
Codification (or more simply “the Codification”). The FASB's primary goal in developing the Codification
is to provide in one place all the authoritative literature related to a particular topic. To provide easy
access to the Codification, the FASB also developed the Financial Accounting Standards Board
Codification Research System (CRS). CRS is an online, real-time database that provides easy access
to the Codification. The Codification and the related CRS provide a topically organized structure,
subdivided into topic, subtopics, sections, and paragraphs, using a numerical index system.

You may find this system useful in your present and future studies, and so we have provided an
opportunity to use this online system as part of the Expand Your Critical Thinking section.

Instructions

Academic access to the FASB Codification is available through university subscriptions, obtained from
the American Accounting Association, for an annual fee of $150. This subscription covers an unlimited
number of students within a single institution. Once this access has been obtained by your school, you
should log in and familiarize yourself with the resources that are accessible at the FASB Codification
site.

A Look at IFRS

LEARNING OBJECTIVE 7

Describe the impact of international accounting standards on U.S. financial reporting.

Most agree that there is a need for one set of international accounting standards. Here is why:

Multinational corporations. Today's companies view the entire world as their market. For example,
Coca-Cola, Intel, and McDonald's generate more than 50% of their sales outside the United States.
Many foreign companies, such as Toyota, Nestlé, and Sony, find their largest market to be the
United States.

Mergers and acquisitions. The mergers between Fiat/Chrysler and Vodafone/Mannesmann
suggest that we will see even more such business combinations of companies from different
countries in the future.

Information technology. As communication barriers continue to topple through advances in
technology, companies and individuals in different countries and markets are becoming more
comfortable buying and selling goods and services from one another.

Financial markets. Financial markets are of international significance today. Whether it is currency,
equity securities (stocks), bonds, or derivatives, there are active markets throughout the world
trading these types of instruments.

Key Points

Following are the key similarities and differences between GAAP and IFRS as related to accounting
fundamentals.
Similarities
* The basic techniques for recording business transactions are the same for U.S. and international
companies.



« Both international and U.S. accounting standards emphasize transparency in financial reporting.
Both sets of standards are primarily driven by meeting the needs of investors and creditors.

¢ The three most common forms of business organizations, proprietorships, partnerships, and
corporations, are also found in countries that use international accounting standards.

Differences

¢ International standards are referred to as International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS),
developed by the International Accounting Standards Board. Accounting standards in the United
States are referred to as generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and are developed by the
Financial Accounting Standards Board.

* IFRS tends to be simpler in its accounting and disclosure requirements; some people say it is more
“principles-based.” GAAP is more detailed; some people say it is more “rules-based.”

* The internal control standards applicable to Sarbanes-Oxley (SOX) apply only to large public
companies listed on U.S. exchanges. There is continuing debate as to whether non-U.S. companies
should have to comply with this extra layer of regulation.

Looking to the Future

Both the IASB and the FASB are hard at work developing standards that will lead to the elimination of
maijor differences in the way certain transactions are accounted for and reported.

IFRS Practice

IFRS Self-Test Questions

1. Which of the following is not a reason why a single set of high-quality international accounting
standards would be beneficial?

a. Mergers and acquisition activity.

b. Financial markets.

c. Multinational corporations.

d. GAAP is widely considered to be a superior reporting system.
2. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act determines:

a. international tax regulations.

b. internal control standards as enforced by the IASB.

c. internal control standards of U.S. publicly traded companies.
d. U.S. tax regulations.

3. IFRS is considered to be more:

a. principles-based and less rules-based than GAAP.
b. rules-based and less principles-based than GAAP.
c. detailed than GAAP.
d. None of the above.



IFRS Exercises

IFRS1.1 Who are the two key international players in the development of international accounting
standards? Explain their role.

IFRS1.2 What is the benefit of a single set of high-quality accounting standards?
International Financial Reporting Problem: Louis Vuitton

IFRS1.3 The financial statements of Louis Vuitton are presented in Appendix F. The complete annual
report, including the notes to its financial statements, is available at the company's website.

Instructions
Visit Louis Vuitton's corporate website and answer the following questions from the company's 2015
annual report.

a. What accounting firm performed the audit of Louis Vuitton's financial statements?

b. What is the address of the company's corporate headquarters?

c. What is the company's reporting currency?

Answers to IFRS Self-Test Questions

1.d2.c3.a

1 The appendix to this chapter describes job opportunities for accounting majors and explains why
accounting is such a popular major.

2 The origins of accounting are generally attributed to the work of Luca Pacioli, an Italian Renaissance
mathematician. Pacioli was a close friend and tutor to Leonardo da Vinci and a contemporary of
Christopher Columbus. In his 1494 text Summa de Arithmetica, Geometria, Proportione et
Proportionalite, Pacioli described a system to ensure that financial information was recorded efficiently
and accurately.



CHAPTER 2

The Recording Process
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Chapter Preview

In Chapter 1, we analyzed business transactions in terms of the accounting
equation, and we presented the cumulative effects of these transactions in
tabular form. Imagine a company like MF Global (as in the following Feature
Story) using the same tabular format as Softbyte to keep track of its
transactions. In a single day, MF Global engaged in thousands of business
transactions. To record each transaction this way would be impractical,
expensive, and unnecessary. Instead, companies use a set of procedures and
records to keep track of transaction data more easily. This chapter introduces
and illustrates these basic procedures and records.




Feature Story

Accidents Happen

How organized are you financially? Take a short quiz. Answer yes or no to
each question:

» Does your wallet contain so many cash machine receipts that you've been
declared a walking fire hazard?

» Do you wait until your debit card is denied before checking the status of
your funds?

» Was Aaron Rodgers (the quarterback for the Green Bay Packers) playing
high school football the last time you verified the accuracy of your bank
account?

If you think it is hard to keep track of the many transactions that make up your
life, imagine how difficult it is for a big corporation to do so. Not only that, but
now consider how important it is for a large company to have good accounting
records, especially if it has control of your life savings. MF Global Holdings
Ltd was such a company. As a large investment broker, it held billions of
dollars of investments for clients. If you had your life savings invested at MF
Global, you might be slightly displeased if you heard this from one of its
representatives: “You know, | kind of remember an account for someone with
a name like yours—now what did we do with that?”

Unfortunately, that is almost exactly what happened to MF Global's clients
shortly before it filed for bankruptcy. During the days immediately following the
bankruptcy filing, regulators and auditors struggled to piece things together. In
the words of one regulator, “Their books are a disaster ... we're trying to figure
out what numbers are real numbers.” One company that considered buying an
interest in MF Global walked away from the deal because it “couldn't get a
sense of what was on the balance sheet.” That company said the information
that should have been instantly available instead took days to produce.

It now appears that MF Global did not properly segregate customer accounts
from company accounts. And, because of its sloppy recordkeeping, customers
were not protected when the company had financial troubles. Total customer
losses were approximately $1 billion. As you can see, accounting matters!

Source: S. Patterson and A. Lucchetti, “Inside the Hunt for MF Global Cash,” Wall Street Journal
Online (November 11, 2011).



Chapter Outline
LEARNING OBJECTIVES
LO 1 Describe how accounts,

debits, and credits are used to
record business transactions.

LO 2 Indicate how a journal is
used in the recording process.

LO 3 Explain how a ledger and
posting help in the recording
process.

LO 4 Prepare a trial balance.
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Go to the Review and Practice section at the end of the chapter
for a review of key concepts and practice applications with
solutions.

Visit WileyPLUS with ORION for additional tutorials and practice
opportunities.

Accounts, Debits, and Credits

LEARNING OBJECTIVE 1

Describe how accounts, debits, and credits are used to record business
transactions.

The Account

An account is an individual accounting record of increases and decreases in
a specific asset, liability, or owner's equity item. For example, Softbyte (the
company discussed in Chapter 1) would have separate accounts for Cash,
Accounts Receivable, Accounts Payable, Service Revenue, Salaries and
Wages Expense, and so on. (Note that whenever we are referring to a specific
account, we capitalize the name.)

In its simplest form, an account consists of three parts: (1) a title, (2) a left or
debit side, and (3) a right or credit side. Because the format of an account
resembles the letter T, we refer to it as a T-account. lllustration 2.1 shows
the basic form of an account.

INRVE VN [0] W Basic form of account

Title of Account

Left ar debit side | Right ar credit side




We use this form often throughout this book to explain basic accounting
relationships.

Debits and Credits

The term debit indicates the left side of an account, and credit indicates the
right side. They are commonly abbreviated as Dr. for debit and Cr. for credit.
They do not mean increase or decrease, as is commonly thought. We use the
terms debit and credit repeatedly in the recording process to describe where
entries are made in accounts. For example, the act of entering an amount on
the left side of an account is called debiting the account. Making an entry on
the right side is crediting the account.

When comparing the totals of the two sides, an account shows a debit
balance if the total of the debit amounts exceeds the credits. An account
shows a credit balance if the credit amounts exceed the debits. Note the
position of the debit side and credit side in lllustration 2.1.

The procedure of recording debits and credits in an account is shown in
lllustration 2.2 for the transactions affecting the Cash account of Softbyte.
The data are taken from the Cash column of the tabular summary in
lllustration 1.8.

SRR PN p o]\ WA Tabular summary and account form for Softbyte's
d d OU

Tabular Summary Account Form
Cash Cash
(Debits) (Credits) 7,000

=7,000 1,200 1,700

1,200 1,500 250

1,500 600 1,300
-1.700

250 Balam:.e 8,050

£00 {Dehit)
1,300
8.05

Every positive item in the tabular summary represents a receipt of cash. Every
negative amount represents a payment of cash. Notice that in the account
form, we record the increases in cash as debits and the decreases in
cash as credits. For example, the $15,000 receipt of cash (in blue) is debited
to Cash, and the —$7,000 payment of cash (in red) is credited to Cash.

Having increases on one side and decreases on the other reduces recording
errors and helps in determining the totals of each side of the account as well
as the account balance. The balance is determined by netting the two sides
(subtracting one amount from the other). The account balance, a debit of



$8,050, indicates that Softbyte had $8,050 more increases than decreases in
cash. In other words, Softbyte started with a balance of zero and now has
$8,050 in its Cash account.

Debit and Credit Procedure

In Chapter 1, you learned the effect of a transaction on the basic accounting
equation. Remember that each transaction must affect two or more accounts
to keep the basic accounting equation in balance. In other words, for each
transaction, debits must equal credits. The equality of debits and credits
provides the basis for the double-entry system of recording transactions (see
International Note).

N

INTERNATIONAL NOTE

Rules for accounting for specific events sometimes differ across

countries. Despite the differences, the double-entry accounting

system is the basis of accounting systems worldwide.
Under the double-entry system, the dual (two-sided) effect of each transaction
is recorded in appropriate accounts. This system provides a logical method for
recording transactions and also helps ensure the accuracy of the recorded
amounts as well as the detection of errors. If every transaction is recorded
with equal debits and credits, the sum of all the debits to the accounts must
equal the sum of all the credits.

The double-entry system for determining the equality of the accounting
equation is much more efficient than the plus/minus procedure used in
Chapter 1. The following discussion illustrates debit and credit procedures in
the double-entry system.

Dr./Cr. Procedures for Assets and Liabilities

In lllustration 2.2 for Softbyte, increases in Cash—an asset—are entered on
the left side, and decreases in Cash are entered on the right side. We know
that both sides of the basic equation (Assets = Liabilities + Owner's Equity)
must be equal. It therefore follows that increases and decreases in liabilities
have to be recorded opposite from increases and decreases in assets. Thus,
increases in liabilities are entered on the right or credit side, and decreases in
liabilities are entered on the left or debit side. The effects that debits and
credits have on assets and liabilities are summarized in lllustration 2.3.



IRRVE N[l W Debit and credit effects—assets and liabilities

Debits Credits
Increase assets Decrease assets
Decrease liabilities Increase liabilities

Asset accounts normally show debit balances. That is, debits to a specific
asset account should exceed credits to that account. Likewise, liability
accounts normally show credit balances. That is, credits to a liability
account should exceed debits to that account. The normal balance of an
account is on the side where an increase in the account is recorded.
lllustration 2.4 shows the normal balances for assets and liabilities.

IREVEY N e) '8 Normal balances—assets and liabilities

Assels Liabilities
Debit for | Credit for Debit for | Credit for
increase | decrease decrease | increase
Normal 1 1 Normal
balance balance

Knowing the normal balance in an account may help you trace errors. For
example, a credit balance in an asset account such as Land or a debit
balance in a liability account such as Salaries and Wages Payable usually
indicates an error. Occasionally, though, an abnormal balance may be correct.
The Cash account, for example, will have a credit balance when a company
has overdrawn its bank balance by spending more than it has in its account.

Dr./Cr. Procedures for Owner's Equity

As Chapter 1 indicated, owner's investments and revenues increase owner's
equity. Owner's drawings and expenses decrease owner's equity. Companies
keep accounts for each of these types of transactions.

Owner's Capital.

Investments by owners are credited to the Owner's Capital account. Credits
increase this account, and debits decrease it. When an owner invests cash in
the business, the company debits (increases) Cash and credits (increases)
Owner's Capital. When the owner's investment in the business is reduced,
Owner's Capital is debited (decreased).

lllustration 2.5 shows the rules of debit and credit for the Owner's Capital
account.



| MR PN (o] WHN Debit and credit effects—Owner's Capital

Debits Credits
Decrease Owner's Capital Increase Owner's Capital

We can diagram the normal balance in Owner's Capital as shown in
lllustration 2.6.

| MESEY RPN i (o'W AN Normal balance—Owner's Capital

Owner's Capital

Debit for Credit for &
decrease increase
Mormal

halance

Owner's Drawings.

An owner may withdraw cash or other assets for personal use. Withdrawals
could be debited directly to Owner's Capital to indicate a decrease in owner's
equity. However, it is preferable to use a separate account, called Owner's
Drawings. This separate account makes it easier to determine total
withdrawals for each accounting period. Owner's Drawings is increased by
debits and decreased by credits. Normally, the drawings account will have a
debit balance.

lllustration 2.7 shows the rules of debit and credit for the Owner's Drawings
account.

|NRVEFNV:N (o] VA Debit and credit effects—Owner's Drawings

Debits Credits
Increase Owner's Drawings Decrease Owner's Drawings

We can diagram the normal balance as shown in lllustration 2.8.

| MREY RPN (o] WH: N Normal balance—Owner's Drawings

Owner's Drawings

Debit for Credit for
nerese decrense
Normal

balance

The Owner's Drawings account decreases owner's equity. It is not an
income statement account like revenues and expenses.



Investor Insight Chicago Cubs

Keeping Score

;Jl:'r'\al-"‘all ﬁur elGatly Images: Inc
The Chicago Cubs baseball team probably has these major revenue and
expense accounts:

Revenues Expenses
Admissions (ticket sales) Players' salaries
Concessions Administrative salaries
Television and radio Travel
Advertising Ballpark maintenance

Do you think that the Chicago Bears football team would be likely to
have the same major revenue and expense accounts as the Cubs?
(Go to WileyPLUS for this answer and additional questions.)

-

Revenues and Expenses.

The purpose of earning revenues is to benefit the owner(s) of the business.
When a company recognizes revenues, owner's equity increases. Therefore,
the effect of debits and credits on revenue accounts is the same as their
effect on Owner's Capital. That is, revenue accounts are increased by
credits and decreased by debits (see Helpful Hint).




HELPFUL HINT

Because revenues increase owner's equity, a revenue account has

the same debit/credit rules as the Owner's Capital account.

Expenses have the opposite effect.
Expenses have the opposite effect. Expenses decrease owner's equity. Since
expenses decrease net income and revenues increase it, it is logical that the
increase and decrease sides of expense accounts should be the opposite of
revenue accounts. Thus, expense accounts are increased by debits and
decreased by credits. lllustration 2.9 shows the rules of debits and credits for
revenues and expenses.

|NESEY VN (o) AN Debit and credit effects—revenues and expenses

Debits Credits
Decrease revenues Increase revenues

Increase expenses Decrease expenses

Credits to revenue accounts should exceed debits. Debits to expense
accounts should exceed credits. Thus, revenue accounts normally show credit
balances, and expense accounts normally show debit balances. lllustration
2.10 shows the normal balances for revenues and expenses.

MRS N (o'W A DN Normal balances—revenues and expenses

Revenues Expenses

Debit for Credit for Debit for Credii for
decrease increase ingrease decrease
Normal Normal

halance halance

Summary of Debit/Credit Rules

lllustration 2.11 shows a summary of the debit/credit rules and effects on
each type of account. Study this diagram carefully. It will help you understand
the fundamentals of the double-entry system (see Helpful Hint).

HELPFUL HINT

You may want to bookmark lllustration 2.11. You probably will refer
to it often.




|SRVEF NN E (o) PR KN Summary of debit/credit rules

Basic .

Assets = Liabilities + Owner's Equi
Equation o
Expanded ) Liabilitis Owner's Owner's Reventis
Equation = THAOTHES + Capltal — Drawings + = - (e
Debit/ Credit Or'| < Oty | 5 i Bl il i i
Effects




DO IT! 1 | Normal Account Balances

Kate Browne has just rented space in a shopping mall. In this space, she
will open a hair salon to be called “Hair It Is.” A friend has advised Kate to
set up a double-entry set of accounting records in which to record all of
her business transactions.

Identify the balance sheet accounts that Kate will likely need to record the
transactions needed to open her business. Indicate whether the normal
balance of each account is a debit or a credit.

ACTION PLAN

» Determine the types of accounts needed. Kate will need asset
accounts for each different type of asset she invests in the
business and liability accounts for any debts she incurs.

» Understand the types of owner's equity accounts. Only Owner's
Capital will be needed when Kate begins the business. Other
owner's equity accounts will be needed later.

. J

Solution

Kate would likely need the following accounts in which to record the
transactions necessary to ready her hair salon for opening day:

Cash (debit balance)

Equipment (debit balance)

Supplies (debit balance)

Accounts Payable (credit balance)

If she borrows money: Notes Payable (credit balance)

Owner's Capital (credit balance)

E2.4.

-




The Journal

LEARNING OBJECTIVE 2

Indicate how a journal is used in the recording process.

PRI Journalize the i TRIAL ADIUSTING hn:::f” FINANEIAL CLOSING  POST-CLOSING
transactions BALANCE EMTRIES ki Al STATEMENTS ENTRIES  TRIAL BALANCE

The Recording Process

Although it is possible to enter transaction information directly into the
accounts, few businesses do so. Practically every business uses the basic
steps shown in lllustration 2.12 in the recording process (an integral part of
the accounting cycle):

1. Analyze each transaction in terms of its effect on the accounts.

2. Enter the transaction information in a journal.

3. Transfer the journal information to the appropriate accounts in the
ledger.

|SRVEN NN (o] V& VA The recording process

The Recording Process

3. Transfer journal information
to ledger accounts

I. Analyze tr ction #| 1. Enter transaction in journal pe———p

The steps in the recording process occur repeatedly. In Chapter 1, we
illustrated the first step, the analysis of transactions, and will give further
examples in this and later chapters. The other two steps in the recording
process are explained in the next sections.



The Journal

Companies initially record transactions in chronological order (the order in
which they occur). Thus, the journal is referred to as the book of original
entry. For each transaction, the journal shows the debit and credit effects on
specific accounts.

Companies may use various kinds of journals, but every company has the
most basic form of journal, a general journal. Typically, a general journal has
spaces for dates, account titles and explanations, references, and two amount
columns. See the format of the journal in lllustration 2.13. Whenever we use
the term “journal” in this textbook, we mean the general journal unless we
specify otherwise.

The journal makes several significant contributions to the recording process:

1. It discloses in one place the complete effects of a transaction.
2. It provides a chronological record of transactions.

3. It helps to prevent or locate errors because the debit and credit
amounts for each entry can be easily compared.

Journalizing

Entering transaction data in the journal is known as journalizing. Companies
make separate journal entries for each transaction. A complete entry consists
of (1) the date of the transaction, (2) the accounts and amounts to be debited
and credited, and (3) a brief explanation of the transaction.

lllustration 2.13 shows the technique of journalizing, using the first two
transactions of Softbyte. Recall that on September 1, Ray Neal invested
$15,000 cash in the business, and Softbyte purchased computer equipment
for $7,000 cash. The number J1 indicates that these two entries are recorded
on the first page of the journal. lllustration 2.13 shows the standard form of
journal entries for these two transactions. (The boxed numbers correspond to
explanations in the list below the illustration.)



|BRVEF N[0\ PR KR Technique of journalizing
] GENERAL JOURNAL

Date Account Titles and Explanation Ref. Debit Credit
2020 5
Sept. 2 |cash 15,000
1
1 3 Owner's Capital 15,000
4 (Owner's investment of cash in
business)
1 Equipment 7,000
Cash 7,000

(Purchase of equipment for cash)

1 | The date of the transaction is entered in the Date column.

2 | The debit account title (that is, the account to be debited) is entered

first at the extreme left margin of the column headed “Account Titles and
Explanation,” and the amount of the debit is recorded in the Debit column.

3 | The credit account title (that is, the account to be credited) is indented

and entered on the next line in the column headed “Account Titles and

Explanation,” and the amount of the credit is recorded in the Credit
column.

4 | A brief explanation of the transaction appears on the line below the

credit account title. A space is left between journal entries. The blank

space separates individual journal entries and makes the entire journal
easier to read.

9 | The column titled Ref. (which stands for Reference) is left blank when

the journal entry is made. This column is used later when the journal
entries are transferred to the individual accounts.

It is important to use correct and specific account titles in journalizing.
Erroneous account titles lead to incorrect financial statements. However, some



flexibility exists initially in selecting account titles. The main criterion is that
each title must appropriately describe the content of the account. Once a
company chooses the specific title to use, it should record under that account
title all later transactions involving the account. In homework problems, you
should use specific account titles when they are given. When account titles
are not given, you may select account titles that identify the nature and
content of each account. The account titles used in journalizing should not
contain explanations such as Cash Paid or Cash Received.

Simple and Compound Entries

Some entries involve only two accounts, one debit and one credit. (See, for
example, the entries in lllustration 2.13.) This type of entry is called a simple
entry. Some transactions, however, require more than two accounts in
journalizing. An entry that requires three or more accounts is a compound
entry. To illustrate, assume that on July 1, Butler Company purchases a
delivery truck costing $14,000. It pays $8,000 cash now and agrees to pay the
remaining $6,000 on account (to be paid later). lllustration 2.14 shows the
compound entry.

|NRUER RPN (o'W N Compound journal entry

| GENERALJOURNAL i

Date Account Titles and Explanation Ref. Debit Credit
2020
July  Equipment 14,000
1
Cash 8,000
Accounts Payable 6,000
(Purchased truck for cash with balance on
account)

In a compound entry, the standard format requires that all debits be listed
before the credits.



Accounting Across the Organization = Hain Celestial Group

It Starts with the Transaction

Feith Homan/
Shuttersiock

Recording financial transactions in a company's records should be
straightforward. If a company determines that a transaction involves
revenue, it records revenue. If it has an expense, then it records an
expense. However, sometimes this is difficult to do. For example, for more
than a year, Hain Celestial Group (an organic food company) did not
provide income information to investors and regulators. The reason was
that the company discovered revenue irregularities and said it could not
release financial results until it determined when and how to record
revenue for certain transactions. When Hain missed four deadlines for
reporting earnings information, the food company suffered a 34% drop in
its stock price. As one analyst noted, it was hard to fathom why a
seemingly simple revenue recognition issue took one year to resolve.

In other situations, outright fraud may occur. For example, regulators
charged Obsidian Energy for fraudulently moving millions of dollars in
expenses from operating expenses to capital expenditure accounts. By
understating reported operating expenses, Obsidian made it appear that it
was efficiently managing its costs as well as increasing its income.

These examples demonstrate that “getting the basic transaction right” is
the foundation for relevant and reliable financial statements. Starting with
an incorrect or inappropriate transaction leads to distortions in the
financial statements.

Sources: Shawn Tully, “The Mystery of Hain Celestial's Accounting,” Fortune.com (August 20,

2016); and Kelly Cryderman, “U.S. Charges Obsidian, Formerly Penn West, with Accounting
Fraud,” The Globe and Mail (June 28, 2017).




Why is it important for companies to record financial transactions
completely and accurately? (Go to WileyPLUS for this answer and
additional questions.)




DO IT! 2 | Recording Business Activities

Kate Browne engaged in the following activities in establishing her salon,
Hair It Is:

1. Opened a bank account in the name of Hair It Is and deposited
$20,000 of her own money in this account as her initial investment.

2. Purchased equipment on account (to be paid in 30 days) for a total
cost of $4,800.

3. Interviewed three people for the position of hair stylist.

Prepare the journal entries to record the transactions.

ACTION PLAN

» Understand which activities need to be recorded and which do not.
Any that affect assets, liabilities, or owner's equity should be
recorded in a journal.

» Analyze the effects of transactions on asset, liability, and owner's
equity accounts.

N

Solution

The three activities would be recorded as follows.

1. Cash 20,000
Owner's Capital 20,000
(Owner's investment of cash in business)
2. Equipment 4,800
Accounts Payable 4,800

(Purchase of equipment on account)
3. No entry because no transaction has occurred.

E2.5, E2.6, E2.7, E2.8, and E2.9.

(N




The Ledger and Posting

LEARNING OBJECTIVE 3

Explain how a ledger and posting help in the recording process.

ADJUSTED
R e Post to ledger TRIAL ADJUSTING S FIMANCIAL CLOSING POST-CLOSING
" accounts BALANCE ENTRIES BALANER STATEMEHNTS EMTRIES TRIAL BALANCE

The Ledger

The entire group of accounts maintained by a company is the ledger. The
ledger provides the balance in each of the accounts as well as keeps track of
changes in these balances.

Companies may use various kinds of ledgers, but every company has a
general ledger. A general ledger contains all the asset, liability, and owner's
equity accounts, as shown in lllustration 2.15. Whenever we use the term
‘ledger” in this textbook, we are referring to the general ledger unless we
specify otherwise.

|NRVER RPN (o'W EN The general ledger, which contains all of a

Asser Liability Owner's Equity
Accounts Accounts Accounts

Equipenent Salarigy and Wages Expense]
Lared Service Revenue |
Sumplen = |owwrsDown |

B o !
_L! s

Companies arrange the ledger in the sequence in which they present the
accounts in the financial statements, beginning with the balance sheet
accounts. First in order are the asset accounts, followed by liability accounts,
owner's capital, owner's drawings, revenues, and expenses. Each account is
numbered for easier identification.



The ledger provides the balance in each of the accounts. For example, the
Cash account shows the amount of cash available to meet current obligations.
The Accounts Receivable account shows amounts due from customers.
Accounts Payable shows amounts owed to creditors.



( N

Ethics Insight Credit Suisse Group

A Convenient Overstatement

& Mo SivahiSiockphiolo

Sometimes a company's investment securities suffer a permanent decline
in value below their original cost. When this occurs, the company is
supposed to reduce the recorded value of the securities on its balance
sheet (“write them down” in common financial lingo) and record a loss. It
appears, however, that during the financial crisis of 2008, employees at
some financial institutions chose to look the other way as the value of their
investments skidded.

A number of Wall Street traders that worked for the investment bank
Credit Suisse Group were charged with intentionally overstating the
value of securities that had suffered declines of approximately $2.85
billion. One reason that they may have been reluctant to record the losses
is out of fear that the company's shareholders and clients would panic if
they saw the magnitude of the losses. However, personal self-interest
might have been equally to blame—the bonuses of the traders were tied
to the value of the investment securities.

Source: S. Pulliam, J.Eaglesham, and M. Siconolfi, “U.S. Plans Changes on Bond Fraud,” Wall

Street Journal Online (February 1, 2012).
What incentives might employees have had to overstate the value of
these investment securities on the company's financial statements?
(Go to WileyPLUS for this answer and additional questions.)

N J




Standard Form of Account

The simple T-account form used in accounting textbooks is often very useful
for illustration purposes. However, in practice, the account forms used in
ledgers are much more structured. lllustration 2.16 shows a typical form,
using assumed data from a cash account.

[REVEY e WA N Three-column form of account
L CASH NO. 101]

Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance

2020

June 1 25,000 25,000
2 8,000 17,000
3 4,200 21,200
9 7,500 28,700
17 11,700 17,000
20 250 16,750
30 7,300 9,450

This format is called the three-column form of account. It has three money
columns—debit, credit, and balance. The balance in the account is
determined after each transaction. Companies use the explanation space and
reference columns to provide special information about the transaction.

Posting

The procedure of transferring journal entries to the ledger accounts is called
posting. This phase of the recording process accumulates the effects of
journalized transactions into the individual accounts. Posting involves the
following steps.

1. In the ledger, in the appropriate columns of the account(s) debited,
enter the date, journal page, and debit amount shown in the journal.

2. In the reference column of the journal, write the account number to
which the debit amount was posted.

3. In the ledger, in the appropriate columns of the account(s) credited,
enter the date, journal page, and credit amount shown in the journal.



4. In the reference column of the journal, write the account number to
which the credit amount was posted.

lllustration 2.17 shows these four steps using Softbyte's first journal entry.
The boxed numbers indicate the sequence of the steps.

|NRVER RPN (o'W FA Posting a journal entry

GENERAL JOURNAL n

Drate Account Titles and Explanation Rel.| Dehit | Credit
2020
— Sepi. | Cash = 101 15,000
Dwner's Capital =1 101 15,000
(Dwamers investmenit of
cash in business)
{3}
1] iz}
GENERAL LEDGER J
Cash Mo 101
Date Explanation Ref.| Debit | Credit | Balance
3
2020 el
- Sepl.l JU | 15000 15,000
Owner's Capital No.30) =—
Drate Explunation Ref.| Diehit | Credit | Balance
2020
Sept.l n 15,0001 15,000

Key: {1] Post to debit account—date, journal page number; and amount.
2 | Enter debit account number in journal reference column,
Past to credit secount-date, joumal page number, and amount,
Enter credit account number in journal reference column.

Posting should be performed in chronological order. That is, the company
should post all the debits and credits of one journal entry before proceeding to
the next journal entry. Postings should be made on a timely basis to ensure
that the ledger is up-to-date. In homework problems, you can journalize all
transactions before posting any of the journal entries.

The reference column of a ledger account indicates the journal page from
which the transaction was posted. After the last entry has been posted, the
accountant should scan the reference column in the journal, to confirm that
all postings have been made. The explanation space of the ledger account is
used infrequently because an explanation already appears in the journal.

Chart of Accounts

The number and type of accounts differ for each company. The number of
accounts depends on the amount of detail management desires. For example,



the management of one company may want a single account for all types of
utility expense. Another may keep separate expense accounts for each type of
utility, such as gas, electricity, and water. Similarly, a small company like
Softbyte will have fewer accounts than a corporate giant like Dell. Softbyte
may be able to manage and report its activities in 20 to 30 accounts, while
Dell may require thousands of accounts to keep track of its worldwide
activities.

Most companies have a chart of accounts. This chart lists the accounts and
the account numbers that identify their location in the ledger. The numbering
system that identifies the accounts usually starts with the balance sheet
accounts and follows with the income statement accounts.

In this and the next two chapters, we explain the accounting for Pioneer
Advertising (a service company). Accounts 101-199 indicate asset accounts;
200-299 indicate liabilities; 301-350 indicate owner's equity accounts; 400—
499, revenues; 601-799, expenses; 800-899, other revenues; and 900-999,
other expenses. lllustration 2.18 shows Pioneer's chart of accounts.
Accounts listed in red are used in this chapter; accounts shown in black are
explained in later chapters.



|NRSEN NN (o] WA E: N Chart of accounts

Pioneer Advertising
Chart of Accounts

Assets
101 Cash
112 Accounts Receivable
126 Supplies

130 Prepaid Insurance
157 Equipment
158 Accumulated Depreciation—Equipment
Liabilities
200 Notes Payable
201/ Accounts Payable
209 Unearned Service Revenue
212 Salaries and Wages Payable
230 Interest Payable
Owner's Equity
301 Owner's Capital
306 Owner's Drawings
350 Income Summary
Revenues
400 Service Revenue
Expenses
631 Supplies Expense
711 Depreciation Expense
722 Insurance Expense
726 Salaries and Wages Expense
729 Rent Expense
732 Utilities Expense
905 Interest Expense

You will notice that there are gaps in the numbering system of the chart of
accounts for Pioneer. Companies leave gaps to permit the insertion of new



accounts as needed during the life of the business.

The Recording Process lllustrated

lllustrations 2.19 through 2.28 show the basic steps in the recording process,
using the October transactions of Pioneer Advertising (see Helpful Hint).
Pioneer's accounting period is a month. In these illustrations, a basic analysis,
an equation analysis, and a debit-credit analysis precede the journal entry and
posting of each transaction. For simplicity, we use the T-account form to show
the posting instead of the standard account form.

( A

HELPFUL HINT

The Accounting Cycle Tutorial in WileyPLUS provides an interactive
presentation of the accounting cycle using these transaction
analyses.

(N J

|NRUEF RN (o \WREN Investment of cash by owner

T i On Qctober |, C. R Byrd invests $10,000 cash in an advertising
ransaction company called Pioneer Advertising.
Basie The asset Cash increases $10,000; owner's equity
Analysis (specifically, Owner's Capital) increases $10.000.
Asgsets = Liabilities + Owner's Equity
Equaticn Ownier's
ﬁmalysis Cash = Caeif,al
+310.000 +310.000
: z Debits increase assets: debit Cash $10,000.
De:':;;c::d“ Credits increase owner's equity: credit Owner's
4 Capital $10,000.
Journal Oct| | Cash 101 | 10,000
: Ern:r}r Orarner's Capital 30 110,000
- {Owner’s investment af
cash in business)
Cash a1 Owener's Caplal 301
Postng o1 io.ouu| |ou I 10000

Cash flow analyses show the impact of each transaction on cash.

Cash Flows

+ ML) {?&

Hal
B




|RRUER NI e] W IN Purchase of office equipment

Transaction

Basic-
Analysis

Debit-Credic
Analysis

On Qctober |, Ploneer purchases office equipment costing
$5,000 by signing a 3-month, | 2%, $5.000 note payable.

The asset Equipment increases $5,000;
the liability Notes Payable increases $5,000.

Assets = Liabilities + Owner's Equity
MNores
Equiprment £ Payable
+55,000 +55,000

Debits increase assers: debit Equipment $5,000.
Credits increase liabilities: credit Notes Payable $5,000.

Occ | | Equipment 157 | 5,000
MNotes Payable 200 5.000
Issued 3-month, | 2% note
r office equipment)

Equipment 157

Oee | S.WDI Qe | 5.000

Cash Flows
no elfect

|RRUER YN [e] AN Receipt of cash for future service

Transaction

Basic
Analysis

Posting

On October 2, Pioneer receives a $1,200 cash advance fram
R. Kinox, a client, for advertising services that are expected
o be completed by December 31,

The asset Cash increases $1,200; the liability Unearned Service
Revenue increases $1,200 because the service has not been
perfarmed yer. That is, when Pioneer receives an advance
payment, it should record an unearned revenue (a liability) in
order to recognize the obligation that exists.

Assets = Liabilities +  Owner's Equity
Unearned Service
Cash = Revenue
+§1,200 +$1,200

Debits increase assars: debit Cash §1,200. )
Credits increase liabilities: credit Unsarned Service Revenue $1,200.

Oce 2 | Cash
Unearned Service Revenue
{Received cash from
R. Knox for future services)

101 | 1,200
09 1.200

Cash ] Unearned Service Revenue 209

Qect. | 10,000 Qe 2 1,200
2 L200 i




Many liabilities have the word “payable” in their title. But, note that
Unearned Service Revenue is considered a liability even though the
word payable is not used.

Cash Flows
+1,300 ﬁ
0

Tt

.

|RRVEF TN (o) P78 Payment of monthly rent

. On October 3, Pioneer pays office rent for October in
Transaction
cash, $300.

The expense account Rent Expense increases $900 because

Pl the payment pertains only to the current month; the asset

Anaiyats Cash decreases $300.
Assers =  Liabilities + Owner's Equity
Equaupn Rent
.ﬁmk‘}'ﬂs Cash = Expense
-$900 5900
Debit-Credic Debits increase expenses: debic Rent Expense $300.
Analysis Credits decrease assets: credit Cash $900.
l'qﬂ Qe 3 Rent ENEE 729 | 500
m CEE‘P 101 200
- (Paid cash for Octaber office rent)
Cash 101 Rent Expense 719
Posting Oce | 10000 0et.3 900 Oetd 900
] 1,200

Cash Flows F7
~SHX
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|NRUER N [e] KN Payment for insurance

Transaction

Basic
Analysis

Debit—Credit
Analysis

Posting

On Ocetober 4, Pioneer pays $600 for a one-year insurance
policy that will expire next year on September 30.

The asset Prepaid Insurance increases 5600 because the
payment extends to more than the current month; the asset
Cash decreases $600, Payments of expenses that will benefic
more than one aceounting period are prepald expenses or
prepayments. ¥vhen a company makes a payment, it debits

" an asset account in order to show the service or benefit that
will be received in the future,

Assets & Liabilities  + Gwner's Equity
Prepaid
E‘.ih_ +  Insurance
-£600 +2600

Debits increase assets: debit Prepaid Insurance $600.
Credits decrease assets: credit Cash $600.

Oce 4 | Prepaid Insurance 130 | 600
Cash 1o &00
{Paid one-year policy:
effective date October |)
Cash 101 Prepaid Insurance 130

Oce. | 10000|Cet. 3 900  Oer 4 600
2200 1

Cash Flows F

=6}




|SRUER YN\ W2 N Purchase of supplies on credit

On Ocrober 5, Ploneer purchases an estimated 3-maonth supply

fibtockizis ot of advertising materials on account from Aero Supply for $2 500.

Basic The asset Supplies increases $2,500; the liability
Analysis Accounts Fayable increases $2,500.
Assets = Liabilities +  Owner's Equity

- Equation ACCOUNCS
Analysis Supplies 2 Payable
+52.500 +32.500

Debit-Credit Debits increase assets: debit Supplies $2,500.

Analysis Credits increase liabilities: credit Accounts Payable $2.500.

Oer. 5 | Supplies 126 | 2,500
Accounts Payable 201 1,500
{Purchased supplies on
account from Asro Supply)

Supplics 126 Accounts Payable 201
Posting O 5 2500 Oct. 5 2500

Cash Flows
no elfect

|RRVE vy (o) L8 Hiring of employees

On Octaber 9, Pioneer hires four employees to begin wark on
Oictober | 5. Each employee is to receive a weekly salary of $500

Eietit for a S-day work week, payable every 2 weeks—first payment
made on October 26
A business transaction has not eccurred, There is only an
Basiz agreement between the employer and the employees to enter
Analysis into a business transaction beginning on October 15 Thus, a

debit—credit analysis is not needed because there is no accounting
entry (see October 26 transaction for first entry),

Cash Flows
na elfect




|SRUER YN o]\ W N Withdrawal of cash by owner

Transaction

Basic
Analysis

Debit-Credit
Analysis

On Ocrober 20, C. R, Byrd withdraws $500 cash for
personal use.

The owner's equity account Owner’s Drawings increases
‘8500 the asser Cash decreases $500.

Assets =  Liabilities * Owner's Equity

Crwner's
Cash = Dr‘a‘wiggs
-$500 5500

Debits increase drawings: debit Owner's Drawings $500.
Credits decrease assets: credit Cash $500. '

Qer. 20 | Owner's Drawings 306 | 500
Cash 101 500
(Withdrew cash Tor
perscnal use)
Cash 101 Owmer's Drawings. 306
Qce. | 10,000 |Cer. 3 900 Qe 20 500
1 1,200 4 600
0 500

Cash Flows [
=500

Transaction

Basic-
Analysis

Debit-Credic
Analysis

Posting

|NRUER RN p e\ WIS Payment of salaries

On QOcrober 26, Pioneer owes employee salaries of $4.000
and pays them in cash (see October 9 event).

The expense account Salaries and Wages Expense increases
$4,000; the asset Cash decreases $4,000.

Assets = Liabilities + Owner's Equity

Salaries and Wages
Cash = Expense
-$4,000 -54,000

Diebits increase expenses: debit Salaries and
Wages Expense $4,000. -
Credits decrease assets: credit Cash $4,000,

Ocr. 26 | Salaries and Wages Expense 76| 4.000
Cash o1 4,000
{Paid salaries to date)
Salaries and
Cash 101 Wages Expense 726

Oct | 10000] Oced 900 Oce 26 4000
2 L200] 4 en0
0 500
2% 4000




Cash Flows 7
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|NREER TN (o)W1 8 Receipt of cash for services performed

T e On Ccrober 31, Pioneer receives $10,000 in cash from Copa
ranzaceon Company for advertising services performed in October.
Basic The asset Cash increases $10,000; the revenue account
Analysis Service Revenue increases § 10,000,
: Assets =  Liabilities + Owner's Equity
Equation Service
Analysis Cash = Revanue
+§ 10,000 +$10.000
Diebit-Credic Debits increase assers: debit Cash $10,000.
Analysis Credits increase revenues: credit Service Revenue $10,000.
Journal Oce. 31 | Cash 101 | 10.000
Enu‘-"- Service Revenue 400 10,006
s {Received cash for
services performed)
Cash 101 Service Revenue 400
' Oct. | 10.000 | Ocr 3 900 Oce 31 10,000
Posting 2 1200 4 600
kLl 10.000 20 500
16 4,000

Cash Flows

410,000 1?‘
Lo
|

Study these transaction analyses carefully. The purpose of transaction
analysis is first to identify the type of account involved, and then to
determine whether to make a debit or a credit to the account. You should
always perform this type of analysis before preparing a journal entry. Doing so
will help you understand the journal entries discussed in this chapter as well
as more complex journal entries in later chapters (see Helpful Hint).

HELPFUL HINT
Follow these steps:

1. Determine what type of account is involved.
2. Determine what items increased or decreased and by how much.
3. Translate the increases and decreases into debits and credits.




Summary lllustration of Journalizing and Posting

lllustration 2.29 shows the journal for Pioneer Advertising for October.



ILLUSTRATION yA4i: B General journal entries

- GENERAL JOURNAL PAGE
J1

Date Account Titles and Explanation  Ref.
2020
Oct. 1 Cash 101
Owner's Capital 301
(Owner's investment of cash in
business)
1 Equipment 157
Notes Payable 200
(Issued 3-month, 12% note for
office equipment)
2 Cash 101
Unearned Service Revenue 209
(Received cash from R. Knox for
future services)
3 Rent Expense 729
Cash 101
(Paid cash for October office rent)
4 Prepaid Insurance 130

Cash 101

(Paid one-year policy; effective
date October 1)

5 Supplies 126
Accounts Payable 201
(Purchased supplies on account
from Aero Supply)
20 Owner's Drawings 306

Debit Credit

10,000
10,000

5,000
5,000

1,200
1,200

900

900

600

600

2,500
2,500

500



- GENERAL JOURNAL PAGE
J1

Date Account Titles and Explanation  Ref. Debit Credit

Cash 101
500
(Withdrew cash for personal use)
26 Salaries and Wages Expense 726 4,000
Cash 101 4,000
(Paid salaries to date)
31 Cash 101 10,000
Service Revenue 400 10,000
(Received cash for services
performed)

lllustration 2.30 shows the ledger, with all balances in red.



|NRER pPNp o]\ W1 General ledger

Cash No. 101

Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
2020

Oct. 1 J1 10,000 10,000

2 J1 1,200 11,200

3 J1 900 10,300

4 J1 600 9,700

20 J1 500 9,200

26 J1 4,000 5,200

31 J1 10,000 15,200

Supplies No. 126

Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
2020

Oct. 5 J1 2,500 2,500

Prepaid Insurance No. 130

Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
2020

Oct. 4 J1 600 600

Equipment No. 157

Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
2020

Oct. 1 J1 5,000 5,000

Notes Payable No. 200

Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
2020

Oct. 1 J1 5,000 5,000

Accounts Payable No. 201

Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
2020

Oct. 5 J1 2,500 2,500



GENERAL LEDGER

Unearned Service Revenue No. 209

Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
2020

Oct. 2 J1 1,200 1,200

Owner's Capital No. 301

Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
2020

Oct. 1 J1 10,000 10,000

Owner's Drawings No. 306

Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
2020

Oct. 20 J1 500 500

Service Revenue No. 400

Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
2020

Oct. 31 J1 10,000 10,000

Salaries and Wages Expense No. 726

Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
2020

Oct. 26 J1 4,000 4,000

Rent Expense No. 729

Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
2020

Oct. 3 J1 900 900



DO IT! 3 | Posting

Kate Browne recorded the following transactions in a general journal
during the month of March.

Mar. 4 Cash 2,280
Service Revenue 2,280

15 Salaries and Wages Expense 400
Cash 400

19 Utilities Expense 92
Cash 92

Post these entries to the Cash account of the general ledger to determine
its ending balance. The beginning balance of Cash on March 1 was $600.

~

ACTION PLAN

» Recall that posting involves transferring the journalized debits and
credits to specific accounts in the ledger.

» Determine the ending balance by netting the total debits and

credits.
Solution
Cash
3/1 Bal. 600 3/15 400
3/4 2,280 3/19 92

3/31 Bal. 2,388
Related exercise material: BE2.7, BE2.8, DO IT! 2.3, E2.11, and E2.14.

-




The Trial Balance

LEARNING OBJECTIVE 4

Prepare a trial balance.

ADJUSTED
Prepare a ADIUSTING 1 POST-CLOSING
ANALYZE  JOURNALIZE  POST P : TRIAL FANAN G, ELHN M
trial balance ENTRIES BALANCE STATEMENTS ENTRIES TRIAL BALANCE

A trial balance is a list of accounts and their balances at a given time.
Companies usually prepare a trial balance at the end of an accounting period.
They list accounts in the order in which they appear in the ledger. Debit
balances appear in the left column and credit balances in the right column.
The totals of the two columns must equal.

The trial balance proves the mathematical equality of debits and credits
after posting. Under the double-entry system, this equality occurs when the
sum of the debit account balances equals the sum of the credit account
balances. A trial balance may also uncover errors in journalizing and
posting. For example, a trial balance may well have detected the error at MF
Global discussed in the Feature Story. In addition, a trial balance is useful
in the preparation of financial statements, as we will explain in the next two
chapters.

The steps for preparing a trial balance are:
1. List the account titles and their balances in the appropriate debit or
credit column.
2. Total the debit and credit columns.
3. Verify the equality of the two columns.

lllustration 2.31 shows the trial balance prepared from Pioneer Advertising's
ledger. Note that the total debits equal the total credits.



|MRVEY RV (o) Ak A Trial balance

Pioneer Advertising
Trial Balance

October 31, 2020

Debit Credit
Cash $15,200
Supplies 2,500
Prepaid Insurance 600
Equipment 5,000
Notes Payable $ 5,000
Accounts Payable 2,500
Unearned Service Revenue 1,200
Owner's Capital 10,000
Owner's Drawings 500
Service Revenue 10,000
Salaries and Wages Expense 4,000
Rent Expense 900

$28,700 $28,700

Ve

Note that the order of presentation in the trial balance is:

Assets
Liabilities
Owner's equity
Revenues

Expenses

.

A trial balance is a necessary checkpoint for uncovering certain types of
errors. For example, if only the debit portion of a journal entry has been
posted, the trial balance would bring this error to light.

Limitations of a Trial Balance

A trial balance does not guarantee freedom from recording errors, however
(see Ethics Note). Numerous errors may exist even though the totals of the



trial balance columns agree. For example, the trial balance may balance even
when:

N\

ETHICS NOTE

An error is the result of an unintentional mistake; it is neither ethical
nor unethical. An irregularity is an intentional misstatement, which is
viewed as unethical.

\ J

1. A transaction is not journalized.

2. A correct journal entry is not posted.

3. Ajournal entry is posted twice.

4. Incorrect accounts are used in journalizing or posting.

5. Offsetting errors are made in recording the amount of a transaction.

As long as equal debits and credits are posted, even to the wrong account or
in the wrong amount, the total debits will equal the total credits. The trial
balance does not prove that the company has recorded all transactions
or that the ledger is correct.

Locating Errors

Errors in a trial balance generally result from mathematical mistakes, incorrect
postings, or simply transcribing data incorrectly. What do you do if you are
faced with a trial balance that does not balance? First, determine the amount
of the difference between the two columns of the trial balance. After this
amount is known, the following steps are often helpful:

1. If the erroris $1, $10, $100, or $1,000, re-add the trial balance columns
and recompute the account balances.

2. If the error is divisible by 2, scan the trial balance to see whether a
balance equal to half the error has been entered in the wrong column.

3. If the error is divisible by 9, retrace the account balances on the trial

balance to see whether they are incorrectly copied from the ledger. For
example, if a balance was $12 and it was listed as $21, a $9 error has

been made. Reversing the order of numbers is called a transposition

error.

4. If the error is not divisible by 2 or 9, scan the ledger to see whether an
account balance in the amount of the error has been omitted from the trial



balance, and scan the journal to see whether a posting of that amount has
been omitted.

Dollar Signs and Underlining

Note that dollar signs do not appear in journals or ledgers. Dollar signs are
typically used only in the trial balance and the financial statements. Generally,
a dollar sign is shown only for the first item in the column and for the total of
that column. A single line (a totaling rule) is placed under the column of figures
to be added or subtracted. Total amounts are double-underlined to indicate
they are final sums.



-

Investor Insight Fannie Mae

Why Accuracy Matters

While most companies record transactions very carefully, the reality is that
mistakes still happen. For example, bank regulators fined Bank One
Corporation (now Chase) $1.8 million because they felt that the
unreliability of the bank's accounting system caused it to violate regulatory
requirements.

Also, in recent years Fannie Mae, the government-chartered mortgage
association, announced a series of large accounting errors. These
announcements caused alarm among investors, regulators, and politicians
because they fear that the errors may suggest larger, undetected
problems. This is important because the home-mortgage market depends
on Fannie Mae to buy hundreds of billions of dollars of mortgages each
year from banks, thus enabling the banks to issue new mortgages.

Finally, before a major overhaul of its accounting system, the financial
records of Waste Management Inc. were in such disarray that of the
company's 57,000 employees, 10,000 were receiving pay slips that were
in error.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act was created to minimize the occurrence of errors
like these by increasing every employee's responsibility for accurate
financial reporting.

In order for these companies to prepare and issue financial
statements, their accounting equations (debits and credits) must
have been in balance at year-end. How could these errors or




misstatements have occurred? (Go to WileyPLUS for this answer and
additional questions.)




-

DO IT! 4 | Trial Balance

The following accounts come from the ledger of SnowGo Company at
December 31, 2020.

157 Equipment $88,000
306 Owner's Drawings 8,000
201 Accounts Payable 22,000
726 Salaries and Wages Expense 42,000
112 Accounts Receivable 4,000
400 Service Revenue 95,000
301 Owner's Capital $20,000
212 Salaries and Wages Payable 2,000
200 Notes Payable 19,000
732 Utilities Expense 3,000
130 Prepaid Insurance 6,000
101 Cash 7,000

Prepare a trial balance in good form.

ACTION PLAN

» Determine normal balances and list accounts in the order they
appear in the ledger.

» Accounts with debit balances appear in the left column, and those
with credit balances in the right column.

» Total the debit and credit columns to prove equality.




Solution

Snowgo Company

Trial Balance
December 31, 2020

Debit_ Credit
Cash $ 7,000
Accounts Receivable 4,000
Prepaid Insurance 6,000
Equipment 88,000
Notes Payable $ 19,000
Accounts Payable 22,000
Salaries and Wages Payable 2,000
Owner's Capital 20,000
Owner's Drawings 8,000
Service Revenue 95,000
Utilities Expense 3,000

Salaries and Wages Expense 42,000
$158,000 $158,000

E2.13, E2.15, and E2.16.

\

Review and Practice

Learning Objectives Review

1 Describe how accounts, debits, and credits are used to record
business transactions.

An account is a record of increases and decreases in specific asset,
liability, and owner's equity items. The terms debit and credit are
synonymous with left and right. Assets, drawings, and expenses are
increased by debits and decreased by credits. Liabilities, owner's capital,
and revenues are increased by credits and decreased by debits.

2 Indicate how a journal is used in the recording process.



The basic steps in the recording process are (a) analyze each transaction
for its effects on the accounts, (b) enter the transaction information in a
journal, and (c) transfer the journal information to the appropriate accounts
in the ledger.

The initial accounting record of a transaction is entered in a journal before
the data are entered in the accounts. A journal (a) discloses in one place
the complete effects of a transaction, (b) provides a chronological record of
transactions, and (c) prevents or locates errors because the debit and
credit amounts for each entry can be easily compared.

3 Explain how a ledger and posting help in the recording process.

The ledger is the entire group of accounts maintained by a company. The
ledger provides the balance in each of the accounts as well as keeps track
of changes in these balances. Posting is the transfer of journal entries to
the ledger accounts. This phase of the recording process accumulates the
effects of journalized transactions in the individual accounts.

4 Prepare a trial balance.

A trial balance is a list of accounts and their balances at a given time. Its
primary purpose is to prove the equality of debits and credits after posting.
A trial balance also uncovers errors in journalizing and posting and is
useful in preparing financial statements.

Glossary Review

Account A record of increases and decreases in specific asset, liability, or
owner's equity items.

Chart of accounts A list of accounts and the account numbers that identify
their location in the ledger.

Compound entry A journal entry that involves three or more accounts.
Credit The right side of an account.
Debit The left side of an account.

Double-entry system A system that records in appropriate accounts the dual
effect of each transaction.

General journal The most basic form of journal.

General ledger A ledger that contains all asset, liability, and owner's equity
accounts.



Journal An accounting record in which transactions are initially recorded in
chronological order.

Journalizing The entering of transaction data in the journal.
Ledger The entire group of accounts maintained by a company.

Normal balance An account balance on the side where an increase in the
account is recorded.

Posting The procedure of transferring journal entries to the ledger accounts.
Simple entry A journal entry that involves only two accounts.

T-account The basic form of an account, consisting of (1) a title, (2) a left or
debit side, and (3) a right or credit side.

Three-column form of account A form with columns for debit, credit, and
balance amounts in an account.

Trial balance A list of accounts and their balances at a given time.
T-account The basic form of an account, consisting of (1) a title, (2) a left or
debit side, and (3) a right or credit side.

Practice Multiple-Choice Questions

1. (LO 1) Which of the following statements about an account is true?

a. The right side of an account is the debit, or increase, side.

b. An account is an individual accounting record of increases and
decreases in specific asset, liability, and owner's equity items.

c. There are separate accounts for specific assets and liabilities but only
one account for owner's equity items.

d. The left side of an account is the credit or decrease side.
2. (LO 1) Debits:

a. increase both assets and liabilities.

b. decrease both assets and liabilities.

c. increase assets and decrease liabilities.
d. decrease assets and increase liabilities.

3. (LO 1) A revenue account:



a. is increased by debits.
b. is decreased by credits.
c. has a normal balance of a debit.

d. is increased by credits.
4. (LO 1) Accounts that normally have debit balances are:

a. assets, expenses, and revenues.
b. assets, expenses, and owner's capital.
c. assets, liabilities, and owner's drawings.

d. assets, owner's drawings, and expenses.
5. (LO 1) The expanded accounting equation is:
a. Assets + Liabilities = Owner's Capital + Owner's Drawings + Revenues

+ Expenses.

b. Assets = Liabilities + Owner's Capital + Owner's Drawings +
Revenues—Expenses.

c. Assets = Liabilities — Owner's Capital — Owner's Drawings — Revenues
- Expenses.

d. Assets = Liabilities + Owner's Capital — Owner's Drawings + Revenues
- Expenses.
6. (LO 2) Which of the following is not part of the recording process?

a. Analyzing transactions.
b. Preparing an income statement.
c. Entering transactions in a journal.

d. Posting transactions.
7. (LO 2) Which of the following statements about a journal is false?

a. It is not a book of original entry.
b. It provides a chronological record of transactions.

c. It helps to locate errors because the debit and credit amounts for each
entry can be readily compared.

d. It discloses in one place the complete effect of a transaction.



8. (LO 2) The purchase of supplies on account should result in:

a. a debit to Supplies Expense and a credit to Cash.

b. a debit to Supplies Expense and a credit to Accounts Payable.
c. a debit to Supplies and a credit to Accounts Payable.

d. a debit to Supplies and a credit to Accounts Receivable.

9. (LO 3) The order of the accounts in the ledger is:

a. assets, revenues, expenses, liabilities, owner's capital, owner's
drawings.

b. assets, liabilities, owner's capital, owner's drawings, revenues,
expenses.

c. owner's capital, assets, revenues, expenses, liabilities, owner's
drawings.

d. revenues, assets, expenses, liabilities, owner's capital, owner's
drawings.

10. (LO 3) Aledger:

11.

a. contains only asset and liability accounts.

b. should show accounts in alphabetical order.

c. is a collection of the entire group of accounts maintained by a company.
d. is a book of original entry.

(LO 3) Posting:

a. normally occurs before journalizing.
b. transfers ledger transaction data to the journal.
c. is an optional step in the recording process.

d. transfers journal entries to ledger accounts.

12. (LO 3) Before posting a payment of $5,000, the Accounts Payable of
Senator Company had a normal balance of $16,000. The balance after
posting this transaction was:

a. $21,000.
b. $5,000.



c. $11,000.
d. Cannot be determined.

13. (LO 4) A trial balance:

a. is a list of accounts with their balances at a given time.
b. proves the journalized transactions are correct.

c. will not balance if a correct journal entry is posted twice.
d. proves that all transactions have been recorded.

14. (LO 4) A trial balance will not balance if:

a. a correct journal entry is posted twice.

b. the purchase of supplies on account is debited to Supplies and credited
to Cash.

c. a $100 cash drawing by the owner is debited to Owner's Drawings for
$1,000 and credited to Cash for $100.

d. a $450 payment on account is debited to Accounts Payable for $45 and
credited to Cash for $45.

15. (LO 4) The trial balance of Jeong Company had accounts with the
following normal balances: Cash $5,000, Service Revenue $85,000, Salaries
and Wages Payable $4,000, Salaries and Wages Expense $40,000, Rent
Expense $10,000, Owner's Capital $42,000, Owner's Drawings $15,000, and
Equipment $61,000. In preparing a trial balance, the total in the debit column
is:

a. $131,000.
b. $216,000.

c. $91,000.
d. $116,000.

Solutions

1. b. An account is an individual accounting record of increases and
decreases in specific asset, liability, and owner's equity items. The other
choices are incorrect because (a) the right side of the account is the credit
side, not the debit side, and can be the increase or the decrease side,
depending on the specific classification account; (c) there are also separate



accounts for different owner's equity items; and (d) the left side of the account
is the debit side, not the credit side, and can be either the decrease or the
increase side, depending on the specific classification account.

2. c. Debits increase assets but they decrease liabilities. The other choices
are incorrect because debits (a) decrease, not increase, liabilities; (b)
increase, not decrease, assets; and (d) increase, not decrease, assets and
decrease, not increase, liabilities.

3. d. Arevenue account is increased by credits. The other choices are
incorrect because a revenue account (a) is increased by credits, not debits;
(b) is decreased by debits, not credits; and (c) has a normal balance of a
credit, not a debit.

4. d. Assets, owner's drawings, and expenses all have normal debit balances.
The other choices are incorrect because (a) revenues have normal credit
balances, (b) owner's capital has a normal credit balance, and (c) liabilities
have normal credit balances.

5. d. The expanded accounting equation is Assets = Liabilities + Owner's
Capital - Owner's Drawings + Revenue — Expenses. The other choices are
incorrect because (a) both Owner's Drawings and Expenses must be
subtracted, not added, and Liabilities should be added to the right side of
equation, not to the left side; (b) Owner's Drawings must be subtracted, not
added; and (c) Owner's Capital and Revenues must be added, not subtracted.

6. b. Preparing an income statement is not part of the recording process.
Choices (a) analyzing transactions, (c) entering transactions in a journal, and
(d) posting journal entries are all part of the recording process.

7. a. The journal is a book of original entry. The other choices are all true
statements.

8. c. The purchase of supplies on account results in a debit to Supplies and a
credit to Accounts Payable. The other choices are incorrect because the
purchase of supplies on account results in (a) a debit to Supplies, not
Supplies Expense, and a credit to Accounts Payable, not Cash; (b) a debit to
Supplies, not Supplies Expense; and (d) a credit to Accounts Payable, not
Accounts Receivable.

9. b. The correct order of the accounts in the ledger is assets, liabilities,
owner's capital, owner's drawing, revenues, expenses. The other choices are
incorrect because they do not reflect this order. The order of the accounts in
the ledger is (1) balance sheet accounts: assets, liabilities, and owner's equity
accounts (owner's capital and owner's drawings); and then (2) income
statement accounts: revenues and expenses.



10. c. Aledger is a collection of all the accounts maintained by a company.
The other choices are incorrect because a ledger (a) contains all account
types—assets, liabilities, and owner's equity—not just assets and liability
accounts; (b) usually shows accounts in account number order, not
alphabetical order; and (d) is not a book of original entry because entries
made in the ledger come from the journals (the books of original entry).

11. d. Posting transfers journal entries to ledger accounts. The other choices
are incorrect because posting (a) occurs after journalizing, (b) transfers journal
transaction data to the ledger; and (c) is not an optional step in the recording
process.

12. c. The balance is $11,000 ($16,000 normal balance - $5,000 payment),
not (a) $21,000 or (b) $5,000. Choice (d) is incorrect because the balance can
be determined.

13. a. Atrial balance is a list of accounts with their balances at a given time.
The other choices are incorrect because (b) the trial balance does not prove
that journalized transactions are mathematically correct; (c) if a journal entry is
posted twice, the trial balance will still balance; and (d) the trial balance does
not prove that all transactions have been recorded.

14. c. The trial balance will not balance in this case because the debit of
$1,000 to Owner's Drawings is not equal to the credit of $100 to Cash. The
other choices are incorrect because (a) if a correct journal entry is posted
twice, the trial balance will still balance; (b) if the purchase of supplies on
account is debited to Supplies and credited to Cash, Cash and Accounts
Payable will be understated but the trial balance will still balance; and (d)
since the debit and credit amounts are the same, the trial balance will still
balance but both Accounts Payable and Cash will be overstated.

15. a. The total debit column = $5,000 (Cash) + $40,000 (Salaries and Wages
Expense) + $10,000 (Rent Expense) + $15,000 (Owner's Drawings) +
$61,000 (Equipment) = $131,000. The normal balance for Assets, Expenses,
and Owner's Drawings is a debit. The other choices are incorrect because (b)
revenue of $85,000 should not be included in the total of $216,000 and its
normal balance is a credit; (c) the total of $91,000 is missing the Salaries and
Wages Expense of $40,000, which has a normal balance of a debit; and (d)
the total of $116,000 is missing the Owner's Drawings of $15,000, which has a
normal balance of a debit.

Practice Brief Exercises

1. (LO 1) Transactions for the Warren Potter Company for the month of May
are presented below. Identify the accounts to be debited and credited for each



transaction.

[Identify accounts to be debited and credited. ]

May 1 Warren Potter invested $22,000 in the business.
6 Paid office rent of $900.
12 Performed consulting services and billed client $4,400.
18 Purchased equipment on account for $1,200.

Solution
1. Account Debited Account Credited
May 1 Cash Owner's Capital
6 Rent Expense Cash

12 Accounts Receivable Service Revenue
18 Equipment Accounts Payable

2. (LO 2) Using the data from Practice Brief Exercise 1, journalize the
transactions (omit explanations).

[Journalize transactions. ]
Solution
2. May 1 Cash 22,000
Owner's Capital 22,000
6 Rent Expense 900
Cash 900
12 Accounts Receivable 4,400
Service Revenue 4,400
18 Equipment 1,200
Accounts Payable 1,200

3. (LO 3) Selected transactions for Carlos Santana Company are presented in
journal form below. Post the transactions to T-accounts. Make one T-account
for each and determine each account's ending balance.



[Post Journal entries to T-accounts.

J1
Date Account Titles and Explanation Ref. Debit Credit
June 6 Cash 22,000
Owner's 22,000
(Owner's investment of cash in business)
13 Accounts Receivable 8,200
Service Revenue 8,200
(Billed for services performed)
14 Cash 3,700
Accounts Receivable 3,700
(Received cash in payment of account)
Solution
3. Cash
6/6 22,000
6/14 3,700
Bal. 25,700

Service Revenue
6/13 8,200
Bal. 8,200

Accounts Receivable
6/13 8,200 6/14 3,700
Bal. 4,500

Owner's Capital

6/6 22,000
Bal. 4,500 Bal. 22,000

4. (LO 3) Selected journal entries for Carlos Santana Company are presented

in Practice Brief Exercise 3. Post the transactions using the standard form of
account.



[Post Journal entries to standard form of account.

Solution
4. Cash
Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
June 6 J1 22,000 22,000
14 J1 3,700 25,700

Accounts Receivable

Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance

June 13 J1 8,200 8,200
14 J1 3,700 4,500

Service Revenue

Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance

June 13 J1 8,200 8,200

Owner's Capital

Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance

June 6 J1 22,000 22,000

5. (LO 4) From the ledger accounts below, prepare a trial balance for Bundy
Company at December 31, 2020. List the accounts in the order shown in the
textbook. All account balances are normal.

[Prepare a trial balance.

Accounts Receivable $10,000
Supplies 4,100
Accounts Payable 3,500
Owner's Drawing 1,100
Service Revenue 11,000

Salaries and Wages Expense $ 2,300
Rent Expense 1,200
Owner's Capital 10,200
Cash 6,000



Solution

5. Bundy Company
Trial Balance
December 31, 2020

Debit Credit
Cash $ 6,000
Accounts Receivable 10,000
Supplies 4,100
Accounts Payable $ 3,500
Owner's Capital 10,200
Owner's Drawings 1,100
Service Revenue 11,000
Salaries and Wages Expense 2,300
Rent Expense _1,200

$24,700 $24,700

Practice Exercises

1. (LO 2) Presented below is information related to Hammond Real Estate
Agency.

[Analyze and journalize transactions.

Oct. Lia Berge begins business as a real estate agent with a cash
1 investment of $30,000.

2 Paid rent, $700, on office space.
3 Purchases office equipment for $2,800, on account.

6 Sells a house and lot for Hal Smith; bills Hal Smith $4,400 for realty
services performed.

27 Pays $1,100 on the balance related to the transaction of October 3.
30 Receives bill for October utilities, $130 (not paid at this time).

Instructions

Journalize the transactions. (You may omit explanations)



Solution

1. GENERAL JOURNAL
Date Account Titles and Explanation Ref. Debit Credit

Oct. 1 Cash 30,000
Owner's Capital 30,000

2 Rent Expense 700
Cash 700

3 Equipment 2,800
Accounts Payable 2,800

6 Accounts Receivable 4,400
Service Revenue 4,400

27 Accounts Payable 1,100
Cash 1,100

30 Utilities Expense 130
Accounts Payable 130

2. (LO 2, 4) The T-accounts below summarize the ledger of Depot Company
at the end of the first month of operations.

[Journalize transactions from account data and prepare a trial balance. ]
Cash No. 101 Unearned Service Revenue No. 209
4/1 16,000 4/15 700 4/30 1,600
4/12 1,200 4/25 1,600

4/29 900
4/30 1,600

Accounts Receivable No. 112 Owner's Capital No. 301

4/7 2,900 4/29 900 4/1 16,000

Supplies No. 126 Service Revenue No. 400

4/4 1,900 4/7 2,900

4/12 1,200

Accounts Payable No. 201 Salaries and Wages Expense No. 726
4/25 1,600 4/4 1,900 4/15 700



Instructions

a. Prepare the complete general journal (including explanations) from
which the postings to Cash were made.
b. Prepare a trial balance at April 30, 2020.

Solution

2. a.



GENERAL JOURNAL
Date Account Titles and Explanation

Apr. Cash
1

Owner's Capital

(Owner's investment of cash in
business)

4 Supplies
Accounts Payable
(Purchased supplies on account)
7 Accounts Receivable
Service Revenue

(Billed customers for services
performed)

12 Cash
Service Revenue

(Received cash for services
performed)

15 Salaries and Wages Expense
Cash
(Paid salaries to date)
25 Accounts payable
Cash
(Paid creditors on account)
29 Cash
Accounts Receivable

(Received cash in payment of
account)

30 Cash
Unearned Service Revenue
(Received cash for future services)

Ref. Debit Credit

16,000

1,900

2,900

1,200

700

1,600

900

1,600

16,000

1,900

2,900

1,200

700

1,600

900

1,600



Depot Company
Trial Balance

April 30, 2020
Cash $17,400
Accounts Receivable 2,000
Supplies 1,900
Accounts Payable $ 300
Unearned Service Revenue 1,600
Owner's Capital 16,000
Service Revenue 4,100
Salaries and Wages Expense 700

$22,000 $22,000

Practice Problem

(LO 1, 2, 3, 4) Bob Sample opened the Campus Laundromat on September 1,
2020. During the first month of operations, the following transactions occurred.

[Journalize transactions, post, and prepare a trial balance. ]

Sept. 1 Bob invested $20,000 cash in the business.
2 The company paid $1,000 cash for store rent for September.

3 Purchased washers and dryers for $25,000, paying $10,000 in cash
and signing a $15,000, 6-month, 12% note payable.

4 Paid $1,200 for a one-year accident insurance policy.

10 Received a bill from the Daily News for online advertising of the
opening of the laundromat $200.

20 Bob withdrew $700 cash for personal use.

30 The company determined that cash receipts for laundry services for
the month were $6,200.

The chart of accounts for the company is the same as that for Pioneer
Advertising plus No. 610 Advertising Expense.



Instructions
a. Journalize the September transactions. (Use J1 for the journal page
number.)
b. Open ledger accounts and post the September transactions.
c. Prepare a trial balance at September 30, 2020.

Solution

a.



GENERAL JOURNAL
Date Account Titles and Explanation
2020

Sept. Cash
1

Owner's Capital

(Owner's investment of cash in
business)

2 Rent Expense
Cash
(Paid September rent)
3 Equipment
Cash
Notes Payable

(Purchased laundry equipment for cash
and 6-month, 12% note payable)

4 Prepaid Insurance
Cash
(Paid one-year insurance policy)
10 Advertising Expense
Accounts Payable

(Received bill from Daily News for
advertising)

20 Owner's Drawings
Cash
(Withdrew cash for personal use)
30 Cash
Service Revenue
(Received cash for services performed)

Ref.

101

301

729
101

157
101
200

130
101

610
201

306
101

101
400

J1

Debit Credit

20,000

1,000

25,000

1,200

200

700

6,200

20,000

1,000

10,000
15,000

1,200

200

700

6,200



GENERAL LEDGER
Cash No. 101
Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
2020

Sept. 1 J1 20,000 20,000

2 J1 1,000 19,000

3 J1 10,000 9,000

4 J1 1,200 7,800

20 J1 700 7,100

30 J1 6,200 13,300
Prepaid Insurance No. 130

Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
2020

Sept. 4 J1 1,200 1,200

Equipment No. 157
Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
2020

Sept. 3 J1 25,000 25,000

Notes Payable No. 200
Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
2020

Sept. 3 J1 15,000 15,000

Accounts Payable No. 201
Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
2020

Sept. 10 J1 200 200

Owner's Capital No. 301
Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
2020

Sept. 1 J1 20,000 20,000



Owner's Drawings No. 306

Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
2020

Sept. 20 J1 700 700

Service Revenue No. 400

Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
2020

Sept. 30 J1 6,200 6,200

Advertising Expense No. 610

Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
2020

Sept. 10 J1 200 200

Rent Expense No. 729

Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
2020

Sept. 2 J1 1,000 1,000



Campus Laundromat

Trial Balance
September 30, 2020

Debit Credit
Cash $13,300
Prepaid Insurance 1,200
Equipment 25,000
Notes Payable $15,000
Accounts Payable 200
Owner's Capital 20,000
Owner's Drawings 700
Service Revenue 6,200
Advertising Expense 200
Rent Expense 1,000

$41,400 $41,400

WileyPLUS

Brief Exercises, DO IT! Exercises, Exercises, Problems, and many
additional resources are available for practice in WileyPLUS.

Questions

1. Describe the parts of a T-account.

2. “The terms debit and credit mean increase and decrease, respectively.” Do
you agree? Explain.

3. Pete Harcourt, a fellow student, contends that the double-entry system
means each transaction must be recorded twice. Is Pete correct? Explain.

4. Melissa Estes, a beginning accounting student, believes debit balances are
favorable and credit balances are unfavorable. Is Melissa correct? Discuss.

5. State the rules of debit and credit as applied to (a) asset accounts, (b)
liability accounts, and (c) the owner's equity accounts (revenue, expenses,



owner's drawings, and owner's capital).

6. What is the normal balance for each of the following accounts? (a)
Accounts Receivable. (b) Cash. (c) Owner's Drawings. (d) Accounts Payable.
(e) Service Revenue. (f) Salaries and Wages Expense. (g) Owner's Capital.

7. Indicate whether each of the following accounts is an asset, a liability, or an
owner's equity account and whether it has a normal debit or credit balance: (a)
Accounts Receivable, (b) Accounts Payable, (c) Equipment, (d) Owner's
Drawings, and (e) Supplies.

8. For the following transactions, indicate the account debited and the account
credited.

a. Supplies are purchased on account.
b. Cash is received on signing a note payable.
c. Employees are paid salaries in cash.
9. Indicate whether the following accounts generally will have (a) debit entries
only, (b) credit entries only, or (c) both debit and credit entries.
1. Cash.
2. Accounts Receivable.
3. Owner's Drawings.
4. Accounts Payable.
5. Salaries and Wages Expense.
6. Service Revenue.

10. What are the basic steps in the recording process?
11. What are the advantages of using a journal in the recording process?
12.

a. When entering a transaction in the journal, should the debit or credit be
written first?

b. Which should be indented, the debit or credit?
13. Describe a compound entry, and provide an example.
14.



a. Should business transaction debits and credits be recorded directly in
the ledger accounts?

b. What are the advantages of first recording transactions in the journal
and then posting to the ledger?

15. The account number is entered as the last step in posting the amounts
from the journal to the ledger. What is the advantage of this step?

16. Journalize the following business transactions.

a. Wes Lee invests $7,000 cash in the business.

b. Insurance of $800 is paid for the year.

c. Supplies of $2,000 are purchased on account.

d. Cash of $8,500 is received for services performed.
17.

a. What is a ledger?

b. What is a chart of accounts and why is it important?
18. What is a trial balance and what are its purposes?

19. Victor Grimm is confused about how accounting information flows through
the accounting system. He believes the flow of information is as follows.

a. Debits and credits posted to the ledger.
b. Business transaction occurs.
c. Information entered in the journal.
d. Financial statements are prepared.
e. Trial balance is prepared.
Is Victor correct? If not, indicate to Victor the proper flow of the information.

20. Two students are discussing the use of a trial balance. They wonder
whether the following errors, each considered separately, would prevent the
trial balance from balancing.

a. The bookkeeper debited Cash for $600 and credited Salaries and
Wages Expense for $600 for payment of wages.

b. Cash collected on account was debited to Cash for $800 and Service
Revenue was credited for $80.

What would you tell them?



21. What are the normal balances for Apple's Cash, Accounts Payable, and
Interest Expense accounts?

Brief Exercises

BE2.1 (LO 1) For each of the following accounts, indicate the effects of (a) a
debit and (b) a credit on the accounts and (c) the normal balance of the
account.

[Indicate debit and credit effects and normal balance. ]

1. Accounts Payable.
2. Advertising Expense.
3. Service Revenue.
4. Accounts Receivable.
5. Owner's Capital.
6. Owner's Drawings.
BE2.2 (LO 1) Transactions for the Oleg Thorn Company for the month of June

are presented below. Identify the accounts to be debited and credited for each
transaction.

[Identify accounts to be debited and credited. ]

June 1 Oleg Thorn invests $5,000 cash in a small welding business of
which he is the sole proprietor.

2 Purchases equipment on account for $3,600.
3 $800 cash is paid to landlord for June rent.

12 Sends a bill to K. Johnsen for $400 after completing welding work
done on account.

BE2.3 (LO 2) Using the data in BE2.2, journalize the transactions. (You may
omit explanations.)

[ Journalize transactions. ]

BE2.4 (LO 2) (X2 Shea Jonas, a fellow student, is unclear about the basic
steps in the recording process. Identify and briefly explain the steps in the



order in which they occur.

[Identify and explain steps in recording process. ]

BE2.5 (LO 2) M. Gonzales has the following transactions during August of the
current year. Indicate (a) the effect on the accounting equation and (b) the
debit-credit analysis illustrated in the textbook.

[lndicate basic and debit-credit analysis. ]

Aug. 1 Opens an office as a financial advisor, investing $9,000 in cash.
4 Pays insurance in advance for 6 months, $2,100 cash.
16 Receives $3,600 from clients for services performed.
27 Pays secretary $1,000 salary.

BE2.6 (LO 2) Using the data in BE2.5, journalize the transactions. (You may
omit explanations.)

[Journalize transactions. ]

BE2.7 (LO 3) Selected transactions for the Walt Bryce Company are
presented in journal form below. Post the transactions to T-accounts. Make
one T-account for each item and determine each account's ending balance.

[Post Journal entries to T-accounts. ]
J1
Date Account Titles and Explanation Ref. Debit Credit
May 5 Accounts Receivable 5,400
Service Revenue 5,400
(Billed for services performed)
12 Cash 4,200
Accounts Receivable 4,200
(Received cash in payment of account)
15 Cash 3,000
Service Revenue 3,000

(Received cash for services performed)



BE2.8 (LO 3) Selected journal entries for the Walt Bryce Company are
presented in BE2.7. Post the transactions using the standard form of account.

[Post Journal entries to standard form of account. ]

BE2.9 (LO 4) From the ledger balances given below, prepare a trial balance
for the Amaro Company at June 30, 2020. List the accounts in the order
shown in the textbook. All account balances are normal.

[Prepare a trial balance. ]

Accounts Payable $8,100, Cash $5,800, Owner's Capital $15,000, Owner's
Drawings $1,200, Equipment $17,000, Service Revenue $10,000, Accounts
Receivable $3,000, Salaries and Wages Expense $5,100, and Rent Expense
$1,000.

BE2.10 (LO 4) An inexperienced bookkeeper prepared the following trial
balance. Prepare a correct trial balance, assuming all account balances are
normal.

[Prepare a correct trial balance. ]

Shaushank Company
Trial Balance
December 31, 2020

__Debit _ Credit

Cash $10,600

Prepaid Insurance $ 3,500
Accounts Payable 3,000
Unearned Service Revenue 2,200

Owner's Capital 9,000
Owner's Drawings 4 500
Service Revenue 25,400

Salaries and Wages Expense 18,600
Rent Expense

$31,400 $47,800




DO IT! Exercises

DO IT! 2.1 (LO 1) Tom Rast has just rented space in a strip mall. In this
space, he will open a photography studio, to be called “Picture This!” A friend
has advised Tom to set up a double-entry set of accounting records in which
to record all of his business transactions.

[Identify normal balances. ]

Identify the balance sheet accounts that Tom will likely need to record the
transactions needed to open his business. Indicate whether the normal
balance of each account is a debit or credit.

DO IT! 2.2 (LO 2) Ron Tost engaged in the following activities in establishing
his photography studio, Shutter Bug:

[Record business activities. ]

1. Opened a bank account in the name of Shutter Bug and deposited
$6,500 of his own money into this account as his initial investment.

2. Purchased photography supplies at a total cost of $1,200. The business
paid $400 in cash and the balance is on account.

3. Obtained estimates on the cost of photography equipment from three
different manufacturers.

Prepare the journal entries to record the transactions. (You may omit
explanations.)

DO IT! 2.3 (LO 3) Tom Rast recorded the following transactions during the
month of April.

[ Post transactions. ]
April 3 Cash 3,400
Service Revenue 3,400
April 16 Rent Expense 700
Cash 700

April 20 Salaries and Wages Expense 250
Cash 250



Post these entries to the Cash T-account of the general ledger to determine
the ending balance in cash. The beginning balance in cash on April 1 was
$1,600.

DO IT! 2.4 (LO 4) The following accounts are taken from the ledger of Macon
Company at December 31, 2020.

[Prepare a trial balance. ]

200 Notes Payable $20,000 101 Cash $
6,000

301 Owner's Capital 28,000 126 Supplies 7,000

157 Equipment 80,000 729 Rent Expense 4,000

306 Owner's Drawings 9,000 212 Salaries and Wages 3,000

Payable
726 Salaries and Wages 38,000 201 Accounts Payable 11,000
Expense
400 Service Revenue 90,000 112 Accounts Receivable 8,000

Prepare a trial balance in good form.

Exercises

E2.1 (LO 1) Kim Yi has prepared the following list of statements about
accounts.

[Analyze statements about accounting and the recording process. ]

1. An account is an accounting record of either a specific asset or a
specific liability.

2. An account shows only increases, not decreases, in the item it relates
to.

3. Some items, such as Cash and Accounts Receivable, are combined into
one account.

4. An account has a left, or credit side, and a right, or debit side.

5. A simple form of an account consisting of just the account title, the left
side, and the right side, is called a T-account.



Instructions

Identify each statement as true or false. If false, indicate how to correct the
statement.

E2.2 (LO 1) Selected transactions for M. Acosta, an interior decorator, in her
first month of business, are as follows.

[ldentify debits, credits, and normal balances. ]

Jan. 2 Invested $10,000 cash in business.

3 Purchased used car for $3,000 cash for use in business.
9 Purchased supplies on account for $600.

11 Billed customers $2,400 for services performed.

16 Paid $350 cash for advertising.

20 Received $900 cash from customers billed on January 11.

23 Paid creditor $300 cash on balance owed.

28 Withdrew $1,000 cash for personal use by owner.

Instructions

For each transaction, indicate the following.
a. The basic type of account debited and credited (asset, liability, owner's
equity).
b. The specific account debited and credited (Cash, Rent Expense,
Service Revenue, etc.).

c. Whether the specific account is increased or decreased.
d. The normal balance of the specific account.
Use the following format, in which the January 2 transaction is given as an
example.
Account Debited Account Credited
(a) (b) (c) (d) (a) (b) (c) (d)

Date Basic Specific Effect Normal Basic Specific Effect Normal
Type Account Balance Type Account Balance

Jan. Asset Cash Increase Debit Owner's Owner's Increase Credit
2 Equity Capital



E2.3 (LO 2) Data for M. Acosta, interior decorator, are presented in E2.2.

[Journalize transactions. ]

Instructions

Journalize the transactions using journal page J1. (You may omit
explanations.)

E2.4 (LO 1) The following information relates to Royale Real Estate Agency.

[Analyze transactions and determine their effect on accounts. ]

Oct. 1 James Royale begins business as a real estate agent with a cash
investment of $17,000.

2 Hires an administrative assistant.
3 Purchases office furniture for $1,900, on account.

6 Sells a house and lot for C. Rouse; bills C. Rouse $3,800 for realty
services performed.

27 Pays $1,300 on the balance related to the transaction of October 3.
30 Pays the administrative assistant $2,500 in salary for October.

Instructions
Prepare the debit-credit analysis for each transaction as illustrated in the
textbook.

E2.5 (LO 2) Transaction data for Royale Real Estate Agency are presented in
E2.4.

[ Journalize transactions. ]

Instructions

Journalize the transactions. (You may omit explanations.)
E2.6 (LO 1, 2) Lennon Industries had the following transactions.

[Analyze fransactions and journalize. ]

1. Borrowed $5,000 from the bank by signing a note.
2. Paid $3,900 cash for a computer.



3. Purchased $650 of supplies on account.

Instructions
a. Indicate what accounts are increased and decreased by each
transaction.
b. Journalize each transaction. (Omit explanations.)

E2.7 (LO 1, 2) Halladay Enterprises had the following selected transactions.

[Analyze transactions and journalize. ]

1. Bo Halladay invested $4,000 cash in the business.

2. Paid office rent of $840.

3. Performed consulting services and billed a client $5,200.
4. Bo Halladay withdrew $750 cash for personal use.

Instructions
a. Indicate the effect each transaction has on the accounting equation
(Assets = Liabilities + Owner's Equity), using plus and minus signs.
b. Journalize each transaction. (Omit explanations.)

E2.8 (LO 2) Selected transactions for Sophie's Dog Care are as follows during
the month of March.

[Journalize a series of transactions. J




March 1 Paid monthly rent of $1,200.
3 Performed services for $160 on account.
5 Performed services for cash of $75.

8 Purchased equipment for $600. The company paid cash of $90
and the balance was on account.

12 Received cash from customers billed on March 3.

14 Paid salaries and wages to employees of $525.

22 Paid utilities of $72.

24 Borrowed $1,500 from Grafton State Bank by signing a note.

27 Paid $220 to repair service for plumbing repairs.

28 Paid balance amount owed from equipment purchase on March 8.
30 Paid $1,800 for six months of insurance.

Instructions

Journalize the transactions. (Omit explanations.)

E2.9 (LO 2) On April 1, Adventures Travel Agency began operations. The
following transactions were completed during the month.

[Record Journal entries.

Owner invested $24,000 in the business.

Obtained a bank loan for $7,000 by issuing a note payable.
Paid $11,000 cash to buy equipment.

Paid $1,200 cash for April office rent.

Paid $1,450 for supplies.

Purchased $600 of advertising in the Daily Herald, on account.

o a ks~ wbd-=

7. Performed services for $18,000: cash of $2,000 was received from
customers, and the balance of $16,000 was billed to customers on
account.

8. Cash withdrawal of $400 by owner for personal use.

9. Paid the utility bill for the month, $2,000.

10. Paid Daily Herald the amount due in transaction (6).

11. Paid $40 of interest on the bank loan obtained in transaction (2).



12. Paid employees' salaries and wages, $6,400.
13. Received $12,000 cash from customers billed in transaction (7).

Instructions

Journalize the transactions. (Omit explanations).

E2.10 (LO 3) Alma Ortiz has prepared the following list of statements about
the general ledger.

[Analyze statements about the ledger. ]

1. The general ledger contains all the asset and liability accounts but no
owner's equity accounts.

2. The general ledger is sometimes referred to as simply the ledger.
3. The accounts in the general ledger are arranged in alphabetical order.
4. Each account in the general ledger is numbered for easier identification.

5. The general ledger is a book of original entry.
Instructions

Identify each statement as true or false. If false, indicate how to correct the
statement.

E2.11 (LO 3, 4) Selected transactions from the journal of June Feldman,
investment broker, are presented below.

[Post Journal entries and prepare a trial balance. ]




Date Account Titles and Explanation

Aug. Cash
1

Owner's Capital
(Owner's investment of cash in business)
10 Cash
Service Revenue
(Received cash for services performed)
12 Equipment
Cash
Notes Payable

(Purchased equipment for cash and notes
payable)

25 Accounts Receivable
Service Revenue
(Billed clients for services performed)
31 Cash
Accounts Receivable
(Receipt of cash on account)

Instructions

a. Post the transactions to T-accounts.
b. Prepare a trial balance at August 31, 2020.

E2.12 (LO 2, 4) The T-accounts below summarize the ledger of Negrete

Ref. Debit Credit

5,000

2,600

5,000

1,700

900

Landscaping Company at the end of the first month of operations.

5,000

2,600

2,300
2,700

1,700

900

[Journa/ize transactions from account data and prepare a trial balance. ]




Cash No. Unearned Service No.
101 Revenue 209
4/1 14,000 4/15 1,300 4/30 1,000
4/12 900 4/25 1,500
4/29 400
4/30 1,000
Accounts No. Owner's Capital No.
Receivable 112 301
4/7 3,000 4/29 400 4/1 14,000
Supplies No. Service Revenue No.
126 400
4/4 1,800 4/7 3,000
4/12 900
Accounts Payable No. Salaries and Wages No.
201 Expense 726
4/25 1,500 4/4 1,800 1,300
4/15
Instructions
a. Prepare the complete general journal (including explanations) from
which the postings to Cash were made.
b. Prepare a trial balance at April 30, 2020.
E2.13 (LO 2, 4) Presented below is the ledger for Shumway Co.
[Journa/ize transactions from account data and prepare a trial balance. ]
Cash No. 101
10/1 3,000 10/4 400
10/10 750 10/12 1,500
10/10 4,000 10/15 350
10/20 500 10/30 300
10/25 2,000 10/31 500



Accounts Receivable No. 112
10/6 800 10/20 500
10/20 940

Supplies No. 126
10/4 400

Equipment No. 157
10/3 2,000

Notes Payable No. 200
10/10 4,000

Accounts Payable No. 201
10/12 1,500 10/3 2,000

Owner's Capital No. 301

10/1 3,000
10/25 2,000
Owner's Drawings No. 306
10/30 300
Service Revenue No. 400
10/6 800
10/10 750
10/20 940

Salaries and Wages Expense No. 726
10/31 500

Rent Expense No. 729
10/15 350



Instructions
a. Reproduce the journal entries for the transactions that occurred on
October 1, 10, and 20, and provide explanations for each.

b. Determine the October 31 balance for each of the accounts above, and
prepare a trial balance at October 31, 2020.

E2.14 (LO 2, 3) Selected transactions for Bonnie Donne Company during its
first month in business are presented below.

[Prepare Journal entries and post using standard account form. ]

Sept. 1 Invested $10,000 cash in the business.

5 Purchased equipment for $14,000 paying $4,000 in cash and the
balance on account.

25 Paid $3,000 cash on balance owed for equipment.
30 Withdrew $900 cash for personal use.

Donne's chart of accounts shows No. 101 Cash, No. 157 Equipment, No. 201
Accounts Payable, No. 301 Owner's Capital, and No. 306 Owner's Drawings.

Instructions
a. Journalize the transactions on page J1 of the journal. (Omit
explanations.)
b. Post the transactions using the standard account form.

E2.15 (LO 4) The bookkeeper for J.L. Kang Equipment Repair made a
number of errors in journalizing and posting, as described below.

[Analyze errors and their effects on trial balance.

1. A credit posting of $525 to Accounts Receivable was omitted.

2. A debit posting of $750 for Prepaid Insurance was debited to Insurance
Expense.

3. A collection from a customer of $100 in payment of its account owed
was journalized and posted as a debit to Cash $100 and a credit to
Service Revenue $100.

4. A credit posting of $415 to Property Taxes Payable was made twice.



5. A cash purchase of supplies for $250 was journalized and posted as a
debit to Supplies $25 and a credit to Cash $25.

6. A debit of $625 to Advertising Expense was posted as $652.
Instructions

For each error:
a. Indicate whether the trial balance will balance.

b. If the trial balance will not balance, indicate the amount of the
difference.

c. Indicate the trial balance column that will have the larger total.

Consider each error separately. Use the following form, in which error (1) is
given as an example.

(a) (b) (c)

(1) No $525 debit

E2.16 (LO 4) The accounts in the ledger of Prompt Delivery Service contain
the following balances on July 31, 2020.

[Prepare a trial balance. ]
Accounts Receivable $ 7,640 Prepaid Insurance $ 1,968
Accounts Payable 8,394 Maintenance and Repairs Expense 961
Cash ? Service Revenue 10,610
Equipment 45,360 Owner's Drawings 700
Gasoline Expense 758 Owner's Capital 38,000
Utilities Expense 523 Salaries and Wages Expense 4,428
Notes Payable 17,000 Salaries and Wages Payable 815

Instructions
Prepare a trial balance with the accounts arranged as illustrated in the chapter
and fill in the missing amount for Cash.

E2.17 (LO 2, 3, 4) Beyers Security Company provides security services.
Selected transactions for Beyers are presented below.



Journalize transactions, post transactions to T-accounts, and prepare trial
balance.

Oct. 1 Invested $66,000 cash in the business.

2 Hired part-time security consultant. Salary will be $2,000 per month.
First day of work will be October 15.

4 Paid one month of rent for building for $2,000.

7 Purchased equipment for $18,000, paying $4,000 cash and the
balance on account.

8 Paid $500 for advertising.
10 Received bill for equipment repair cost of $390.
12 Provided security services for event for $3,200 on account.
16 Purchased supplies for $410 on account.
21 Paid balance due from October 7 purchase of equipment.
24 Received and paid utility bill for $148.

27 Received payment from customer for October 12 services
performed.

31 Paid employee salaries and wages of $5,100.
Instructions

a. Journalize the transactions. Do not provide explanations.
b. Post the transactions to T-accounts.

c. Prepare a trial balance at October 31, 2020. (Hint: Compute ending
balances of T-accounts first.)

Problems: Set A

P21A(LO 1, 2) (-EEB Holz Disc Golf Course was opened on March 1 by lan
Holz. The following selected events and transactions occurred during March.

[Journalize a series of transactions. ]




Mar. 1 Invested $20,000 cash in the business.

3 Purchased Rainbow Golf Land for $15,000 cash. The price consists
of land $12,000, shed $2,000, and equipment $1,000. (Make one
compound entry.)

5 Paid advertising expenses of $900.
6 Paid cash $600 for a one-year insurance policy.

10 Purchased golf discs and other equipment for $1,050 from
Stevenson Company payable in 30 days.

18 Received $1,100 in cash for golf fees (Holz records golf fees as
service revenue).

19 Sold 150 coupon books for $10 each. Each book contains 4 coupons
that enable the holder to play one round of disc golf.

25 Withdrew $800 cash for personal use.

30 Paid salaries of $250.

30 Paid Stevenson Company in full.

31 Received $2,700 cash for golf fees.
Holz Disc Golf uses the following accounts: Cash, Prepaid Insurance, Land,
Buildings, Equipment, Accounts Payable, Unearned Service Revenue,

Owner's Capital, Owner's Drawings, Service Revenue, Advertising Expense,
and Salaries and Wages Expense.

Instructions

Journalize the March transactions.

P2.2A (LO 1, 2, 3, 4) (-Em Vera Ernst is a licensed dentist. During the first

month of the operation of her business, the following events and transactions
occurred.

[Journalize transactions, post, and prepare a trial balance. ]




April 1 Invested $20,000 cash in her business.

1 Hired a secretary-receptionist at a salary of $700 per week payable
monthly.

2 Paid office rent for the month $1,500.

3 Purchased dental supplies on account from Dazzle Company
$4,000.

10 Performed dental services and billed insurance companies $5,100.
11 Received $1,000 cash advance from Leah Mataruka for an implant.
20 Received $2,100 cash for services performed from Michael Santos.
30 Paid secretary-receptionist for the month $2,800.
30 Paid $2,600 to Dazzle for accounts payable due.
Vera uses the following chart of accounts: No. 101 Cash, No. 112 Accounts
Receivable, No. 126 Supplies, No. 201 Accounts Payable, No. 209 Unearned

Service Revenue, No. 301 Owner's Capital, No. 400 Service Revenue, No.
726 Salaries and Wages Expense, and No. 729 Rent Expense.

Instructions

a. Journalize the transactions.
b. Post to the ledger accounts.
c. Prepare a trial balance on April 30, 2020.

[Trial balance totals $29,600 J

P2.3A (LO 1, 2, 3, 4) Maquoketa Services was formed on May 1, 2020. The
following transactions took place during the first month.

[Journalize transactions, post, and prepare a trial balance. ]

Transactions on May 1:

1. Jay Bradford invested $40,000 cash in the company, as its sole owner.

2. Hired two employees to work in the warehouse. They will each be paid a
salary of $3,050 per month.

3. Signed a 2-year rental agreement on a warehouse; paid $24,000 cash
in advance for the first year.

4. Purchased furniture and equipment costing $30,000. A cash payment of
$10,000 was made immediately; the remainder will be paid in 6 months.



5. Paid $1,800 cash for a one-year insurance policy on the furniture and
equipment.

Transactions during the remainder of the month:

6. Purchased basic office supplies for $420 cash.
7. Purchased more office supplies for $1,500 on account.

8. Total revenues earned were $20,000—$8,000 cash and $12,000 on
account.

9. Paid $400 to suppliers for accounts payable due.

10. Received $3,000 from customers in payment of accounts receivable.
11. Received utility bills in the amount of $380, to be paid next month.
12. Paid the monthly salaries of the two employees, totaling $6,100.

Instructions

a. Prepare journal entries to record each of the events listed. (Omit
explanations.)
b. Post the journal entries to T-accounts.

c. Prepare a trial balance as of May 31, 2020.

[Trial balance totals $81,480 J

P2.4A (LO 4) (-}m The following trial balance of Sergei Asbrecht Co. does
not balance.

[Prepare a correct trial balance. ]




Sergei Asbrecht Co.
Trial Balance
June 30, 2020

Debit Credit
Cash $ 3,140
Accounts Receivable $ 2,812
Supplies 1,200
Equipment 2,600
Accounts Payable 3,666
Unearned Service Revenue 1,100
Owner's Capital 8,000
Owner's Drawings 800
Service Revenue 2,480
Salaries and Wages Expense 3,200
Utilities Expense 810

$12,522 $17,286

Each of the listed accounts has a normal balance per the general ledger. An
examination of the ledger and journal reveals the following errors.

1. Cash received from a customer in payment of its account was debited
for $850, and Accounts Receivable was credited for the same amount. The
actual collection was for $580.

2. The purchase of a computer on account for $710 was recorded as a
debit to Supplies for $710 and a credit to Accounts Payable for $710.

3. Services were performed on account for a client for $980. Accounts
Receivable was debited for $980, and Service Revenue was credited for
$98.

4. A debit posting to Salaries and Wages Expense of $900 was omitted.

5. A payment of a balance due for $306 was credited to Cash for $306 and
credited to Accounts Payable for $360.

6. The withdrawal of $600 cash for Sergei's personal use was debited to
Salaries and Wages Expense for $600 and credited to Cash for $600.



Instructions

Prepare a correct trial balance. (Hint: It helps to prepare the correct journal
entry for the transaction described and compare it to the mistake made.)

[Trial balance totals $15,462 ]

P25A (LO1, 2, 3,4) C-m The Starr Theater, owned by Meg Vargo, will

begin operations in March. The Starr will be unique in that it will show only
triple features of sequential theme movies. As of March 1, the ledger of Starr
showed No. 101 Cash $3,000, No. 140 Land $24,000, No. 145 Buildings
(concession stand, projection room, ticket booth, and screen) $10,000, No.
157 Equipment $10,000, No. 201 Accounts Payable $7,000, and No. 301
Owner's Capital $40,000. During the month of March, the following events and
transactions occurred.

[Journalize transactions, post, and prepare a trial balance. ]




Mar. 2 Rented the three Indiana Jones movies to be shown for the first 3
weeks of March. The film rental was $3,500; $1,500 was paid in
cash and $2,000 will be paid on March 10.
3 Ordered the Lord of the Rings movies to be shown the last 10 days
of March. It will cost $200 per night.

9 Received $4,300 cash from admissions.
10 Paid balance due on Indiana Jones movies rental and $2,100 on
March 1 accounts payable.

11 Starr Theater contracted with Adam Ladd to operate the concession
stand. Ladd is to pay 15% of gross concession receipts, payable
monthly, for the rental of the concession stand.

12 Paid advertising expenses $900.
20 Received $5,000 cash from customers for admissions.

20 Received the Lord of the Rings movies and paid the rental fee of
$2,000.

31 Paid salaries of $3,100.

31 Received statement from Adam Ladd showing gross receipts from
concessions of $6,000 and the balance due to Starr Theater of $900
($6,000 x 15%) for March. Ladd paid one-half the balance due and
will remit the remainder on April 5.

31 Received $9,000 cash from customers for admissions.

In addition to the accounts identified above, the chart of accounts includes No.
112 Accounts Receivable, No. 400 Service Revenue, No. 429 Rent Revenue,

No. 610 Advertising Expense, No. 726 Salaries and Wages Expense, and No.
729 Rent Expense.



Instructions
a. Enter the beginning balances in the ledger. Insert a check mark (v') in
the reference column of the ledger for the beginning balance.

b. Journalize the March transactions. Starr records admission revenue as
service revenue, rental of the concession stand as rent revenue, and film
rental expense as rent expense.

c. Post the March journal entries to the ledger. Assume that all entries are
posted from page 1 of the journal.

d. Prepare a trial balance on March 31, 2020.

[Trial balance totals $64,100 1

Continuing Case

Cookie Creations

(Note: This is a continuation of the Cookie Creations case from Chapter 1.)

CC2 After researching the different forms of business organization. Natalie
Koebel decides to operate “Cookie Creations” as a proprietorship. She then
starts the process of getting the business running. In November 2019, the
following activities take place.



Nov. 8 Natalie cashes her U.S. Savings Bonds and receives $520, which
she deposits in her personal bank account.

8 She opens a bank account under the name “Cookie Creations” and
transfers $500 from her personal account to the new account.

11 Natalie pays $65 for advertising.

13 She buys baking supplies, such as flour, sugar, butter, and chocolate
chips, for $125 cash. (Hint: Use Supplies account.)

14 Natalie starts to gather some baking equipment to take with her
when teaching the cookie classes. She has an excellent top-of-the-
line food processor and mixer that originally cost her $750. Natalie
decides to start using it only in her new business. She estimates that
the equipment is currently worth $300. She invests the equipment in
the business.

16 Natalie realizes that her initial cash investment is not enough. Her
grandmother lends her $2,000 cash, for which Natalie signs a note
payable in the name of the business. Natalie deposits the money in
the business bank account. (Hint: The note does not have to be
repaid for 24 months. As a result, the note payable should be
reported in the accounts as the last liability and also on the balance
sheet as the last liability.)

17 She buys more baking equipment for $900 cash.
20 She teaches her first class and collects $125 cash.

25 Natalie books a second class for December 4 for $150. She receives
$30 cash in advance as a down payment.

30 Natalie pays $1,320 for a one-year insurance policy that will expire

on December 1, 2020.
—J

0 leungchapan/
Shutterstock

Instructions

a. Prepare journal entries to record the November transactions.
b. Post the journal entries to general ledger accounts.
c. Prepare a trial balance at November 30.



Ethics Cases

EC2.1 Ellynn Kole is the assistant chief accountant at Doman Company, a
manufacturer of computer chips and cellular phones. The company presently
has total sales of $20 million. It is the end of the first quarter. Ellynn is
hurriedly trying to prepare a trial balance so that quarterly financial statements
can be prepared and released to management and the regulatory agencies.
The total credits on the trial balance exceed the debits by $1,000. In order to
meet the 4 p.m. deadline, Ellynn decides to force the debits and credits into
balance by adding the amount of the difference to the Equipment account.
She chooses Equipment because it is one of the larger account balances;
percentage-wise, it will be the least misstated. Ellynn “plugs” the difference!
She believes that the difference will not affect anyone's decisions. She wishes
that she had another few days to find the error but realizes that the financial
statements are already late.

Instructions

a. Who are the stakeholders in this situation?
b. What are the ethical issues involved in this case?
c. What are Ellynn's alternatives?

EC2.2 If you haven't already done so, in the not-too-distant future you will
prepare a résumé. In some ways, your résumé is like a company's annual
report. Its purpose is to enable others to evaluate your past, in an effort to
predict your future.

A résumé is your opportunity to create a positive first impression. It is
important that it be impressive—but it should also be accurate. In order to
increase their job prospects, some people are tempted to “inflate” their
résumeés by overstating the importance of some past accomplishments or
positions. In fact, you might even think that “everybody does it” and that if you
don't do it, you will be at a disadvantage.

David Edmondson, the president and CEO of well-known electronics retailer
Radio Shack, overstated his accomplishments by claiming that he had
earned a bachelor's of science degree, when in fact he had not. Apparently,
his employer had not done a background check to ensure the accuracy of his
résumeé. Should Radio Shack have fired him?

YES: Radio Shack is a publicly traded company. Investors, creditors,
employees, and others doing business with the company will not trust it if



its leader is known to have poor integrity. The “tone at the top” is vital to
creating an ethical organization.

NO: Mr. Edmondson had been a Radio Shack employee for 11 years. He
had served the company in a wide variety of positions, and had earned the
position of CEO through exceptional performance. While the fact that he
lied 11 years earlier on his résumé was unfortunate, his service since then
made this past transgression irrelevant. In addition, the company was in
the midst of a massive restructuring, which included closing 700 of its
7,000 stores. It could not afford additional upheaval at this time.

Instructions

Write a response indicating your position regarding this situation. Provide
support for your view.

Expand Your Critical Thinking

Financial Reporting Problem: Apple Inc.

CT2.1 The financial statements of Apple Inc. are presented in Appendix A.
The complete annual report, including the notes to its financial statements, is
available at the company's website.

Apple's financial statements contain the following selected accounts, stated in
millions of dollars.

Accounts Payable Cash and Cash Equivalents
Accounts Receivable Research and Development Expense
Property, Plant, and Equipment Inventories



Instructions

a. Answer the following questions.
1. What is the increase and decrease side for each account?
2. What is the normal balance for each account?

b. Identify the probable other account in the transaction and the effect on
that account when:

1. Accounts Receivable is decreased.
2. Accounts Payable is decreased.
3. Inventories are increased.
c. Identify the other account(s) that ordinarily would be involved when:
1. Research and Development Expense is increased.
2. Property, Plant, and Equipment is increased.

Comparative Analysis Problem: PepsiCo, Inc. vs. The Coca-Cola
Company

CT2.2 PepsiCo, Inc.'s financial statements are presented in Appendix B.
Financial statement of The Coca-Cola Company are presented in Appendix
C. The complete annual reports of PepsiCo and Coca-Cola, including the
notes to the financial statements, are available at each company's respective
website.




Instructions

a. Based on the information contained in the financial statements,
determine the normal balance of the listed accounts for each company.

PepsiCo Coca-Cola

1. Inventory 1. Accounts Receivable

2. Property, Plant, and Equipment 2. Cash and Cash Equivalents
3. Accounts Payable 3. Cost of Goods Sold (expense)
4. Interest Expense 4. Sales (revenue)

b. Identify the other account ordinarily involved when:
1. Accounts Receivable is increased.
2. Salaries and Wages Payable is decreased.
3. Property, Plant, and Equipment is increased.
4. Interest Expense is increased.

Comparative Analysis Problem: Amazon.com, Inc. vs. Wal-Mart
Stores, Inc.

CT2.3 Amazon.com, Inc.'s financial statements are presented in Appendix D.
Financial statements of Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. are presented in Appendix E.
The complete annual reports of Amazon and Wal-Mart, including the notes to
the financial statements, are available at each company's respective website.



Instructions

a. Based on the information contained in the financial statements,
determine the normal balance of the listed accounts for each company.

Amazon Wal-Mart

1. Interest Expense 1. Net Product Revenues
2. Cash and Cash Equivalents 2. Inventories
3. Accounts Payable 3. Cost of Sales

b. Identify the other account ordinarily involved when:
1. Accounts Receivable is increased.
2. Interest Expense is increased.
3. Salaries and Wages Payable is decreased.
4. Service Revenue is increased.

Real-World Focus

CT2.4 Much information about specific companies is available on the Internet.
Such information includes basic descriptions of the company's location,
activities, industry, financial health, and financial performance.

Instructions

Go to the Yahoo! Finance website and then answer the following questions.
a. What is the company's industry?
b. What is the company's total sales?
c. What is the company's net income?
d. What are the names of four of the company's competitors?
e. Choose one of these competitors.

f. What is this competitor's name? What are its sales? What is its net
income?

g. Which of these two companies is larger by size of sales? Which one
reported higher net income?

CT2.5 The January 27, 2011, edition of the New York Times contains an
article by Richard Sandomir entitled “N.F.L. Finances, as Seen Through



Packers' Records.” The author of the article discusses the fact that the Green
Bay Packers are the only NFL team that publicly publishes its annual report.

Instructions

Read the article and answer the following questions.

a. Why are the Green Bay Packers the only professional football team to
publish and distribute an annual report?

b. Why is the football players' labor union particularly interested in the
Packers' annual report?

c. In addition to the players' labor union, what other outside party might
be interested in the annual report?

d. Even though the Packers' revenue increased in recent years, the
company's operating profit fell significantly. How does the article explain
this decline?

Communication Activity

CT2.6 Melia's Maid Company offers home-cleaning service. Two recurring
transactions for the company are billing customers for services performed and
paying employee salaries. For example, on March 15, bills totaling $6,000
were sent to customers and $2,000 was paid in salaries to employees.

Instructions
Write a memo to your instructor that explains and illustrates the steps in the

recording process for each of the March 15 transactions. Use the format
illustrated in the textbook.

All About You

CT2.7 Every company needs to plan in order to move forward. Its top
management must consider where it wants the company to be in three to five
years. Like a company, you need to think about where you want to be three to
five years from now, and you need to start taking steps now in order to get
there.

Instructions

Provide responses to each of the following items.



a. Where would you like to be working in three to five years? Describe
your plan for getting there by identifying between five and 10 specific
steps that you need to take.

b. In order to get the job you want, you will need a résumé. Your résumé
is the equivalent of a company's annual report. It needs to provide
relevant and reliable information about your past accomplishments so that
employers can decide whether to “invest” in you. Do a search on the
Internet to find a good résumé format. What are the basic elements of a
résumé?

c. A company's annual report provides information about a company's
accomplishments. In order for investors to use the annual report, the
information must be reliable; that is, users must have faith that the
information is accurate and believable. How can you provide assurance
that the information on your résumé is reliable?

d. Prepare a résumé assuming that you have accomplished the five to 10
specific steps you identified in part (a). Also, provide evidence that would
give assurance that the information is reliable.

Considering People, Planet, and Profit

CT2.8 Auditors provide a type of certification of corporate financial statements.
Certification is used in many other aspects of business as well. For example, it
plays a critical role in the sustainability movement. The February 7, 2012,
issue of the New York Times contained an article by S. Amanda Caudill
entitled “Better Lives in Better Coffee,” which discusses the role of certification
in the coffee business.

Instructions

Conduct an Internet search to locate and read the article, and then answer the
following questions.

a. The article mentions three different certification types that coffee
growers can obtain from three different certification bodies. Using
financial reporting as an example, what potential problems might the
existence of multiple certification types present to coffee purchasers?

b. According to the author, which certification is most common among
coffee growers? What are the possible reasons for this?

c. What social and environmental benefits are coffee certifications trying
to achieve? Are there also potential financial benefits to the parties
involved?



A Look at IFRS

LEARNING OBJECTIVE 5

Compare the procedures for the recording process under GAAP and
IFRS.

International companies use the same set of procedures and records to keep
track of transaction data. Thus, the material in Chapter 2 dealing with the
account, general rules of debit and credit, and steps in the recording process
—the journal, ledger, and chart of accounts—is the same under both GAAP
and IFRS.

Key Points

Following are the key similarities and differences between GAAP and IFRS as
related to the recording process.

Similarities
» Transaction analysis is the same under IFRS and GAAP.

» Both the IASB and the FASB go beyond the basic definitions provided in
the textbook for the key elements of financial statements, that is assets,
liabilities, equity, revenue, and expenses. The implications of the expanded
definitions are discussed in more advanced accounting courses.

» As shown in the textbook, dollar signs are typically used only in the trial
balance and the financial statements. The same practice is followed under
IFRS, using the currency of the country where the reporting company is
headquartered.

e Atrial balance under IFRS follows the same format as shown in the
textbook.

Differences

e |IFRS relies less on historical cost and more on fair value than do FASB
standards.



 Internal controls are a system of checks and balances designed to prevent
and detect fraud and errors. While most public U.S. companies have these
systems in place, many non-U.S. companies have never completely
documented the controls nor had an independent auditors attest to their
effectiveness.

Looking to the Future

The basic recording process shown in this textbook is followed by companies
across the globe. It is unlikely to change in the future. The definitional
structure of assets, liabilities, equity, revenues, and expenses may change
over time as the IASB and FASB evaluate their overall conceptual framework
for establishing accounting standards.

IFRS Practice

IFRS Self-Test Questions

1. Which statement is correct regarding IFRS?
a. IFRS reverses the rules of debits and credits, that is, debits are on the
right and credits are on the left.
b. IFRS uses the same process for recording transactions as GAAP.

c. The chart of accounts under IFRS is different because revenues follow
assets.

d. None of the above statements are correct.
2. The expanded accounting equation under IFRS is as follows:
a. Assets = Liabilities + Owner's Capital + Owner's Drawings + Revenues

- Expenses.

b. Assets + Liabilities = Owner's Capital + Owner's Drawings + Revenues
- Expenses.

c. Assets = Liabilities + Owner's Capital — Owner's Drawings + Revenues
- Expenses.

d. Assets = Liabilities + Owner's Capital + Owner's Drawings — Revenues
— Expenses.



3. A trial balance:

a. is the same under IFRS and GAAP.

b. proves that transactions are recorded correctly.

c. proves that all transactions have been recorded.

d. will not balance if a correct journal entry is posted twice.
4. One difference between IFRS and GAAP is that:

a. GAAP uses accrual-accounting concepts and IFRS uses primarily the

cash basis of accounting.

b. IFRS uses a different posting process than GAAP.

c. IFRS uses more fair value measurements than GAAP.

d. the limitations of a trial balance are different between IFRS and GAAP.
5. The general policy for using proper currency signs (dollar, yen, pound, etc.)
is the same for both IFRS and this textbook. This policy is as follows:

a. Currency signs only appear in ledgers and journal entries.

b. Currency signs are only shown in the trial balance.

c. Currency signs are shown for all compound journal entries.

d. Currency signs are shown in trial balances and financial statements.

International Financial Reporting Problem: Louis Vuitton

IFRS2.1 The financial statements of Louis Vuitton are presented in Appendix
E. The complete annual report, including the notes to its financial statements,
is available at the company's website.

Instructions
Describe in which statement each of the following items is reported, and the
position in the statement (e.g., current asset).

a. Other operating income and expenses.

b. Cash and cash equivalents.

c. Trade accounts payable.

d. Cost of net financial debt.



Answers to IFRS Self-Test Questions

1.b2.c3.a4.c5.d



CHAPTER 3

Adjusting the Accounts

Chapter Preview

In Chapter 1, you learned a neat little formula: Net income = Revenues -
Expenses. In Chapter 2, you learned some rules for recording revenue and
expense transactions. Guess what? Things are not really that nice and
neat. In fact, it is often difficult for companies to determine in what time
period they should report some revenues and expenses. In other words, in
measuring net income, timing is everything.



Feature Story

Keeping Track of Groupons

Who doesn't like buying things at a discount? That's why it's not surprising
that three years after it started as a company, Groupon, Inc. was
estimated to be worth $16 billion. This translates into an average increase
in value of almost $15 million per day.

Now consider that Groupon had previously been estimated to be worth
even more than that. What happened? Well, accounting regulators and
investors began to question the way that Groupon had accounted for some
of its transactions. Groupon sells coupons (“groupons”), so how hard can it
be to accurately account for that? It turns out that accounting for coupons
is not as easy as you might think.

First, consider what happens when Groupon makes a sale. Suppose it
sells a groupon for $30 for Highrise Hamburgers. When it receives the $30
from the customer, it must turn over half of that amount ($15) to Highrise
Hamburgers. So should Groupon record revenue for the full $30 or just
$157? Until recently, Groupon recorded the full $30. But, in response to an
SEC ruling on the issue, Groupon now records revenue of $15 instead.

A second issue is a matter of timing. When should Groupon record this $15
revenue? Should it record the revenue when it sells the groupon, or must it
wait until the customer uses the groupon at Highrise Hamburgers? You can
find the answer to this question in the notes to Groupon's financial
statements. It recognizes the revenue once “the number of customers who
purchase the daily deal exceeds the predetermined threshold, the Groupon
has been electronically delivered to the purchaser and a listing of
Groupons sold has been made available to the merchant.”

The accounting becomes even more complicated when you consider the
company's loyalty programs. Groupon offers free or discounted groupons
to its subscribers for doing things such as referring new customers or
participating in promotions. These groupons are to be used for future
purchases, yet the company must record the expense at the time the
customer receives the groupon. The cost of these programs is huge for
Groupon, so the timing of this expense can definitely affect its reported
income.

Finally, Groupon, like all other companies, relies on many estimates in its
financial reporting. For example, Groupon reports that “estimates are



utilized for, but not limited to, stock-based compensation, income taxes,
valuation of acquired goodwill and intangible assets, customer refunds,
contingent liabilities and the depreciable lives of fixed assets.” It notes that
“actual results could differ materially from those estimates.” So, next time
you use a coupon, think about what that means for the company's
accountants!.
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Go to the Review and Practice section at the end of the chapter
for a review of key concepts and practice applications with
solutions.

Visit WileyPLUS with ORION for additional tutorials and
practice opportunities.

Accrual-Basis Accounting and Adjusting Entries

LEARNING OBJECTIVE 1

Explain the accrual basis of accounting and the reasons for adjusting
entries.

If we could wait to prepare financial statements until a company ended its
operations, no adjustments would be needed. At that point, we could easily
determine its final balance sheet and the amount of lifetime income it
earned.

However, most companies need feedback about how well they are
performing during a period of time. For example, management usually
wants monthly financial statements. The Internal Revenue Service requires
all businesses to file annual tax returns. Therefore, accountants divide
the economic life of a business into artificial time periods. This
convenient assumption is referred to as the time period assumption (see
Alternative Terminology).

ALTERNATIVE TERMINOLOGY

The time period assumption is also called the periodicity
assumption.

Many business transactions affect more than one of these arbitrary time
periods. For example, the airplanes purchased by Southwest Airlines five
years ago are still in use today. It would not make sense to expense the full
cost of the airplanes at the time of purchase because they will be used for



many subsequent periods. Instead, companies must therefore allocate the
costs to the periods of use (how much of the cost of an airplane
contributed to operations this year?).

Fiscal and Calendar Years

Both small and large companies prepare financial statements periodically
in order to assess their financial condition and results of operations.
Accounting time periods are generally a month, a quarter, or a year.
Monthly and quarterly time periods are called interim periods. Most large
companies must prepare both quarterly and annual financial statements.

Time Period
Assumption

Year | Year |0

i Yeard

An accounting time period that is one year in length is a fiscal year. A
fiscal year usually begins with the first day of a month and ends 12 months
later on the last day of a month. Many businesses use the calendar year
(January 1 to December 31) as their accounting period. Some do not.
Companies whose fiscal year differs from the calendar year include Delta
Air Lines, June 30, and The Walt Disney Company, September 30.
Sometimes a company's year-end will vary from year to year. For example,
PepsiCo's fiscal year ends on the Friday closest to December 31, which
was December 27 in 2014 and December 26 in 2015.

Accrual- versus Cash-Basis Accounting

What you will learn in this chapter is accrual-basis accounting. Under the
accrual basis, companies record transactions that change a company's
financial statements in the periods in which the events occur. For
example, using the accrual basis to determine net income means
companies recognize revenues when they perform services (rather than
when they receive cash). It also means recognizing expenses when
incurred (rather than when paid).



An alternative to the accrual basis is the cash basis. Under cash-basis
accounting, companies record revenue at the time they receive cash.
They record an expense at the time they pay out cash. The cash basis
seems appealing due to its simplicity, but it often produces misleading
financial statements. For example, it fails to record revenue for a company
that has performed services but has not yet received payment. As a result,
the cash basis may not recognize revenue in the period that a performance
obligation is satisfied.

Accrual-basis accounting is therefore in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles (GAAP). Individuals and some small
companies, however, do use cash-basis accounting. The cash basis is
justified for small businesses because they often have few receivables and
payables. Medium and large companies use accrual-basis accounting.

Recognizing Revenues and Expenses

It can be difficult to determine when to report revenues and expenses. The
revenue recognition principle and the expense recognition principle help in
this task.

Revenue Recognition Principle

When a company agrees to perform a service or sell a product to a
customer, it has a performance obligation. When the company meets this
performance obligation, it recognizes revenue. The revenue recognition
principle therefore requires that companies recognize revenue in the
accounting period in which the performance obligation is satisfied. A
company satisfies its performance obligation by performing a service or
providing a good to a customer.

To illustrate, assume that Dave's Dry Cleaning cleans clothing on June 30
but customers do not claim and pay for their clothes until the first week of
July. Dave's should record revenue in June when it performed the service
(satisfied the performance obligation) rather than in July when it received
the cash. At June 30, Dave's would report a receivable on its balance sheet
and revenue in its income statement for the service performed.



Revenue Recognition
Sarisfied
performance
obligation

L ==

Customer Cash
requests received
service

Revenue is recog-
nized when performance
obligation is satisfied,

Expense Recognition Principle

Accountants follow a simple rule in recognizing expenses: “Let the
expenses follow the revenues.” Thus, expense recognition is tied to
revenue recognition. In the dry cleaning example, this means that Dave's
should report the salary expense incurred in performing the June 30
cleaning service in the same period in which it recognizes the service
revenue. The critical issue in expense recognition is when the expense
makes its contribution to revenue. This may or may not be the same period
in which the expense is paid. If Dave's does not pay the salary incurred on
June 30 until July, it would report salaries payable on its June 30 balance
sheet.

Expense Recognition

Efforts generated
revenue

Expense is recognized
when efforts are made o
generate revenye,

This practice of expense recognition is referred to as the expense
recognition principle. It requires that companies recognize expenses in
the period in which they make efforts (consume assets or incur liabilities) to
generate revenue. The term matching is sometimes used in expense
recognition to indicate the relationship between the effort expended and
the revenue generated. lllustration 3.1 summarizes the revenue and
expense recognition principles.
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Investor Insight Apple Inc.

Reporting Revenue Accurately

Photodlioflames Hardy/Gelty Images. Inc.
* LS 7 :

Until recently, electronics manufacturer Apple was required to spread
the revenues from iPhone sales over the two year period following the
sale of the phone. Accounting standards required this because Apple
was obligated to provide software updates after the phone was sold.
Since Apple had service obligations after the initial date of sale, it was
forced to spread the revenue over a two-year period.

As a result, the rapid growth of iPhone sales was not fully reflected in
the revenue amounts reported in Apple's income statement. A new
accounting standard now enables Apples to report much more of its
iPhone revenue at the point of sale. It was estimated that under the
new rule revenues would have been about 17% higher and earnings
per share almost 50% higher.

In the past, why was it argued that Apple should spread the
recognition of iPhone revenue over a two-year period, rather than
recording it upfront? (Go to WileyPLUS for this answer and
additional questions.)

-

The Need for Adjusting Entries

In order for revenues to be recorded in the period in which services are
performed and for expenses to be recognized in the period in which they
are incurred, companies make adjusting entries. Adjusting entries



ensure that the revenue recognition and expense recognition
principles are followed (see International Note).

Ve

-

INTERNATIONAL NOTE

Internal controls are a system of checks and balances designed to
detect and prevent fraud and errors. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act
requires U.S. companies to enhance their systems of internal
control. However, many foreign companies do not have to meet
strict internal control requirements. Some U.S. companies believe
that this gives foreign firms an unfair advantage because
developing and maintaining internal controls can be very
expensive.

J

Adjusting entries are necessary because the trial balance—the first pulling
together of the transaction data—may not contain up-to-date and complete
data. This is true for several reasons:

1. Some events are not recorded daily because it is not efficient to do
so. Examples are the use of supplies and the earning of wages by
employees.

2. Some costs are not recorded during the accounting period because
these costs expire with the passage of time rather than as a result of
recurring daily transactions. Examples are charges related to the use of
buildings and equipment, rent, and insurance.

3. Some items may be unrecorded. An example is a utility service bill
that will not be received until the next accounting period.

Adjusting entries are required every time a company prepares
financial statements. The company analyzes each account in the trial
balance to determine whether it is complete and up-to-date for financial
statement purposes. Every adjusting entry will include one income
statement account and one balance sheet account.

Types of Adjusting Entries

Adjusting entries are classified as either deferrals or accruals. As
lllustration 3.2 shows, each of these classes has two subcategories.
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Deferrals:
1. Prepaid expenses: Expenses paid in cash before they are used or
consumed.
2. Unearned revenues: Cash received before services are performed.
Accruals:
1. Accrued revenues: Revenues for services performed but not yet
received in cash or recorded.
2. Accrued expenses: Expenses incurred but not yet paid in cash or
recorded.

Subsequent sections give examples of each type of adjustment. Each
example is based on the October 31 trial balance of Pioneer Advertising
from Chapter 2, reproduced in lllustration 3.3.
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Pioneer Advertising
Trial Balance

October 31, 2020

Debit Credit
Cash $15,200
Supplies 2,500
Prepaid Insurance 600
Equipment 5,000
Notes Payable $ 5,000
Accounts Payable 2,500
Unearned Service Revenue 1,200
Owner's Capital 10,000
Owner's Drawings 500
Service Revenue 10,000
Salaries and Wages Expense 4,000
Rent Expense 900

$28,700 $28,700

We assume that Pioneer uses an accounting period of one month. Thus,
monthly adjusting entries are made. The entries are dated October 31.



DO IT! 1 | Timing Concepts

Below is a list of timing concepts in the left column, with a description
of the concept in the right column below. There are more descriptions
provided than concepts. Match the description to the concept.

Accrual-basis accounting.

Calendar year.

Time period assumption.

A

Expense recognition principle.

(a) Monthly and quarterly time periods.

(b) Efforts (expenses) should be recognized in the period in which a
company uses assets or incurs liabilities to generate results
(revenues).

(c) Accountants divide the economic life of a business into artificial
time periods.

(d) Companies record revenues when they receive cash and record
expenses when they pay out cash.

(e) An accounting time period that starts on January 1 and ends on
December 31.

(f) Companies record transactions in the period in which the events
OCCuUr.

ACTION PLAN

» Review the definitions of the timing concepts in the Glossary
Review section.

» Study carefully the revenue recognition principle, the expense
recognition principle, and the time period assumption.

N J

Solution

1. f




2. e
3.c
4. b

E3.3.

. J

Adjusting Entries for Deferrals

LEARNING OBJECTIVE 2

Prepare adjusting entries for deferrals.

Journalize and datin
ANALYZE JOURNALIZE POST PRI post adjusting TRIAL FIEANT el i .H?M
BALAMCE entries: BALANCE STATEMEMNTS ENTRIES TRIAL BALANCE
deferrals/accruals

To defer means to postpone or delay. Deferrals are expenses or revenues
that are recognized at a date later than the point when cash was originally
exchanged. The two types of deferrals are prepaid expenses and unearned
revenues.

Prepaid Expenses

When companies record payments of expenses that will benefit more than
one accounting period, they record an asset called prepaid expenses or
prepayments. When expenses are prepaid, an asset account is increased
(debited) to show the service or benefit that the company will receive in the
future. Examples of common prepayments are insurance, supplies,
advertising, and rent. In addition, companies make prepayments when they
purchase buildings and equipment.

Prepaid expenses are costs that expire either with the passage of
time (e.g., rent and insurance) or through use (e.g., supplies). The
expiration of these costs does not require daily entries, which would be
impractical and unnecessary. Accordingly, companies postpone the



recognition of such cost expirations until they prepare financial statements.
At each statement date, they make adjusting entries to record the
expenses applicable to the current accounting period and to show the
remaining amounts in the asset accounts.

Prior to adjustment, assets are overstated and expenses are understated.
Therefore, as shown in lllustration 3.4, an adjusting entry for prepaid
expenses results in an increase (a debit) to an expense account and a
decrease (a credit) to an asset account.

|NEPEFNNi (o) 8 Adjusting entries for prepaid expenses

Prepaid Expenses

Asset Expense
Unadjusted| Credit » Debit
Balance Adjusting Adjusting
Entry (—) Entry ()

Let's look in more detail at some specific types of prepaid expenses,
beginning with supplies.

Supplies

The purchase of supplies, such as paper and envelopes, results in an
increase (a debit) to an asset account. During the accounting period, the
company uses supplies. Rather than record supplies expense as the
supplies are used, companies recognize supplies expense at the end of
the accounting period. At the end of the accounting period, the company
counts the remaining supplies. As shown in lllustration 3.5, the difference
between the unadjusted balance in the Supplies (asset) account and the
actual cost of supplies on hand represents the supplies used (an expense)
for that period.



Supplies
Oct. 5

@ 9

Supplies purchased;
record asset

Oce. 31
Supplies used;
record supplies expense

Recall from Chapter 2 that Pioneer Advertising purchased supplies costing
$2,500 on October 5. Pioneer recorded the purchase by increasing
(debiting) the asset Supplies. This account shows a balance of $2,500 in
the October 31 trial balance. An inventory count at the close of business on
October 31 reveals that $1,000 of supplies are still on hand. Thus, the cost
of supplies used is $1,500 ($2,500 — $1,000). This use of supplies
decreases an asset, Supplies. It also decreases owner's equity by
increasing an expense account, Supplies Expense. This is shown in
lllustration 3.5.

|NEFEFNNI (o) W Adjustment for supplies

Basic The expense Supplies Expense is incréased §1,500; the asset
Analysis - Supplies is decreased $1,500. :
- quation 0 ;&:sTu = Liabilities * ESanler’sEEq uity
ﬁml alysis upplies z upplies Expense
E— -51.500 -5 1.500
Debit-Credit Diebits increase expenses: debit Supplies Expense $1,500.
Analysis [Credtu decrease assets: credit Supplies §1.500.
j@mal Oct. 31| Supplies Expanse 631 . 1,500 }
E!'IIF}I' Supplies 126 1,508
{To record supplies used)
“Supplies 126 Supplies Expense 631
Posting Ocr. 5 2500 (O3] Ad]1L500 Occ 3l Adj. 1,500
Qe 3 Bal. 1.000 Ocr 38 Bal: 1500

After adjustment, the asset account Supplies shows a balance of $1,000,
which is equal to the cost of supplies on hand at the statement date. In
addition, Supplies Expense shows a balance of $1,500, which equals the



cost of supplies used in October. If Pioneer does not make the adjusting
entry, October expenses are understated and net income is
overstated by $1,500. Moreover, both assets and owner's equity will
be overstated by $1,500 on the October 31 balance sheet.

Insurance

Companies purchase insurance to protect themselves from losses due to
fire, theft, and unforeseen events. Insurance must be paid in advance,
often for multiple months. The cost of insurance (premiums) paid in
advance is recorded as an increase (debit) in the asset account Prepaid
Insurance. At the financial statement date, companies increase (debit)
Insurance Expense and decrease (credit) Prepaid Insurance for the cost of
insurance that has expired during the period.

Insurance

\ e
poir i

Insurance purchased:
record asset

Insurance Policy
Qe | Mov | Dec | Jan
$50 | 350 | $50 | $50
Feb | March) April | May
$50 | $50 | $50 | §50
June | July | Aug | Sept
§$50 | $50 | $50 | §50
| | YEAR 5600
Oct. 31

Inzurance expired;
| record insurance expense

On October 4, Pioneer Advertising paid $600 for a one-year fire insurance
policy. Coverage began on October 1. Pioneer recorded the payment by
increasing (debiting) Prepaid Insurance. This account shows a balance of
$600 in the October 31 trial balance. Insurance of $50 ($600 + 12) expires
each month. The expiration of prepaid insurance decreases an asset,
Prepaid Insurance. It also decreases owner's equity by increasing an
expense account, Insurance Expense.

As shown in lllustration 3.6, the asset Prepaid Insurance shows a balance
of $550, which represents the unexpired cost for the remaining 11 months
of coverage. At the same time, the balance in Insurance Expense equals
the insurance cost that expired in October. If Pioneer does not make this
adjustment, October expenses are understated by $50 and net



income is overstated by $50. Moreover, both assets and owner's
equity will be overstated by $50 on the October 31 balance sheet.

| MRS NN (o) N8 Adjustment for insurance

Basic The expense Insurance Expense’is increased $50; the asset
Analysis Prepaid Insurance is decreased $50.
BAssets = Liabilities + Owner's Equi
Eaumeen @ Prepyid | L
= pald Insurance Insurance Expense
Analysis SRl it = uditcthu ot 2t diziid
Lyt £50 £50
Debit—Credit Debits increase expenses: debit Insurance Expense $50.
Analysis Credits decrease assets: credit Prepaid Insurance $50.
Jourm: al O 31| Insurance Expense T2 50
El'l‘l'.l.'y " Prepaid Insurance ‘ | 30 50
5 (Ta record inturance expired)
Prepaid Insurance 130 Insurance Expense 722
Posting Oict. 4 G00[Oce 31 Adj 50 Qe 31 Adj. 50
Ot 31 Bal. 550 Oer 31 Bal. 50
Depreciation

A company typically owns a variety of assets that have long lives, such as
buildings, equipment, and motor vehicles. The period of service is referred
to as the useful life of the asset. Because a building is expected to be of
service for many years, it is recorded as an asset, rather than an expense,
on the date it is acquired. As explained in Chapter 1, companies record
such assets at cost, as required by the historical cost principle. To follow
the expense recognition principle, companies allocate a portion of this cost
as an expense during each period of the asset's useful life. Depreciation
is the process of allocating the cost of an asset to expense over its useful
life.



Depreciation

e LT
Equipment purchased;
record asset

Equipment
Gt | Mov | Dec Ia;_
A0 | S40 | 340 | 340
Feb | March| Agpril.| May
| 540 | 540 | $40 | $40
June | July | Aug | Sept
340 | P40 | S0 590

Depreciation = $480iyear
Cet: 31

Dwepreciation recognized:
| record depreciation expense

Need for Adjustment.

The acquisition of long-lived assets is essentially a long-term prepayment
for the use of an asset. An adjusting entry for depreciation is needed to
recognize the cost that has been used (an expense) during the period and
to report the unused cost (an asset) at the end of the period. One very
important point to understand: Depreciation is an allocation concept,
not a valuation concept. That is, depreciation allocates an asset's cost
to the periods in which it is used. Depreciation does not attempt to
report the actual change in the value of the asset.

For Pioneer Advertising, assume that depreciation on the equipment is
$480 a year, or $40 per month. As shown in lllustration 3.7, rather than
decrease (credit) the asset account directly, Pioneer instead credits
Accumulated Depreciation—Equipment. Accumulated Depreciation is
called a contra asset account. Such an account is offset against an asset
account on the balance sheet (see Helpful Hint). Thus, the Accumulated
Depreciation—Equipment account off sets the asset Equipment. This
account keeps track of the total amount of depreciation expense
taken over the life of the asset. To keep the accounting equation in
balance, Pioneer decreases owner's equity by increasing an expense
account, Depreciation Expense.



HELPFUL HINT

All contra accounts have increases, decreases, and normal
balances opposite to the account to which they relate.

| MRS NNI (o) WA Adjustment for depreciation

Basic The expense Depreciation Expense is increased $40; the contra asset
Analysis Accumulated Depreciation—Equipment is increased 540
Basets = Liabilities * Owner's Equity
Equaticn Aecumulaced
.ﬁm}?‘ﬁ: Depreciation—Equipment : Depreciation Expense
-$40 ) -$40
Dabie=Credit Debits increase expenses: debit Depreciation Expense $40.
Arialysis Credics increase contra assets: credit Accumulated

Depreciation—Equipment $40.

Qe 31 | Depreciation Expente 71 40
Journal Accumulated Depreciation—Equipment | 158 40
| (Ta record manthly
depreciation)

Equipment |57
Ocr | 5,000
Oce 31 Bal 5,000
Fosting
Accumulated Depreciation— Depreciation
Equipment 158 Expense 7

Ot 31 Addj. 40 Oer 31 Acdf. 40
Ot 31 Bal. 400 Oer 31 Bal 40

The balance in the Accumulated Depreciation—Equipment account will
increase $40 each month, and the balance in Equipment remains $5,000.

Statement Presentation.

As indicated, Accumulated Depreciation—Equipment is a contra asset
account. It is offset against Equipment on the balance sheet. The normal
balance of a contra asset account is a credit. A theoretical alternative to
using a contra asset account would be to decrease (credit) the asset
account by the amount of depreciation each period. But using the contra
account is preferable for a simple reason: It discloses both the original
cost of the equipment and the total cost that has been expensed to date.
Thus, in the balance sheet, Pioneer deducts Accumulated Depreciation—
Equipment from the related asset account, as shown in lllustration 3.8.



|NEFENVN (o) RN Balance sheet presentation of accumulated

Equipment $5,000
Less: Accumulated depreciation—equipment 40
$4,960

Book value is the difference between the cost of any depreciable asset
and its related accumulated depreciation (see Alternative Terminology). In
lllustration 3.8, the book value of the equipment at the balance sheet date
is $4,960. The book value and the fair value of the asset are generally two
different values. As noted earlier, the purpose of depreciation is not
valuation but a means of cost allocation.

ALTERNATIVE TERMINOLOGY

Book value is also referred to as carrying value.

Depreciation expense identifies the portion of an asset's cost that expired
during the period (in this case, in October). The accounting equation shows
that without this adjusting entry, total assets, total owner's equity, and
net income are overstated by $40 and depreciation expense is
understated by $40.

lllustration 3.9 summarizes the accounting for prepaid expenses.

|NEPEFNNI (o) R B Accounting for prepaid expenses

Accounting for Prepaid Expenses

Examples Reason for Accounts Adjusting
Adjustment Before ntry

Adjustment

Insurgnce, Pr.epaid expenses Assets Dr.

supplies, originally recorded in overstated Expenses

advertising, rent,  asset accounts have '

depreciation been used. Expenses Cr. Assets
understated. or Contra

Assets



Unearned Revenues

When companies receive cash before services are performed, they record
a liability by increasing (crediting) a liability account called unearned
revenues. In other words, a company now has a performance
obligation (liability) to transfer a service to one of its customers. Items like
rent, magazine subscriptions, and customer deposits for future service may
result in unearned revenues. Airlines such as United, Southwest, and
Delta, for instance, treat receipts from the sale of tickets as unearned
revenue until the flight service is provided.

Unearned Revenues

Oer. 2 f
Thiank you
Bl

Ocr. 31
Some service has been
performed; seme revenue
is recorded

Unearned revenues are the opposite of prepaid expenses. Indeed,
unearned revenue on the books of one company is likely to be a prepaid
expense on the books of the company that has made the advance
payment. For example, if identical accounting periods are assumed, a
landlord will have unearned rent revenue when a tenant has prepaid rent.

When a company receives payment for services to be performed in a
future accounting period, it increases (credits) an unearned revenue (a
liability) account to recognize the liability that exists. The company
subsequently recognizes revenues when it performs the service (see
lllustration 3.10).
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Unearned Revenues

Liabilicy Revenue
Dehit ; LUnadjusted Credit
Adjusting | Balance Adjusting
Entry (-) Entry (+)

1 1

During the accounting period, it is not practical to make daily entries as the
company performs services. Instead, the company delays recognition of
revenue until the adjustment process. Then, the company makes an
adjusting entry to record the revenue for services performed during the
period and to show the liability that remains at the end of the accounting
period. Typically, prior to adjustment, liabilities are overstated and revenues
are understated. Therefore, the adjusting entry for unearned revenues
results in a decrease (a debit) to a liability account and an increase (a
credit) to a revenue account.

Pioneer Advertising received $1,200 on October 2 from R. Knox for
advertising services expected to be completed by December 31. Pioneer
credited the payment to Unearned Service Revenue. This liability account
shows a balance of $1,200 in the October 31 trial balance. From an
evaluation of the services Pioneer performed for Knox during October, the
company determines that it should recognize $400 of revenue in October.
The liability (Unearned Service Revenue) is therefore decreased, and
owner's equity (Service Revenue) is increased.

As shown in lllustration 3.11, the liability Unearned Service Revenue now
shows a balance of $800. That amount represents the remaining
advertising services Pioneer is obligated to perform in the future. At the
same time, Service Revenue shows total revenue recognized in October of
$10,400. Without this adjustment, revenues and net income are
understated by $400 in the income statement. Moreover, liabilities will
be overstated and owner's equity will be understated by $400 on the
October 31 balance sheet.
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Basic
Analysis

Equation

Debit—Credit
Analysis

Journal

Posting

The liability Unearned Service Revenue is decreased $400; the revenue

Service Revenue is increased $400.

Assets - Liabilities +

Owner's Equity

Unearmed
Service Revenue

Service Revenue

3400

+ 5400

Diebits decrease liabilities: debit Unearned Service: Revenue $400.
Credits increase revenues: credit Service Revenue $400,

Oet. 31 | Unearned Service Revenue 209 400
Service Revenue 400 400
[To record revenue for services
performed)
Unearned Service Revenve 209 Service Revenue 400
O3l Adj. 400 | Gt 2 1,200 Oct. 31 10,000
' 31 Adj. 400
Ocr. 31 Bal. BOO Qet. 31 Bal. 10,400

lllustration 3.12 summarizes the accounting for unearned revenues.

| SRR NN (o) PR Accounting for unearned revenues

Accounting for Unearned Revenues

Examples

Rent, magazine
subscriptions,
customer deposits
for future service

Reason for
Adjustment

Unearned revenues
recorded in liability
accounts are now
recognized as revenue
for services performed.

Accounts
Before
Adjustment
Liabilities
overstated.

Revenues
understated.

Dr.

Liabilities
Cr.

Revenues



Accounting Across the Organization Best Buy

Turning Gift Cards into Revenue

£ Skip CDonnalliSiockphoto

Those of you who are marketing majors (and even most of you who are
not) know that gift cards are among the hottest marketing tools in
merchandising today. Customers purchase gift cards and give them to
someone for later use. In a recent year, gift-card sales were expected
to exceed $124 billion.

Although these programs are popular with marketing executives, they
create accounting questions. Should revenue be recorded at the time
the qift card is sold, or when it is exercised? How should expired gift
cards be accounted for? In a recent balance sheet, Best Buy reported
unearned revenue related to gift cards of $427 million.

Source: “2014 Gift Card Sales to Top $124 Billion, but Growth Slowing,” PR Newswire

(December 10, 2014).
Suppose that Robert Jones purchases a $100 gift card at Best Buy
on December 24, 2019, and gives it to his wife, Mary Jones, on
December 25, 2019. On January 3, 2020, Mary uses the card to
purchase $100 worth of CDs. When do you think Best Buy should
recognize revenue and why? (Go to WileyPLUS for this answer
and additional questions.)
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DO IT! 2 | Adjusting Entries for Deferrals

The ledger of Hammond Company, on March 31, 2020, includes these
selected accounts before adjusting entries are prepared.

Debit Credit
Prepaid Insurance $ 3,600
Supplies 2,800
Equipment 25,000
Accumulated Depreciation—Equipment $5,000
Unearned Service Revenue 9,200

An analysis of the accounts shows the following.

1. Insurance expires at the rate of $100 per month.

2. Supplies on hand total $800.

3. The equipment depreciates $200 a month.

4. During March, services were performed for $4,000 of the
unearned service revenue reported.

Prepare the adjusting entries for the month of March.

Ve

ACTION PLAN

» Make adjusting entries at the end of the period for revenues
recognized and expenses incurred in the period.

» Don't forget to make adjusting entries for deferrals. Failure to
adjust for deferrals leads to overstatement of the asset or
liability and understatement of the related expense or revenue.




Solution
1. Insurance Expense 100
Prepaid Insurance 100
(To record insurance expired)
2. Supplies Expense ($2,800 - $800) 2,000
Supplies 2,000
(To record supplies used)
3. Depreciation Expense 200
Accumulated Depreciation—Equipment 200
(To record monthly depreciation)
4. Unearned Service Revenue 4,000
Service Revenue 4,000
(To record revenue for services performed)
Related exercise material: BE3.2, BE3.3, BE3.4, BE3.5, BE3.6 and DO
IT! 3.2.

\.

Adjusting Entries for Accruals

LEARNING OBJECTIVE 3

Prepare adjusting entries for accruals.

Journalize and
AMALYIE JOURNALIZE POST TRIAL H'Di-t Idi.l.litil'lz
BALAMCE entries:
deferrals/accruals

The second category of adjusting entries is accruals. Prior to an accrual
adjustment, the revenue account (and the related asset account) or the
expense account (and the related liability account) are understated. Thus,
the adjusting entry for accruals will increase both a balance sheet and
an income statement account.

ADJUSTED
TRIAL
BALANCE

FIMANCIAL CLOSING PRET-CLOSING
STATEMENTS ENTRIES TRIAL BALARCE




Accrued Revenues

Revenues for services performed but not yet recorded at the statement
date are accrued revenues. Accrued revenues may accumulate (accrue)
with the passing of time, as in the case of interest revenue. These are
unrecorded because the earning of interest does not involve daily
transactions. Companies do not record interest revenue on a daily basis
because it is often impractical to do so. Accrued revenues also may result
from services that have been performed but not yet billed nor collected, as
in the case of commissions and fees. These may be unrecorded because
only a portion of the total service has been performed and the clients will
not be billed until the service has been completed.

Accrued Revenues

Revenue and receivable
are recorded for
unbifled services

Mowv. 10

Cash is received;
receivable is reduced

An adjusting entry records the receivable that exists at the balance sheet
date and the revenue for the services performed during the period. Prior to
adjustment, both assets and revenues are understated. As shown in
lllustration 3.13, an adjusting entry for accrued revenues results in an
increase (a debit) to an asset account and an increase (a credit) to a
revenue account.



|SRVEN NSV (o) W kN Adjusting entries for accrued revenues

Accrued Revenues

Asseat Revenue
Debit | Credit
Adjusting Adjusting
Entry (+) Entry (+)

t t

In October, Pioneer Advertising performed services worth $200 that were
not billed to clients on or before October 31. Because these services were
not billed, they were not recorded. The accrual of unrecorded service
revenue increases an asset account, Accounts Receivable. It also
increases owner's equity by increasing a revenue account, Service
Revenue, as shown in lllustration 3.14.

| SRR NN (o) R S Adjustment for accrued revenue

Basic The asset Accounts Receivable is increased $200; the revenue Service
Analysiz Revenue is increased $200.
= Assets = Liabilities * Owner's Equity
Equarticn Accounts
.Fma]}*sis Receivable Service Revenue
+ 5200 +$200
Debit—Credit Diebits increase assets: debit Accounts Receivable $200.
Analysis Credits increase revenues: credit Servies Revenue $200.
! j,uma; Oct. 31| Accounrs Recaivable iz 200
E!'I‘U'}f Service Revenue 400 200
N (Te record revenue for services
performed)
Accounts Receivable 2 Service Revenue 400
Oce 31 Adj. 200 Crce. 31 160,000
Posting 31 400
31 Adj. 100
Oct. 31 Bal. 200 Oct. 31 Bal. 10,500

The asset Accounts Receivable shows that clients owe Pioneer $200 at the
balance sheet date. The balance of $10,600 in Service Revenue
represents the total revenue for services performed by Pioneer during the
month ($10,000 + $400 + $200). Without the adjusting entry, assets and
owner's equity on the balance sheet and revenues and net income on
the income statement are understated.



On November 10, Pioneer receives cash of $200 for the services
performed in October and makes the following entry.

Nov. 10 Cash 200
Accounts Receivable 200
(To record cash collected on account)

e

Equation analyses summarize the effects of transactions on the

three elements of the accounting equation, as well as the effect on
cash flows.

_
= 2(W)
_zm

Cash Flows
+ 2(H} =
.l

.

J

The company records the collection of the receivables by a debit (increase)
to Cash and a credit (decrease) to Accounts Receivable.

lllustration 3.15 summarizes the accounting for accrued revenues.

| SRR RN (o) N N Accounting for accrued revenues

Accounting for Accrued Revenues

Examples Reason for Adjustment Accounts Before Adjusting

Adjustment Entry
Inter_est, rent, Services_, performed but not Assets Dr. Assets
services yet received in cash or understated
recorded. ' Cr.
Revenues Revenues
understated.

Accrued Expenses

Expenses incurred but not yet paid or recorded at the statement date are
called accrued expenses. Interest, taxes, and salaries are common
examples of accrued expenses.

Companies make adjustments for accrued expenses to record the
obligations that exist at the balance sheet date and to recognize the
expenses that apply to the current accounting period (see Ethics Note).



Prior to adjustment, both liabilities and expenses are understated.
Therefore, as lllustration 3.16 shows, an adjusting entry for accrued
expenses results in an increase (a debit) to an expense account and
an increase (a credit) to a liability account.

'd N\

ETHICS NOTE

A report released by Fannie Mae's board of directors stated that
improper adjusting entries at the mortgage-finance company
resulted in delayed recognition of expenses caused by interest
rate changes. The motivation for such accounting apparently was
the desire to hit earnings estimates.

- J

| SRR VNI o) B [C8 Adjusting entries for accrued expenses

Accrued Expenses

Expense Liability
Debit | | Credit
Adjusting | Adjusting
Entry (+) | Entry (+)

| 1

Let's look in more detail at some specific types of accrued expenses,
beginning with accrued interest.

Accrued Interest

Pioneer Advertising signed a three-month note payable in the amount of
$5,000 on October 1. The note requires Pioneer to pay interest at an
annual rate of 12%.

The amount of the interest recorded is determined by three factors: (1) the
face value of the note; (2) the interest rate, which is always expressed as
an annual rate; and (3) the length of time the note is outstanding. For
Pioneer, the total interest due on the $5,000 note at its maturity date three

months in the future is $150 ($5,000 x 12% x ), or $50 for one

month. lllustration 3.17 shows the formula for computing interest and its
application to Pioneer for the month of October (see Helpful Hint).



HELPFUL HINT

In computing interest, we express the time period as a fraction of
a year.

| MRS NNI (o) N VA Formula for computing interest

Face Value of x Annual Interest x Time in Terms of = Interest
Note Rate One Year
$5,000 X 12% X 1_12 = $50

As lllustration 3.18 shows, the accrual of interest at October 31 increases
a liability account, Interest Payable. It also decreases owner's equity by
increasing an expense account, Interest Expense.

| MRVEY vV o) N Il Adjustment for accrued interest

Basic The expense Interest Expense is increased $50; the liabilicy Interest
Amnalysis Payable is increased $50:
o Assets = Liabilities + Owner's Equity
mml': Interest Payable Interest Expense
e = T
Debit-Credit Drebits increase expenses: debit Interest Expense $50.
Analysks [Crediu increase liabilities: credit Interest Payable $50.
jﬁﬂmal Oce. 31| Interest Expense 905 . 50
Egm-? Interest Payable 230 50
{Te record interast an notes
payabdle)
Interest Expense 905 Interest Payable 230
Posting Oet. 31 Ad]. 50 Oee 3 Adj. 50
Oer. 31 Bal: 50 Oiex 31 Bal, 50

Interest Expense shows the interest charges for the month of October.
Interest Payable shows the amount of interest the company owes at the
statement date. Pioneer will not pay the interest until the note comes due
at the end of three months. Companies use the Interest Payable account,
instead of crediting Notes Payable, to disclose the two different types of
obligations—interest and principal—in the accounts and statements.
Without this adjusting entry, liabilities and interest expense are
understated, and net income and owner's equity are overstated.



Accrued Salaries and Wages

Companies pay for some types of expenses, such as employee salaries
and wages, after the services have been performed. Pioneer Advertising
paid salaries and wages on October 26 for its employees' first two weeks
of work. The next payment of salaries will not occur until November 9. As

lllustration 3.19 shows, three working days remain in October (October
29-31).

(MR V(o) I Il Calendar showing Pioneer's pay periods

October MNovember
§ M TuWTh E 5 S M TuWTh E S5
I 2 3 4 §5 & I 2 3
F 8 9 10 11 12 13 4 5 & 7 8 pe2 10
Start of 4 15 16 17 18 19 20 112 13 14 15|16 17
pay period

21 22 23 24 25 6 27 18 19 20 21 22123 24

28 29 .30 3| 25 26 27 8 29|30

Adjustment period Payday Payday

At October 31, the salaries and wages for these three days represent an
accrued expense and a related liability to Pioneer. The employees receive
total salaries and wages of $2,000 for a five-day work week, or $400 per
day. Thus, accrued salaries and wages at October 31 are $1,200 ($400 x
3). This accrual increases a liability, Salaries and Wages Payable. It also
decreases owner's equity by increasing an expense account, Salaries and
Wages Expense, as shown in lllustration 3.20.



|SRER V(o) |8 Adjustment for accrued salaries and wages

Basic The axpense Salaries and Wages Expense is increased $1,200; the liabilicy
Analysis Salaries and YVages Payable is increased $1,200.
- Assets = Liabilities * Owner's Equity
Equation Salaries and YWages Pagabl Salaries and Wages E
Aﬂﬂj}l‘gi& S TN JEET. Wabe A FPES AR .'lgﬂ! KFMI'\!.E
+81,200 £1,200
Debit-Credit Debits increase expenses: debit Salaries and Vvages Expense $1,200.
Analysis [Credits increase liabilities: credit Salaries and VWages Payable $1,200.
Journal Ocr 31| Salaries and Wages Expense 726 1,200 ]
Entry Salaries and Wages Payable il 1,200
4 {To record accrued salaries
and wages)
Salaries and Yvages Expense 126 Sakaries and Yvages Payable 212
T O 26 4,000 Cee 31 Adj. 1,200
Posting 31 Adj. 1,200
Oce. 31 Bal.. 5200 e 31 Bal. . 1,200

After this adjustment, the balance in Salaries and Wages Expense of
$5,200 (13 days x $400) is the actual salary and wages expense for
October. The balance in Salaries and Wages Payable of $1,200 is the
amount of the liability for salaries and wages Pioneer owes as of October
31. Without the $1,200 adjustment for salaries and wages, Pioneer's
expenses are understated $1,200 and its liabilities are understated
$1,200.

Pioneer pays salaries and wages every two weeks. Consequently, the next
payday is November 9, when the company will again pay total salaries and
wages of $4,000. The payment consists of $1,200 of salaries and wages
payable at October 31 plus $2,800 of salaries and wages expense for
November (7 working days, as shown in the November calendar x $400).
Therefore, Pioneer makes the following entry on November 9.

Nov. 9 Salaries and Wages Payable 1,200
Salaries and Wages Expense 2,800
Cash 4,000

(To record November 9 payroll)



r a
- T - T
= 1,200
—2.800
~ 4,000

Cash Flows %

4,000 =
\ v

This entry eliminates the liability for Salaries and Wages Payable that
Pioneer recorded in the October 31 adjusting entry, and it records the

proper amount of Salaries and Wages Expense for the period between
November 1 and November 9.

lllustration 3.21 summarizes the accounting for accrued expenses.

|NRVER NV (o) AN Accounting for accrued expenses

Examples Reason for Adjustment Accounts Adjusting
Before Entry
Adjustment
Intergst, rent, _Expenses have been . Expenses Dr.
salaries incurred but not yet paid in understated. Expenses
cash or recorded.
Liabilities Cr.

understated. Liabilities



People, Planet, and Profit Insight

Got Junk?

& Matran Gleavei3ockphoto

Do you have an old computer or two that you no longer use? How
about an old TV that needs replacing? Many people do. Approximately
163,000 computers and televisions become obsolete each day. Yet, in
a recent year, only 11% of computers were recycled. It is estimated that
75% of all computers ever sold are sitting in storage somewhere,
waiting to be disposed of. Each of these old TVs and computers is
loaded with lead, cadmium, mercury, and other toxic chemicals. If you
have one of these electronic gadgets, you have a responsibility, and a
probable cost, for disposing of it. Companies have the same problem,
but their discarded materials may include lead paint, asbestos, and
other toxic chemicals.

What accounting issue might this cause for companies? (Go to
WileyPLUS for this answer and additional questions.)

- J

Summary of Basic Relationships

lllustration 3.22 summarizes the four basic types of adjusting entries. Take
some time to study and analyze the adjusting entries. Be sure to note that
each adjusting entry affects one balance sheet account and one
income statement account.



|MRER VN (o) Il ¥ B Summary of adjusting entries

Prepaid expenses Assets overstated. Dr. Expenses
Expenses understated. Cr. Assets or
Contra Assets

Unearned revenues | ..iiiios overstated. Dr. Liabilities
Revenues understated. Cr. Revenues

Accrued revenues Assets understated. Dr. Assets
Revenues understated. Cr. Revenues

Accrued expenses Expenses understated. Dr. Expenses
Liabilities understated. Cr. Liabilities

lllustrations 3.23 and 3.24 show the journalizing and posting of adjusting
entries for Pioneer Advertising on October 31. The ledger identifies all
adjustments by the reference J2 because they have been recorded on
page 2 of the general journal. The company may insert a center caption
“Adjusting Entries” between the last transaction entry and the first adjusting
entry in the journal. When you review the general ledger in lllustration 3.24,
note that the entries highlighted in red are the adjustments.




(SRR o) RN General journal showing adjusting entries
GENERAL JOURNAL

Date Account Titles and Explanation Ref. Debit Credit
2020 Adjusting Entries
Oct. Supplies Expense 631 1,500
31
Supplies 126 1,500
(To record supplies used)
31 Insurance Expense 722 50
Prepaid Insurance 130 50
(To record insurance expired)
31 Depreciation Expense 711 40
Accumulated Depreciation—Equipment 158 40
(To record monthly depreciation)
31 Unearned Service Revenue 209
400
Service Revenue 400 400
(To record revenue for services
performed)
31 Accounts Receivable 112
200
Service Revenue 400 200
(To record revenue for services
performed)
31 Interest Expense 905 50
Interest Payable 230 50
(To record interest on notes payable)
31 Salaries and Wages Expense 726 1,200
Salaries and Wages Payable 212 1,200

(To record accrued salaries and wages)



(1) Adjusting entries should not involve debits or credits to
Cash.

(2) Evaluate whether the adjustment makes sense. For
example, an adjustment to recognize supplies used should
increase Supplies Expense.

(3) Double-check all computations.

(4) Each adjusting entry affects one balance sheet account and
one income statement account.




SRR NN (o) W28 General ledger after adjustment

Cash No. 101

Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
2020

Oct. 1 J1 10,000 10,000

2 J1 1,200 11,200

3 J1 900 10,300

4 J1 600 9,700

20 J1 500 9,200

26 J1 4,000 5,200

31 J1 10,000 15,200

Accounts Receivable No. 112

Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
2020

Oct. 31 Adj.entry | J2 | 200 200

Supplies No. 126

Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
2020

Oct. 5 J1 2,500 2,500

31 Adj.entry | J2 1,500 1,000

Prepaid Insurance No. 130

Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
2020

Oct. 4 J1 600 600

31 Adj.entry | J2 50 550

Equipment No. 157

Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
2020

Oct. 1 J1 5,000 5,000

Accumulated Depreciation—Equipment No. 158



GENERAL LEDGER

Cash No. 101

Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
2020

Oct. 31 Adj.entry | J2 40 40

Notes Payable No. 200

Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
2020

Oct. 1 J1 5,000 5,000

Accounts Payable No. 201

Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
2020

Oct. 5 J1 2,500 2,500

Unearned Service Revenue No. 209

Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
2020

Oct. 2 J1 1,200 1,200
31 Adj.entry J2 | 400 800
Salaries and Wages Payable No. 212

Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance

2020

Oct. 31 Adj.entry @ J2 1,200 1,200
Interest Payable No. 230

Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance

2020

Oct. 31 Adj.entry | J2 50 50
Owner's Capital No. 301

Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance

2020

Oct. 1 J1 10,000 10,000
Owner's Drawings No. 306



GENERAL LEDGER

Cash No. 101

Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
2020

Oct. 20 J1 500 500

Service Revenue No. 400

Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
2020

Oct. 31 J1 10,000 10,000
31 |Adj. entry | J2 400 10,400

31 Adj. entry | J2 200 10,600
Supplies Expense No. 631

Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
2020

Oct. 31 Adj.entry  J2 1,500 1,500

Depreciation Expense No. 711

Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
2020

Oct. 31 Adj.entry | J2 40 40

Insurance Expense No. 722

Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
2020

Oct. 31 Adj.entry | J2 50 50

Salaries and Wages Expense No. 726

Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
2020

Oct. 26 J1 4,000 4,000
31 Adj.entry  J2 1,200 5,200
Rent Expense No. 729

Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
2020



GENERAL LEDGER

Cash No. 101
Oct. 3 J1 900 900
Interest Expense No. 905

Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
2020

Oct. 31 Adj.entry J2 50 50



DO IT! 3 | Adjusting Entries for Accruals

Micro Computer Services began operations on August 1, 2020. At the
end of August 2020, management prepares monthly financial
statements. The following information relates to August.

1. At August 31, the company owed its employees $800 in salaries
and wages that will be paid on September 1.

2. On August 1, the company borrowed $30,000 from a local bank
on a 15-year mortgage. The annual interest rate is 10%.

3. Revenue for services performed but unrecorded for August
totaled $1,100.

Prepare the adjusting entries needed at August 31, 2020.

e

ACTION PLAN

» Make adjusting entries at the end of the period to recognize
revenues for services performed and for expenses incurred.

» Don't forget to make adjusting entries for accruals. Adjusting
entries for accruals will increase both a balance sheet and an

income statement account.




Solution

1. Salaries and Wages Expense 800
Salaries and Wages Payable 800
(To record accrued salaries)
2. Interest Expense 250
Interest Payable 250

(To record accrued interest:
$30,000 x 10% x <5 = $250)
3. Accounts Receivable 1,100
Service Revenue 1,100
(To record revenue for services performed)

and E3.9.

Adjusted Trial Balance and Financial Statements

LEARNING OBJECTIVE 4

Describe the nature and purpose of an adjusted trial balance.

s S E Adjusted Frepare JOURNALIZE AND PREPARE A
ANALYZE JOURNALIZE POST trial financial FOSTCLOSIHG POST-CLOSING

ENTR
R ANGE == balance J statements EMTRIES TRIAL BALAMCE

After a company has journalized and posted all adjusting entries, it
prepares another trial balance from the ledger accounts. This trial balance
is called an adjusted trial balance. It shows the balances of all accounts,
including those adjusted, at the end of the accounting period. The purpose
of an adjusted trial balance is to prove the equality of the total debit
balances and the total credit balances in the ledger after all adjustments.
Because the accounts contain all data needed for financial statements, the



adjusted trial balance is the primary basis for the preparation of
financial statements.

Preparing the Adjusted Trial Balance

lllustration 3.25 presents the adjusted trial balance for Pioneer Advertising
prepared from the ledger accounts in [llustration 3.24. The amounts
affected by the adjusting entries are highlighted in red. Compare these
amounts to those in the unadjusted trial balance in lllustration 3.3. In this
comparison, you will see that there are more accounts in the adjusted trial
balance as a result of the adjusting entries made at the end of the month.
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Pioneer Advertising
Adjusted Trial Balance
October 31, 2020

Debit Credit
Cash $15,200
Accounts Receivable 200
Supplies 1,000
Prepaid Insurance 550
Equipment 5,000
Accumulated Depreciation—Equipment $ 40
Notes Payable 5,000
Accounts Payable 2,500
Interest Payable 50
Unearned Service Revenue 800
Salaries and Wages Payable 1,200
Owner's Capital 10,000
Owner's Drawings 500
Service Revenue 10,600
Salaries and Wages Expense 5,200
Supplies Expense 1,500
Rent Expense 900
Insurance Expense 50
Interest Expense 50
Depreciation Expense 40

$30,190 $30,190

Preparing Financial Statements

Companies can prepare financial statements directly from the
adjusted trial balance. lllustrations 3.26 and 3.27 present the
interrelationships of data in the adjusted trial balance and the financial
statements.



ILLUSTRATION xWi{¥ Preparation of the income statement and
ent from the adjusted trial balance

Pioneer Advertising
Adjusted Trial Balance
October 31, 2020
Account Debit  Credit

Cash $15,200
Accounts Receivable 200
Supplies 1,000
Prepaid Insurance 550
Equipment ) 3,000
Accumulated Depreciation—

Equipment § 40
Notes Payvable 5K
Accounts Payable 2500
Uneammed Service Revenue H00
Salaries and Wages Payalde 1,200
Interest Payable 50

= Ohwner's Capital 10,000
= Chwer's Deawings SiM

Service Revenue 600
Salaries and Wages Expense 5,200
Supplies Expense 1,500
Hent Expense S0
Insurance Expense 50
Interest Expense 50
Depreciation Expense 40
30,190




|SRVEN IV o)\ Wi d Preparation of the balance sheet from the

Foncer Advertising
Adjusted Trial Balance
October 31, 2020
Account Debit  Credit
Cash §15.200
Accounts Keceivable 204
Supplies 1,000
Prepaid Insurance 5540
Equii poeint 5,000
Accumulated Depreciation— -
Equipment E§ W
Notes Payable 5,060
Accounts Fayable 2500
Unearned Service Hevenue B
Salaries and Wages Payable 1.200
Interest Payable 50 &
Owner's Capital 10,000
Owner's Drawings 500
Service Revenue 106
Salaries and Wages Expunse 5200
Supplics Expense 1500
Rent Expense EL L
Insurance Expense 50
Interest Expense 30
Depreciation Expense A0
S301W) 530,190
p——rrr—ri

As lllustration 3.26 shows, companies prepare the income statement from
the revenue and expense accounts. Next, they use the owner's capital and
drawings accounts and the net income (or net loss) from the income
statement to prepare the owner's equity statement.

As lllustration 3.27 shows, companies then prepare the balance sheet from
the asset and liability accounts and the ending owner's capital balance as
reported in the owner's equity statement.



DO IT! 4 | Trial Balance

Skolnick Co. was organized on April 1, 2020. The company prepares
quarterly financial statements. The adjusted trial balance amounts at
June 30 are shown below.

Debit Credit

Cash $ 6,700 Accumulated Depreciation $ 850

—Equipment
Accounts Receivable 600 Notes Payable 5,000
Prepaid Rent 900 Accounts Payable 1,510
Supplies 1,000 Salaries and Wages 400

Payable
Equipment 15,000 Interest Payable 50
Owner's Drawings 600 Unearned Rent Revenue 500
Salaries and Wages 9,400 Owner's Capital 14,000
Expense
Rent Expense 1,500 Service Revenue 14,200
Depreciation Expense 850 Rent Revenue 800
Supplies Expense 200
Utilities Expense 510
Interest Expense 50

$37,310 $37,310

a. Determine the net income for the quarter April 1 to June 30.

b. Determine the total assets and total liabilities at June 30, 2020,
for Skolnick Co.

c. Determine the amount of owner's capital at June 30, 2020.




ACTION PLAN

* In an adjusted trial balance, all asset, liability, revenue, and
expense accounts are properly stated.

» To determine the ending balance in Owner's Capital, add net
income and subtract dividends.

-

Solution

a. The net income is determined by adding revenues and
subtracting expenses. The net income is computed as follows.

Revenues
Service revenue $14,200
Rent revenue 800
Total revenues $15,000
Expenses
Salaries and wages expense 9,400
Rent expense 1,500
Depreciation expense 850
Utilities expense 510
Supplies expense 200
Interest expense 50
Total expenses 12,510
Net income $ 2,490

b. Total assets and liabilities are computed as follows.




Assets Liabilities

Cash $ 6,700 Notes payable $5,000

Accounts receivable 600 Accounts 1,510
payable

Supplies 1,000 Unearned rent 500
revenue

Prepaid rent 900 Salaries and 400
wages payable

Equipment $15,000 Interest payable 50

Less: Accumulated 850 14,150 _

depreciation—

equipment

Total assets $23,350 Total liabilities  $7,460

C.

Owner's capital, April 1 $ 0

Add: Investments 14,000
Net income 2,490
Less: Owner's drawings 600

Owner's capital, June 30 $15,890
Related exercise material: BE3.9, BE3.10, DO IT! 3.4, and E3.11.

Appendix 3.A Alternative Treatment of Deferrals

LEARNING OBJECTIVE *5

Prepare adjusting entries for the alternative treatment of deferrals.

In discussing adjusting entries for prepaid expenses and unearned
revenues, we illustrated transactions for which companies made the initial
entries to balance sheet accounts. In the case of prepaid expenses, the



company debited the prepayment to an asset account. In the case of
unearned revenue, the company credited a liability account to record the
cash received.

Some companies use an alternative treatment. (1) When a company
prepays an expense, it debits that amount to an expense account. (2)
When it receives payment for future services, it credits the amount to a
revenue account. In this appendix, we describe the circumstances that
justify such entries and the different adjusting entries that may be required.
This alternative treatment of prepaid expenses and unearned revenues
has the same effect on the financial statements as the procedures
described in the chapter.

Prepaid Expenses

Prepaid expenses become expired costs either through the passage of
time (e.g., insurance) or through consumption (e.g., advertising supplies). If
at the time of purchase the company expects to consume the supplies
before the next financial statement date, it may choose to debit
(increase) an expense account rather than an asset account. This
alternative treatment is simply more convenient.

Assume that Pioneer Advertising expects that it will use before the end of
the month all of the supplies purchased on October 5. A debit of $2,500 to
Supplies Expense (rather than to the asset account Supplies) on October 5
will eliminate the need for an adjusting entry on October 31. At October 31,
the Supplies Expense account will show a balance of $2,500, which is the
cost of supplies used between October 5 and October 31.

But what if the company does not use all the supplies? For example, what
if an inventory of $1,000 of advertising supplies remains on October 317?
Obviously, the company would need to make an adjusting entry. Prior to
adjustment, the expense account Supplies Expense is overstated $1,000,
and the asset account Supplies is understated $1,000. Thus, Pioneer
makes the following adjusting entry.

Oct. 31 Supplies 1,000
Supplies Expense 1,000
(To record supplies inventory)
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lllustration 3A.1 shows the accounts after the company posts the
adjusting entry.

|BRFENvNi (o) T-W I Prepaid expenses accounts after adjustment

Supplies Supplies Expense
10/31 Adj. 1,000 10/5 2,500 10/31 Adj. 1,000

10/31 Bal. 1,500

After adjustment, the asset account Supplies shows a balance of $1,000,
which is equal to the cost of supplies on hand at October 31. In addition,
Supplies Expense shows a balance of $1,500. This is equal to the cost of
supplies used between October 5 and October 31. Without the adjusting
entry, expenses are overstated and net income is understated by $1,000 in
the October income statement. Also, both assets and owner's equity are
understated by $1,000 on the October 31 balance sheet.

lllustration 3A.2 compares the entries and accounts for advertising
supplies in the two adjustment approaches.

|MEFE NN o) 7-WA Adjustment approaches—a comparison

Prepayment Initially Prepayment Initially
Debited to Asset Account Debited to Expense Account
(per chapter) (per appendix)
Oct. 5 Supplies 2,500 Oct. 5 Supplies 2,500
Expense
Accounts 2,500 Accounts 2,500
Payable Payable
Oct. Supplies 1,500 Oct.  Supplies 1,000
31 Expense 31
Supplies 1,500 Supplies 1,000
Expense

After Pioneer posts the entries, the accounts appear as shown in
lllustration 3A.3.



|MEPENvNi (o) ). W W Comparison of accounts

(Rer chapter) (rer appendix)
Supplies Supplies
10/5 2,500 10/31 Adj. 1,500 10/31 Adj. 1,000
10/31 Bal. 1,000
Supplies Expense Supplies Expense
10/31 Adj. 1,500 10/5 2,500 10/31 Adj. 1,000

10/31 Bal. 1,500

Note that the account balances under each alternative are the same at
October 31: Supplies $1,000 and Supplies Expense $1,500.

Unearned Revenues

Unearned revenues are recognized as revenue at the time services are
performed. Similar to the case for prepaid expenses, companies may credit
(increase) a revenue account when they receive cash for future services.

To illustrate, assume that Pioneer Advertising received $1,200 for future
services on October 2. Pioneer expects to perform the services before

October 31.] In such a case, the company credits Service Revenue. If
Pioneer in fact performs the service before October 31, no adjustment is
needed.

However, if at the statement date Pioneer has not performed $800 of the
services, it would make an adjusting entry (see Helpful Hint). Without the
entry, the revenue account Service Revenue is overstated $800, and the
liability account Unearned Service Revenue is understated $800. Thus,
Pioneer makes the following adjusting entry.

HELPFUL HINT

The required adjusted balances here are Service Revenue $400
and Unearned Service Revenue $800.

Oct. 31 Service Revenue 800
Unearned Service Revenue 800
(To record unearned service revenue)
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lllustration 3A.4 shows the accounts after Pioneer posts the adjusting
entry.

IR RVENE YN [e] ). W: N Unearned service revenue accounts after
dUiU e

Unearned Service Revenue Service Revenue
10/31 Adj. 800 10/31 Ad|. 800 10/2 1,200
10/31 Bal. 400

The liability account Unearned Service Revenue shows a balance of $800.
This equals the services that will be performed in the future. In addition, the
balance in Service Revenue equals the services performed in October.
Without the adjusting entry, both revenues and net income are overstated
by $800 in the October income statement. Also, liabilities are understated
by $800 and owner's equity is overstated by $800 on the October 31
balance sheet.

lllustration 3A.5 compares the entries and accounts for initially recording
unearned service revenue in (1) a liability account or (2) a revenue
account.



| MR IRV:N (0] BTV Adjustment approaches—a comparison

Unearned Service Revenue Unearned Service Revenue
Initially Credited to Liability Initially Credited to Revenue
Account Account

(per chapter) (per appendix)
Oct. 2 Cash 1,200 Oct. 2 Cash 1,200
Unearned Service 1,200
Service Revenue
Revenue 1,200
Oct. Unearned Oct. Service 800
31 Service 31 Revenue
Revenue 400 Unearned
Service
Service 400 Revenue 800
Revenue

After Pioneer posts the entries, the accounts appear as shown in
lllustration 3A.6.

|MEFENvNI (o) V- W:W Comparison of accounts

(per chapter) (per appendix)
Unearned Service Revenue Unearned Service Revenue
10/31 Adj. 400 10/2 1,200 10/31 Adj. 800

10/31 Bal. 800
Service Revenue Service Revenue
10/31 Adj. 400 10/31 Adj. 800 10/2 1,200

10/31 Bal. 400

Note that the balances in the accounts are the same under the two
alternatives: Unearned Service Revenue $800 and Service Revenue $400.

Summary of Additional Adjustment Relationships

lllustration 3A.7 provides a summary of basic relationships for deferrals.



| MRVER VNI (0)\ BT-WA Summary of basic relationships for deferrals

Type of Reason for Adjustment Account Adjusting
Adjustment Balances before Entry
Adjustment
1. Prepaid (a) Prepaid expenses Assets Dr.
expenses initially recorded in overstated. Expenses
asset accounts have Expenses Cr.
been used. understated. Assets
(b) Prepaid expenses Assets Dr. Assets
initially recorded in understated.
expense accounts Expenses Cr.
have not been used. ,yerstated. Expenses
2. Unearned (a) Unearned revenues Liabilities Dr.
revenues initially recorded in overstated. Liabilities

liability accounts are

now recognized as Re(\j/enues g R Cr.

revenue. understated. evenues
(b)/Unearned revenues Liabilities Dr.

initially recorded in understated. Revenues

revenue accounts are |Revenues Cr.

still unearned. overstated. Liabilities

Alternative adjusting entries do not apply to accrued revenues and
accrued expenses because no entries occur before companies make
these types of adjusting entries.

Appendix 3.B Financial Reporting Concepts

LEARNING OBJECTIVE *6

Discuss financial reporting concepts.

This appendix provides a summary of the concepts in action used in this
textbook. In addition, it provides other useful concepts which accountants



use as a basis for recording and reporting financial information.

Qualities of Useful Information

Recently, the FASB completed the first phase of a project in which it
developed a conceptual framework to serve as the basis for future
accounting standards. The framework begins by stating that the primary
objective of financial reporting is to provide financial information that is
useful to investors and creditors for making decisions about providing
capital. Useful information should possess two fundamental qualities,
relevance and faithful representation, as shown in lllustration 3B.1.

|MEFE NN (o) '] =N Fundamental qualities of useful information

.- Relevance Accounting information has relevance if it would make a

~ difference in a business decision. Information is considered relevant if it
provides information that has predictive value, that is, helps provide
accurate expectations about the future, and has confirmatory value,
that is, confirms or corrects prior expectations. Materiality is a
company-specific aspect of relevance. An item is material when its size
makes it likely to influence the decision of an investor or creditor.

a Faithful Representation Faithful representation means that
information accurately depicts what really happened. To provide a
faithful representation, information must be complete (nothing
important has been omitted), neutral (is not biased toward one position
or another), and free from error.

Enhancing Qualities

In addition to the two fundamental qualities, the FASB also describes a
number of enhancing qualities of useful information. These include
comparability, consistency, verifiability, timeliness, and
understandability. In accounting, comparability results when different
companies use the same accounting principles. Another type of
comparability is consistency. Consistency means that a company uses the
same accounting principles and methods from year to year. Information is
verifiable if independent observers, using the same methods, obtain
similar results. For accounting information to have relevance, it must be
timely. That is, it must be available to decision-makers before it loses its



capacity to influence decisions. For example, public companies like
Google or Best Buy provide their annual reports to investors within 60
days of their year-end. Information has the quality of understandability if it
is presented in a clear and concise fashion, so that reasonably informed
users of that information can interpret it and comprehend its meaning.

Assumptions in Financial Reporting

To develop accounting standards, the FASB relies on some key
assumptions, as shown in lllustration 3B.2. These include assumptions
about the monetary unit, economic entity, time period, and going concern.

| SRV VN (0)\ ] - Key assumptions in financial reporting

- Monetary Unit Assumption The monetary unit assumption requires
that only those things that can be expressed in money are included in
the accounting records. This means that certain important information
needed by investors, creditors, and managers, such as customer
satisfaction, is not reported in the financial statements. This
assumption relies on the monetary unit remaining relatively stable in
value.

Economic Entity Assumption The economic entity assumption
states that every economic entity can be separately identified and
accounted for. In order to assess a company's performance and
financial position accurately, it is important to not blur company
transactions with personal transactions (especially those of its
managers) or transactions of other companies.

431

. Time Period Assumption Notice that the income statement, retained
earnings statement, and statement of cash flows all cover periods of
one year, and the balance sheet is prepared at the end of each year.
The time period assumption states that the life of a business can be
divided into artificial time periods and that useful reports covering
those periods can be prepared for the business.

Going Concern Assumption The going concern assumption states
that the business will remain in operation for the foreseeable future. Of
course, many businesses do fail, but in general it is reasonable to
assume that the business will continue operating.



Principles in Financial Reporting

Measurement Principles

GAAP generally uses one of two measurement principles, the historical
cost principle or the fair value principle. Selection of which principle to
follow generally relates to trade-offs between relevance and faithful
representation.

Historical Cost Principle.

The historical cost principle (or cost principle, discussed in Chapter 1)
dictates that companies record assets at their cost. This is true not only at
the time the asset is purchased but also over the time the asset is held. For
example, if land that was purchased for $30,000 increases in value to
$40,000, it continues to be reported at $30,000.

Fair Value Principle.

The fair value principle (discussed in Chapter 1) indicates that assets and
liabilities should be reported at fair value (the price received to sell an
asset or settle a liability). Fair value information may be more useful than
historical cost for certain types of assets and liabilities. For example,
certain investment securities are reported at fair value because market
price information is often readily available for these types of assets. In
choosing between cost and fair value, two qualities that make accounting
information useful for decision-making are used—relevance and faithful
representation. In determining which measurement principle to use, the
factual nature of cost figures are weighed versus the relevance of fair
value. In general, most assets follow the historical cost principle because
fair values may not be representationally faithful. Only in situations where
assets are actively traded, such as investment securities, is the fair value
principle applied.

Revenue Recognition Principle

The revenue recognition principle requires that companies recognize
revenue in the accounting period in which the performance obligation is
satisfied. As discussed earlier in the chapter, in a service company,
revenue is recognized at the time the service is performed. In a
merchandising company, the performance obligation is generally satisfied



when the goods transfer from the seller to the buyer (discussed in Chapter
5). At this point, the sales transaction is complete and the sales price
established.

Expense Recognition Principle

The expense recognition principle (discussed earlier in the chapter)
dictates that companies recognize expense in the period in which they
make efforts to generate revenue. Thus, expenses follow revenues.

Full Disclosure Principle

The full disclosure principle (discussed in Chapter 11) requires that
companies disclose all circumstances and events that would make a
difference to financial statement users. If an important item cannot
reasonably be reported directly in one of the four types of financial
statements, then it should be discussed in notes that accompany the
statements.

Cost Constraint

Providing information is costly. In deciding whether companies should be
required to provide a certain type of information, accounting standard-
setters consider the cost constraint. It weighs the cost that companies will
incur to provide the information against the benefit that financial statement
users will gain from having the information available.
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Review and Practice

Learning Objectives Review
1 Explain the accrual basis of accounting and the reasons for
adjusting entries.

The time period assumption assumes that the economic life of a
business is divided into artificial time periods. Accrual-basis accounting



means that companies record events that change a company's financial
statements in the periods in which those events occur, rather than in
the periods in which the company receives or pays cash.

Companies make adjusting entries at the end of an accounting period.
Such entries ensure that companies recognize revenues in the period
in which the performance obligation is satisfied and recognize
expenses in the period in which they are incurred. The major types of
adjusting entries are deferrals (prepaid expenses and unearned
revenues) and accruals (accrued revenues and accrued expenses).

2 Prepare adjusting entries for deferrals.

Deferrals are either prepaid expenses or unearned revenues.
Companies make adjusting entries for deferrals to record the portion of
the prepayment that represents the expense incurred or the revenue for
services performed in the current accounting period.

3 Prepare adjusting entries for accruals.

Accruals are either accrued revenues or accrued expenses. Companies
make adjusting entries for accruals to record revenues for services
performed and expenses incurred in the current accounting period that
have not been recognized through daily entries.

4 Describe the nature and purpose of an adjusted trial balance.

An adjusted trial balance shows the balances of all accounts, including
those that have been adjusted, at the end of an accounting period. Its
purpose is to prove the equality of the total debit balances and total
credit balances in the ledger after all adjustments.

*5 Prepare adjusting entries for the alternative treatment of
deferrals.

Companies may initially debit prepayments to an expense account.
Likewise, they may credit unearned revenues to a revenue account. At
the end of the period, these accounts may be overstated. The adjusting
entries for prepaid expenses are a debit to an asset account and a
credit to an expense account. Adjusting entries for unearned revenues
are a debit to a revenue account and a credit to a liability account.

*6 Discuss financial reporting concepts.

To be judged useful, information should have the primary
characteristics of relevance and faithful representation. In addition, it



should be comparable, consistent, verifiable, timely, and
understandable.

The monetary unit assumption requires that companies include in the
accounting records only transaction data that can be expressed in
terms of money. The economic entity assumption states that
economic events can be identified with a particular unit of
accountability. The time period assumption states that the economic
life of a business can be divided into artificial time periods and that
meaningful accounting reports can be prepared for each period. The
going concern assumption states that the company will continue in
operation long enough to carry out its existing objectives and
commitments.

The historical cost principle states that companies should record
assets at their cost. The fair value principle indicates that assets and
liabilities should be reported at fair value. The revenue recognition
principle requires that companies recognize revenue in the accounting
period in which the performance obligation is satisfied. The expense
recognition principle dictates that efforts (expenses) be matched with
results (revenues). The full disclosure principle requires that
companies disclose circumstances and events that matter to financial
statement users.

The cost constraint weighs the cost that companies incur to provide a
type of information against its benefits to financial statement users.

Glossary Review

Accruals Adjusting entries for either accrued revenues or accrued
expenses.

Accrual-basis accounting Accounting basis in which companies record
transactions that change a company's financial statements in the periods in
which the events occur.

Accrued expenses Expenses incurred but not yet paid in cash or
recorded.

Accrued revenues Revenues for services performed but not yet received
in cash or recorded.

Adjusted trial balance A list of accounts and their balances after the
company has made all adjustments.



Adjusting entries Entries made at the end of an accounting period to
ensure that companies follow the revenue recognition and expense
recognition principles.

Book value The difference between the cost of a depreciable asset and its
related accumulated depreciation.

Calendar year An accounting period that extends from January 1 to
December 31.

Cash-basis accounting Accounting basis in which companies record
revenue when they receive cash and an expense when they pay out cash.

*Comparability Ability to compare the accounting information of different
companies because they use the same accounting principles.

*Consistency Use of the same accounting principles and methods from
year to year within a company.

Contra asset account An account offset against an asset account on the
balance sheet.

*Cost constraint Constraint that weighs the cost that companies will incur
to provide the information against the benefit that financial statement users
will gain from having the information available.

Deferrals Adjusting entries for either prepaid expenses or unearned
revenues.

Depreciation The process of allocating the cost of an asset to expense
over its useful life.

*Economic entity assumption An assumption that every economic entity
can be separately identified and accounted for.

Expense recognition principle (matching principle) The principle that
companies recognize expense in the period in which they make efforts
(consume assets or incur liabilities) to generate revenue.

*Fair value principle Assets and liabilities should be reported at fair value
(the price received to sell an asset or settle a liability).

*Faithful representation Information that accurately depicts what really
happened.

Fiscal year An accounting period that is one year in length.

*Full disclosure principle Accounting principle that dictates that
companies disclose circumstances and events that make a difference to



financial statement users.

*Going concern assumption The assumption that the company will
continue in operation for the foreseeable future.

*Historical cost principle An accounting principle that states that
companies should record assets at their cost.

Interim periods Monthly or quarterly accounting time periods.

*Materiality A company-specific aspect of relevance. An item is material
when its size makes it likely to influence the decision of an investor or
creditor.

*Monetary unit assumption An assumption that requires that only those
things that can be expressed in money are included in the accounting
records.

Prepaid expenses (prepayments) Expenses paid in cash before they are
used or consumed.

*Relevance The quality of information that indicates the information makes
a difference in a decision.

Revenue recognition principle The principle that companies recognize
revenue in the accounting period in which the performance obligation is
satisfied.

*Timely Information that is available to decision-makers before it loses its
capacity to influence decisions.

Time period assumption An assumption that accountants can divide the
economic life of a business into artificial time periods.

*Understandability Information presented in a clear and concise fashion
so that users can interpret it and comprehend its meaning.

Unearned revenues A liability recorded for cash received before services
are performed.

Useful life The length of service of a long-lived asset.

*Verifiable The quality of information that occurs when independent
observers, using the same methods, obtain similar results.

Practice Multiple-Choice Questions

1. (LO 1) The revenue recognition principle states that:



a. revenue should be recognized in the accounting period in which a
performance obligation is satisfied.

b. expenses should be matched with revenues.

c. the economic life of a business can be divided into artificial time
periods.

d. the fiscal year should correspond with the calendar year.
2. (LO 1) The time period assumption states that:
a. companies must wait until the calendar year is completed to prepare
financial statements.

b. companies use the fiscal year to report financial information.

c. the economic life of a business can be divided into artificial time
periods.

d. companies record information in the time period in which the events
occur.

3. (LO 1) Which of the following statements about the accrual basis of
accounting is false?

a. Events that change a company's financial statements are recorded
in the periods in which the events occur.

b. Revenue is recognized in the period in which services are
performed.

c. This basis is in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles.

d. Revenue is recorded only when cash is received, and expense is
recorded only when cash is paid.

4. (LO 1) The principle or assumption dictating that efforts (expenses)
should be recognized in the period in which a company consumes assets
or incurs liabilities to generate revenue is the:

a. expense recognition principle.

b. cost assumption.

c. time period assumption.



d. revenue recognition principle.
5. (LO 1) Adjusting entries are made to ensure that:

a. expenses are recognized in the period in which they are incurred.

b. revenues are recorded in the period in which services are
performed.

c. balance sheet and income statement accounts have correct
balances at the end of an accounting period.

d. All the responses above are correct.
6. (LO 1) Each of the following is a major type (or category) of adjusting
entries except:

a. prepaid expenses.

b. accrued revenues.

c. accrued expenses.

d. recognized revenues.
7. (LO 2) The trial balance shows Supplies $1,350 and Supplies Expense

$0. If $600 of supplies are on hand at the end of the period, the adjusting
entry is:

a. Supplies 600
Supplies Expense 600
b. Supplies 750
Supplies Expense 750
C. Supplies Expense 750
Supplies 750
d. Supplies Expense 600
Supplies 600

8. (LO 2) Adjustments for prepaid expenses:

a. decrease assets and increase revenues.



b. decrease expenses and increase assets.
c. decrease assets and increase expenses.

d. decrease revenues and increase assets.
9. (LO 2) Accumulated Depreciation is:

a. a contra asset account.
b. an expense account.
c. an owner's equity account.
d. a liability account.
10. (LO 2) Rivera Company computes depreciation on delivery equipment

at $1,000 for the month of June. The adjusting entry to record this
depreciation is as follows.

a. Depreciation Expense 1,000
Accumulated Depreciation—Rivera Company 1,000
b. Depreciation Expense 1,000
Equipment 1,000
C. Depreciation Expense 1,000
Accumulated Depreciation—Equipment 1,000
d. Equipment Expense 1,000
Accumulated Depreciation—Equipment 1,000

11. (LO 2) Adjustments for unearned revenues:

a. decrease liabilities and increase revenues.
b. have an assets-and-revenues-account relationship.
C. increase assets and increase revenues.

d. decrease revenues and decrease assets.
12. (LO 3) Adjustments for accrued revenues:

a. have a liabilities-and-revenues-account relationship.



b. have an assets-and-revenues-account relationship.
c. decrease assets and revenues.
d. decrease liabilities and increase revenues.
13. (LO 3) Anika Wilson earned a salary of $400 for the last week of

September. She will be paid on October 1. The adjusting entry for Anika's
employer at September 30 is:

a. No entry is required.

b. Salaries and Wages Expense 400
Salaries and Wages Payable 400
C. Salaries and Wages Expense 400
Cash 400
d. Salaries and Wages Payable 400
Cash 400

14. (LO 4) Which of the following statements is incorrect concerning the
adjusted trial balance?

a. An adjusted trial balance proves the equality of the total debit
balances and the total credit balances in the ledger after all
adjustments are made.

b. The adjusted trial balance provides the primary basis for the
preparation of financial statements.

c. The adjusted trial balance lists the account balances segregated by
assets and liabilities.

d. The adjusted trial balance is prepared after the adjusting entries
have been journalized and posted.

*15. (LO 5) The trial balance shows Supplies $0 and Supplies Expense
$1,500. If $800 of supplies are on hand at the end of the period, the
adjusting entry is:

a. debit Supplies $800 and credit Supplies Expense $800.

b. debit Supplies Expense $800 and credit Supplies $800.



c. debit Supplies $700 and credit Supplies Expense $700.
d. debit Supplies Expense $700 and credit Supplies $700.

*16. (LO 6) Neutrality is an ingredient of:

a. Faithful Representation Relevance
Yes Yes

b. Faithful Representation Relevance
No No

C. Faithful Representation Relevance
Yes No

d. Faithful Representation Relevance
No Yes

*17. (LO 6) Which item is a constraint in financial accounting?

a. Comparability.
b. Materiality.

c. Cost.

d. Consistency.

Solutions

1. a. Revenue should be recognized in the accounting period in which a
performance obligation is satisfied. The other choices are incorrect
because (b) defines the expense recognition principle, (c) describes the
time period assumption, and (d) a company's fiscal year does not need to
correspond with the calendar year.

2. c. The economic life of a business can be divided into artificial time
periods. The other choices are incorrect because (a) companies report
their activities on a more frequent basis and not necessarily based on a
calendar year; (b) companies report financial information more frequently
than annually, such as monthly or quarterly, in order to evaluate results of
operations; and (d) describes accrual-basis accounting.



3. d. Under the accrual basis of accounting, revenue is recognized when
the performance obligation is satisfied, not when cash is received, and
expense is recognized when incurred, not when cash is paid. The other
choices are all true statements.

4. a. The expense recognition principle dictates that companies recognize
expense in the period in which they make efforts to generate revenue. The
other choices are incorrect because (b) there is no cost assumption, but
the historical cost principle states that assets should be recorded at their
cost; (c) the time period assumption states that the economic life of a
business can be divided into artificial time periods; and (d) the revenue
recognition principle indicates that revenue should be recognized in the
accounting period in which a performance obligation is satisfied.

5. d. Adjusting entries are made for th